

Safeguarding our Global Commons

A Systems Change Lab to Monitor, Learn from, and Advance Transformational Change

Photo credits: Cover, Chris Yakimov; pg. 4–5, USAID Biodiversity & Forestry; pg. 6, Forest Service, USDA; pg. 7, 12, CIFOR; pg. 11, AMISOM Public Information; pg. 14, Roy; pg. 18, Rob Barnes / GRID-Arendal; pg. 20, SC National Guard; pg. 21, Karsten Wurth; pg. 22, Rob Goodier / Engineering for Change; pg. 26, Prashanth Vishwanathan / WMI Flickr Photos; pg. 30, chuttersnap (left), Carlos Bryant (right); pg. 31, Seth Abramczyk (right); pg. 33, 36, Benoit Colin; pg. 38, Andrzej Wrotek; pg. 40, Aaron Minnick / WRI (left); Brendan O'donnell (right); pg. 41, Max Phillips (Jeremy Buckingham MLC) (right); pg. 44, Andreas Komodromos; pg. 50, Tanya Martineau (left); pg. 50 (right), 71, Jason Houston; pg. 51, Ulet Ifansasti / CIFOR (right); pg. 53, 2009CIAT / NeilPalmer; pg. 57, Ricky Martin / CIFOR; pg. 61, Jedimentat44; pg. 62, Paulo Valdivieso; pg. 64, Haryadi B (left), oliver.dodd (right); pg. 65, NOAA Photo Library (right); pg. 66, CCAFS/2014/Prashanth Vishwanathan; pg. 68, Molly Bergen/WCS, WWF, WRI; pg. 72, Rawpixel Ltd; pg. 76, Calin Stan.

CONTENTS

Introduction 4
About the Paper5
1. Why We Need Systems Change6
2. Ingredients of Systems Change 12
3. The Transformations We Need18
4. The Sectoral Transformations We Need
5. The Cross-Cutting Transformations We Need
6. Systems Change Lab72
7. Conclusion
Endnotes
References
Abbreviations104

INTRODUCTION

The world is failing to spur transformational systems change at the pace and scale needed to safeguard the global commons-the shared ecosystems and natural processes that stabilize life on Earth and underpin well-being.¹Today, we face a slew of crises that threaten lives and livelihoods around the world, from unabated climate change and accelerating biodiversity losses to rising inequality and pervasive hunger. To avoid the worst climate impacts and build equitable and prosperous societies, we must ignite widespread change across all the global systems: how we grow food, build cities, power industry, and move around the world. We must fundamentally change our consumption patterns, financial systems, and economic policies, as well as how we govern, plan for the future, and measure progress. These transformational changes must also improve equity and social inclusion.

If we are to convince decision-makers that a massive global reset is both necessary and possible in this decade, we need to take a hard look at our collective approach to addressing these urgent issues. We need to understand which interventions and movements are working and which are not—and why. We will then need to rapidly deploy resources to those initiatives poised for success and revise efforts that are ineffective or insufficient.

Leading governments, businesses, coalitions, and other decision-makers require evidence that systems change is possible-and a roadmap to realize such change. We need a central space from which to monitor, learn from, and accelerate transformational change across all critical systems. Such a central space could act as a lighthouse for change agents looking to address the long-term structural issues causing our current social, political, economic, and environmental crises-progress on all of which has been upended by COVID-19. The Systems Change Lab, to be established as a component of the Global Commons Alliance, and with its partners will keep tabs on the scale and pace of our collective efforts and will seek to uncover more effective strategies to affect systems change in order to realize a much better future.

C SEEDURADURA DUR ALDBAL COMMONS



ABOUT THIS PAPER

This paper, which was developed with the tremendous support of the Global Environment Facility, begins with an analysis of the current situation and the need for fundamental shifts across the many ways we operate if we are to realize a sustainable future. It then examines the common ingredients of historical transformations. Next, it identifies the 11 sets of transformations needed to move human society to live within planetary boundaries. For example, a systems change in transportation must include the complete phasing-out of the internal combustion engine, transitions to zero-emissions mobility (such as bicycling), and new zero-carbon fuels for hard-to-abate sectors, such as aviation and maritime shipping. Each of these transformations will generally require engagement from governments, citizens, and companies, and entail technological progress, policy changes, new accountabilities, and shifts in norms and behaviors.

Many of these transformations are already widely understood, with well-established coalitions of experts and decision-makers seeking to advance the required shifts. But for others, this is not the case. Many of these transformations have expert communities engaged with them, and some have vibrant multi-stakeholder leadership driving change forward. But while there is information and activity in many areas, there is currently no focus on the overall picture. Which of these shifts are picking up momentum and accelerating, and what has enabled them to do so? What are the hallmarks of successful transformation? How can lessons of success be transmitted across sectors? Which are the lagging transformations that require new approaches, political pressure, and greater urgency?

There is no single place where these changes are tracked and totaled, where lessons can be learned and gaps identified. This paper concludes by offering a way forward to address this gap—a new Systems Change Lab. The lab will monitor the progress of required transformations around the world, distill our rapidly evolving understanding of what constitutes and promotes systems change, identify critical gaps, and mobilize support for coalitions as they push toward tipping points to realize a more sustainable future.

AEGUARDING OUR GLOBAL COMMONS 5



Why We Need Systems Change

Action to date has failed to spur change at a pace and scale commensurate with the global crises we now face. Decision-makers and the public are increasingly aware that we have a narrow window of time in which to steer action in the right direction. More specifically, we must halve greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the next decade and reach net zero emissions by mid-century. We must also end the destruction of the natural world and become "nature positive"— with nature regenerated by human life; protect the ocean, for the sake of oceanbased livelihoods and its wealth of species; and reset the social contract between governments, citizens, and corporations. We must be disruptive enough to break through the power of current path dependencies, locked-in capital, and vested interests. We must go further still; we must flip path dependency on its head and harness change to secure a healthier, safer future. And we must do it quickly enough to leap through the closing window of opportunity.

Not only must we act quickly to catalyze much-needed transformational change, but we must also do so while grappling with a global pandemic and the deep economic recession it has triggered.² Yet the recovery from this difficult moment presents a rare, unexpected opportunity. Countries around the world will spend tens of trillions of dollars to rebuild their economies and societies from the effects of COVID-19. Some have already announced plans to invest these funds in green, resilient, and inclusive recoveries.

But absent a step change to safeguard the global commons, these stimulus packages could also lock in business-as-usual growth, compounding the current environmental, political, and socioeconomic challenges. That is not the world we would wish to pass on to the next generation.



Our Current Situation

The late 20th century's economic acceleration deepened societal and environmental crises, including:



UNABATED CLIMATE CHANGE: Rising GHG emissions have caused 1°C of global warming above preindustrial levels.³ Already, vulnerable communities around the world are grappling with the fallout—melting glaciers, stronger storms, droughts, floods, and sea level rise.⁴ These impacts will intensify as the global temperature continues to increase. At 1.5°C of warming, sea levels will rise 0.40 meters by 2100, the world will lose up to 90% of coral reefs, marine fisheries will decline by 1.5 million tonnes,

and 14% of the global population will be exposed to severe heat once every five years. Another 0.5°C of warming will cause declines in the ocean's fish stocks to double and species losses to increase two- to threefold.⁵ Yet even with full implementation of countries' commitments under the Paris Agreement, the world is heading toward 3.2°C of warming.⁶ To avoid the worst climate impacts, countries must change course this decade, halving global GHG emissions by 2030 and reaching net zero by mid-century. Absent rapid, unprecedented systems change across all sectors, the climate crisis will continue unabated, with far-reaching effects across human and natural systems that will unravel sustainable development gains around the world.⁷



PERVASIVE FOOD INSECURITY: World hunger is on the rise after a steady, prolonged decline. Today, more than 2 billion people live without reliable access to adequate, nutritious, and safe food, and more than 820 million people—one in nine—suffer from hunger. Across most of Africa, that number jumps to nearly one in five.⁸ Yet almost a quarter of the world's calories is lost somewhere along the supply chain, and global demand for food is growing. As the world's population swells to almost 10 billion and incomes

rise across developing countries, food consumption will increase by more than 50% by 2050. Feeding human society will require 56% more crop calories than the world's farmers produced in 2010—a feat that will strain already stressed water resources, release an estimated 15 gigatons of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions annually, and convert an area nearly twice the size of India from other uses into agricultural land.⁹ Not only will current trends increase global GHG emissions and degrade ecosystems, but without accelerated adaptation efforts, climate change impacts also threaten to reduce growth in yields by up to 30% by 2050.¹⁰ A new agricultural system is urgently needed—one that increases productivity and incomes, builds resilience to climate impacts, sustainably manages lands, and enhances carbon sequestration. Shifting to healthier, more sustainable diets and halving food loss and waste this decade will also prove critical to feeding 10 billion people by mid-century.



DISAPPEARING FORESTS: Humans have already significantly altered three-quarters of Earth's land, and over the past two decades, deforestation has remained stubbornly high despite efforts to reduce global forest loss.¹¹ In 2019, for example, the planet lost 3.8 million hectares of primary tropical forest—equivalent to losing a football field every six seconds.¹² This land-use change not only releases large stocks of carbon into the atmosphere, but it also reduces forests' capacity to sequester and store

carbon. The effects of converting these tropical ecosystems to agricultural land extend far beyond climate change to include biodiversity losses, disturbances to freshwater systems, and heightened exposure to natural disasters, such as landslides and floods.¹³ Although some countries and companies have taken significant steps to curb forest loss, most will fail to meet their 2020 commitments to protect forests.¹⁴ Reversing these trends will instead require urgent, transformational changes, from protecting 30% of forests by 2030 to reducing deforestation by 70% relative to 2019 over the next decade.¹⁵



ACCELERATING SPECIES LOSS: Globally, biodiversity is declining at a rate unprecedented in human history. Approximately 1 million animal and plant species will face extinction, many within decades, if business continues as usual. Since 1990, native species' average abundance across major terrestrial habitats has dropped by at least 20%, and scientists now classify more than a third of all marine mammals as threatened. Taken together, climate change, pollution, land-use change, direct exploitation

of nature, and invasive, alien species are driving biodiversity losses, which will likely continue to accelerate.¹⁶ As species and ecosystems disappear, so too will many of the services that sustain human society, from provisioning food and purifying water to regulating the climate and pollinating crops. Immediate action must be taken across terrestrial, marine, and freshwater systems to halt overexploitation of species, stop the spread of invasive species, and protect, restore, and sustainably manage ecosystems.



UNCHECKED CONSUMPTION: Worldwide, annual natural resource extraction has more than tripled since 1970, rising from 27 billion tons to 92 billion tons. The mining and processing of these raw materials now account for roughly half of global GHG emissions and more than 90% of biodiversity losses. Should these historical trends continue, annual natural resource extraction will reach 190 billion tons per year by 2060.¹⁷ Yet many of these raw materials end up in goods that are thrown away after just one

life cycle. For example, roughly 60% of all plastic—or approximately 5 billion tonnes—produced since the 1950s has ended up in landfills or the natural environment.¹⁸ Marine plastic pollution alone has risen by a factor of 10 over the past four decades.¹⁹ Safeguarding the global commons will require a decoupling of economic growth from resource consumption.



OCEAN UNDER THREAT: Stretching across more than 70% of Earth's surface, the ocean feeds more than 3 billion people, produces half of the planet's oxygen, and absorbs at least 20% of all carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions.²⁰ Yet this life-supporting system faces an onslaught of anthropogenic pressures. Rising GHG emissions have doubled the rate of ocean warming over the past three decades, triggered more frequent and intense marine heat waves, acidified surface waters, and expanded oxygen-depleted zones

around the world.²¹ Pollution, along with overfishing, the spread of invasive species, and habitat loss, are compounding these climate impacts, leading to significant ocean productivity and biodiversity losses. Today, more than one-third of fish stocks suffer from overexploitation, almost a third of reef-forming corals face the threat of extinction, and two-thirds of marine habitats have been severely altered.²² The ocean's ability to support human society, particularly along the coasts, will likely decline significantly if we fail to act now.²³ Key priorities this decade must include fully protecting 30% of the ocean, sustainably managing fisheries, and dramatically reducing pollution.



FRESHWATER SYSTEMS IN CRISIS: Aquatic systems are also facing formidable threats. Not only have global water withdrawals more than doubled since the 1960s, but agricultural expansion, urban development, and other land-use changes have significantly altered freshwater availability and quality.²⁴ Pollution, habitat destruction, invasive species, and flow modifications (e.g., building dams or moving water across watersheds) are also undercutting aquatic ecosystems' capacity to support life, while

climate change is shifting the temporal and spatial distributions of water resources globally.²⁵ Water scarcity may soon become the new normal in some parts of the world, while others will encounter more extreme rainfall events and flooding.²⁶ Without urgent, transformational change, the number of people living in water-scarce areas could reach 5.7 billion by 2050, three times more people may face exposure to severe flooding by 2100, and unchecked pollution will constrain economic growth and harm human health.²⁷ Avoiding these impacts will require countries to adopt comprehensive water management approaches, radically improve in water efficiency, and protect freshwater ecosystems.

All of these challenges compound extreme poverty and rising inequality. Over the past three decades, the proportion of the global population living in extreme poverty has declined significantly, from 36% in 1990 to 9.2% in 2017. Yet despite this remarkable success, 689 million people still earn less than US\$1.90 per day, and new forecasts predict that, for the first time in a generation, extreme poverty rates will increase. Inequality is also on the rise. Now, just 26 of the world's richest people own as many assets as 3.8 billion people,²⁸ the vast majority of whom earn less than \$5.50 per day.²⁹ The bottom half holds less than 1% of global wealth, while the top decile owns more than 80%.³⁰ This persistent gap between the world's haves and have-nots jeopardizes economic growth and development, erodes trust, and creates fertile ground for social unrest.³¹

COVID-19 will push between 88 million and 115 million people into extreme poverty in 2020. Over the next decade, both conflict and climate change also threaten to undermine poverty eradication efforts. By 2030, global temperature rise could force between 68 million and 132 million people to live on less than \$1.90 per day. These setbacks will disproportionately impact countries with high incidences of poverty, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, where past gains have failed to keep pace with population growth and the total number of people living below the international poverty line is rising.³² Without paradigm shift, the world will fail to end extreme poverty by 2030, and inequality will intensify.

It is against this backdrop of crises that the pressure to catalyze rapid, unprecedented transformations is building. The generation now reaching adulthood demands a different approach. Young people are rightly frustrated. Enabled in part by digital tools, they are creating new movements around the world, demanding ambitious climate action, sustainable management of the global commons, fairer economies, and more equitable societies.

Realizing this future will require major systems change—a fundamental, sustained shift or a series of smaller changes that, taken together, will disrupt the status quo and lead to the formation of a new paradigm.³³ Steps toward systems change, if successful, will ratchet up ambition over time, become more durable and difficult to reverse, and expand to impact a greater proportion of the population.³⁴ Systems change will also address the root causes of today's challenges and radically alter the components, structures, and dynamics that underpin a system's current behavior.³⁵ Such profound change involves multiple actors at multiple levels to establish a new, lasting equilibrium at scale, especially given that systems typically overlap and small changes can have unforeseen effects, necessitating a systemic approach.

There are many different ways to define a system, but most simply, it is a configuration of various elements that work toward a particular outcome, for example, the production of food or energy.³⁶ Systems thinking can help explore the relationships between these elements in an effort to more deliberately realize more sustainable outcomes.

The process of systems change, especially for technological change, may follow the shape of an "S"—an irregular curve with change occurring at different rates during different stages (Figure 1). Changes that seem impossible at first can develop momentum, become more durable, and expand to the point where they become the new normal.³⁷ Yet the risk of relapse exists at any point along the curve; although the probability of reversal declines as the new system takes root.

Figure 1 | Phases of Systems Change



Source: Adapted from ICAT 2020.





Ingredients of Systems Change

Historically, systems change has often emerged from the convergence and interaction of many enabling factors, rather than a single silver bullet. Although the precise ingredients of transformational, often nonlinear change vary across sectors and geographies, some elements appear to be common, including the following four sets of drivers: change agents, innovations, policies and institutions, and behavior change and social norms (Figure 2).

CHANGE AGENTS

Sustained, engaged leadership from governments, businesses, and civil society can jump-start systems change. High-level leaders can envision a sustainable future for their governments, organizations, and companies, establishing new mandates, driving institutional change, and channeling the resources needed to achieve it. These champions can be found at the helm of governments, institutions, and companies, but they need not be. Scientists can provide critical knowledge and technical expertise. Civil society organizations can spark systems change through their direct involvement in communities. Entrepreneurs can design new technologies to spur transitions. Investors can channel much-needed resources into research and development, and companies can create new markets for successful innovations as well as adopt more sustainable business models. And now there is a new class of leaders-from Greta Thunberg to organizers of the Black Lives Matter movement—who do not sit at the top of governments, institutions, or companies, but who are now creating movements and unleashing change.

Multi-stakeholder coalitions can also be powerful forces, as they can align their work with needed systems change and advocate that their colleagues follow suit. Convening these champions of change within coalitions that cut across sectors and levels of decision-making can further accelerate and sustain transformational change. These forums enable knowledge sharing, allow organizations to pool resources, and help decisionmakers avoid unintended consequences by creating a space for stakeholders from different systems to share their perspectives. Together, these actors can counterbalance those invested in business-as-usual growth and drive transformational shifts.³⁸

Those who benefit from these transitions represent another critical, yet often overlooked, agent of change. These groups not only advocate for transformations over time, but they also tend to resist attempts to return to the old paradigm.³⁹ Wind turbine and solar panel producers, for example, will advocate for the continued expansion of renewable energy, while fishers who have benefited from territorial use rights, which enable them to co-manage fisheries and incentivize sustainable harvest levels, will likely refuse to relinquish those rights. These beneficiaries often ensure that systems change lasts, and policies that expand the number of those who gain from a transition can further deepen support for it.⁴⁰

INNOVATIONS

From developing plant-based meat substitutes that help enable the switch to more sustainable diets to establishing pay-as-you-go solar lighting schemes that expand access to clean energy in underserved communities, new technologies often spur systems change.⁴¹ In Fiji and the Philippines, for example, distributing post-disaster social payments by mobile money allowed the government to provide a much higher number of affected communities with the financial resources needed to recover and rebuildfunds that may ultimately increase their adaptive capacity.42 These innovations, which broadly include new practices, approaches, and techniques, depend on a society's knowledge base and skill set. Investing in education, training, science, research, and development, as well as networks that facilitate collaboration among experts, can all create a strong foundation for innovation. Yet technologies' ability to catalyze transitions at scale also hinges on widespread adoption. Pilot studies, experimental trials, and demonstrations can enable early uptake of a new solution. During this initial testing stage, experts can evaluate innovations while increasing their understanding of the new technologies and building the skills needed to use them. Moving beyond early adopters to reach a critical mass of supporters, however, often requires additional policies that accelerate diffusion.43

POLICIES AND INSTITUTIONS

Taken together, laws, policies, and regulations establish the rules of the game, which can catalyze, stymie, or entrench systems change. For example, they can establish formal or informal institutions, regulations, and financial mechanisms that support (or mandate) shifts to low-carbon, resilient, and sustainable development. To identify potential trade-offs and avoid unintended consequences that may impede transformational shifts, policies must also be aligned across sectors and at all levels of decision-making.44 And sometimes even small changes in policy design can unleash significant change. Canada's province of British Colombia, for example, adopted a revenue-neutral carbon tax that channeled all revenues raised to municipalities and school boards. This created a lasting coalition of schools, parents, and other community members who



do not want to lose this much-needed funding, as they would should the tax be rescinded. This seemingly small decision helped create a durable climate mitigation policy.⁴⁵

However, policies that seek to create an enabling environment for systems change are not always implemented, particularly if they fail to influence those who have a vested interest in continuing business as usual. Strong institutions, however, can achieve policy objectives to catalyze systems change by upholding laws, monitoring compliance with regulations, holding those who break the rules to account, and developing and implementing plans that accelerate sustainable development.

In addition, demonstrating that new solutions are not only possible, but also attractive to businesses, consumers, and others that must adopt them, underpins successful transformations. Key to this effort is creating the right incentives. A wide range of economic instruments—feed-in tariffs for clean energy, tax rebates for energy-efficient appliances, and increased access to low-cost finance for sustainable agriculture technologies, for example—can help motivate businesses and communities to stay within planetary boundaries. Nonmonetary approaches can also be effective in supporting systems change. Retraining workers formerly employed in carbon-intensive sectors and providing new employment opportunities, for example, can ease disruptive transitions to low-emissions pathways and create advocates for sustained change. Additional noneconomic incentives include sustained institutional support for transitions, removing bureaucratic hurdles to change, and granting ownership of natural resources to local communities.⁴⁶ For instance, providing tenure security to smallholder farmers, local communities, and Indigenous Peoples enables these new landowners to restore and conserve their territories. In the Amazon basin, specifically, annual deforestation rates are two to three times lower inside tenure-secure Indigenous forestlands than in similar areas without tenure security.47

Deterring harmful technologies, behaviors, and norms can also spur transformational change. Carbon taxes, elimination of fossil fuel subsidies, import duties on high-emissions goods, and tariff structures that discourage investment in business-as-usual innovations can all send strong signals to consumers and firms. Ultimately, these disincentives can shift demand toward more sustainable products while also motivating companies to adopt business models that improve their bottom lines and better protect the global commons.⁴⁸

Restoring 5 Million Hectares of Farmland Across Southern Niger

An unprecedented, farmer-led restoration movement swept across southern Niger in the early 1980s, reversing desertification and transforming severely degraded farmlands into productive, resilient agroforestry systems.⁴⁹ After more than a decade of expensive, failed tree-planting initiatives funded by international development organizations, Nigerien farmers began either to grow native shrubs and trees across their fields or allow the woody perennials to sprout from remnant root systems—a local practice known as farmer-managed natural regeneration (FMNR).⁵⁰ Since the mid-1980s, more than a million rural households have added 200 million new trees to their croplands—a feat that has diversified livelihoods, increased farmers' income, and boosted annual cereal yields by 500,000 tons, or enough to feed another 2.5 million people.⁵¹ FMNR now stretches across 5 million hectares, an area roughly the size of Costa Rica, and over the past two decades, these on-farm trees have sequestered an estimated 25 million tons of carbon.⁵²

A perfect storm of enabling factors converged in southern Niger, prompting farmers to abandon land-clearing practices adopted during French colonial rule in favor of FMNR. Recurrent droughts, crop failures, and famine in the early 1970s left millions of rural households across the Sahel severely food insecure.⁵³ These exogenous forces likely motivated some farmers to seek new approaches, including regenerating native, nitrogen-fixing woody perennials. This innovative "technology" provided clear benefits to farmers at relatively low cost, from improving soil fertility and boosting water retention to protecting crops from wind storms and combating erosion. *Faidherbia albida*, or white acacia, has been a popular choice, because it does not compete for sunlight with crops during the rainy season.⁵⁴

Several leaders, such as Guero Chaïbou at the International Fund for Agricultural Development and prominent Nigerien agroforesters Mahamane Larwanou and Abasse Tougiani, championed FMNR within high-level policymaking circles. However, it was early adopters of the practice who played a critical role in persuading other rural households to allow native trees to grow across their croplands.⁵⁵ Nongovernmental organizations also raised awareness across southern Niger, promoting FMNR on the radio, conducting training sessions, and hiring extension agents. Although these information campaigns helped farmers understand the benefits of FMNR, supportive national policies ultimately incentivized rural households to protect trees on their lands. Starting in 1993, the Nigerien government adopted a series of land reforms that strengthened tenure security, customary rights to forest resources, and local rights to manage and harvest on-farm trees.⁵⁶ Allowing farmers to own and benefit from trees that had previously belonged to the state empowered rural households to invest in more sustainable agroforestry practices.⁵⁷

BEHAVIOR CHANGE AND SOCIAL NORMS

Clearly communicating the crises that society now faces represents a critical first step in raising awareness. Recognizing the urgency of these challenges, alongside the consequences of inaction, helps stakeholders understand why they must act, but they also need information highlighting the concrete steps that they can take to accelerate transitions required to protect the global commons. These messages must come from trusted, well-respected sources, who so powerfully articulate these calls to action that they stick with people long after an advocacy campaign or conversation ends. Like efforts to raise public awareness, behavioral change tactics, such as showing households how their water and energy use compares with their neighbors' use, or combining meat and vegetarian entrees within the same menu sections, can also guide consumers toward lifestyles that stay within planetary boundaries.⁵⁸ The COVID-19 pandemic reminds us all that even seemingly small changes in behavior, such as wearing a mask or washing one's hands, can significantly affect the fates of nations. Similarly modest lifestyle changes, from reducing household food waste to bicycling to work, can also add up to transformational shifts.

Figure 2 | Ingredients of Systems Change



Together, raising awareness, changing behaviors, and shifting social norms are key ingredients of durable systems change. As environmental sustainability first becomes culturally acceptable and then, in some cases, expected, citizens' collective values will likely shift as well. So too will the policies they support, the goods they demand, and their patterns of consumption.⁵⁹ In the United Kingdom, for example, a baseline study quantified household food loss and waste and its cost to families—an annual average of £680 per average family. A public awareness campaign, "Love Food Hate Waste," disseminated this knowledge widely and provided tips on how to reduce waste, while a major supermarket chain started to change dates on food labels from "sell by" to "use by"-efforts that enabled behavioral changes.⁶⁰ Once consumers recognized the financial benefits of reducing household waste, they developed an expectation that food retailers would help support their efforts, which, in turn, helped motivate suppliers to step up their efforts to curb food loss and waste.61

Triggering durable, self-reinforcing transitions, in which the costs of returning to the old paradigm and the benefits of moving to the new system both continue to rise, can entrench long-term acceptance of the shift. But these four drivers must also come together in ways that expand the benefits of systems change beyond its initial advocates to reach new populations (Case Studies 1 and 2). Doing so can establish positive feedback loops that cultivate lasting, widespread support for the new paradigm.⁶² It is also important to note the critical role that exogenous forces-unforeseen events and crises-play in systems change, creating windows of opportunity to transform our politics, policies, societies, and behaviors.63 For example, after an accidental release of toxic gas from a Union Carbide pesticide plant killed thousands of people in Bhopal, India, the U.S. Congress passed legislation that mandated companies to report the amount of dangerous chemicals that they release into the environment every year, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) compiled this information in the publicly available Toxic Release Inventory.64 The 1988 launch of this database spurred an enormous amount of citizen action and numerous lawsuits. From 1988 to 2000, releases of the 650 chemicals listed on the inventory declined by 48%-a reduction of 1.55 billion pounds, which many experts attribute to increased public scrutiny.65 Similarly, in Uruguay, a prolonged drought crippled hydroelectric generation, while rising oil prices, coupled with increasing energy demands, led to blackouts.66 These external forces prompted the government to rethink its energy security strategy and invest in renewables. Now, a diverse mix of clean energy sources generates nearly 95% of the country's electricity.⁶⁷ Moving forward, we need to be better prepared for, and seize, these opportunities-much like the ones in front of us today.

Phasing out the Internal Combustion Engine

Efforts to phase out internal combustion engines, now responsible for approximately 10% of global GHG emissions, are gaining traction globally.⁶⁸ At least 66 countries and 48 companies, as well as 71 cities and regions, have announced plans to shift toward zero-emissions vehicles.⁶⁹ Many of the world's leading automobile companies, including Volkswagen, Ford, Toyota, Hyundai, and BMW, have also signaled an intention to move away from combustion engine vehicles over the next decade.⁷⁰

Electric vehicle (EV) adoption is accelerating around the world. Global sales of electric cars, for example, grew 40% in a single year, totaling 2.1 million in 2019.⁷¹ Some experts now predict that battery EVs, specifically, will reach a tipping point in 2022, achieving price parity with combustion engine cars, and their market share will rise to 10% in 2024.⁷² By 2040, more than half of all passenger vehicles sold worldwide will be electric, and electrification of other methods of transportation, such as scooters, motorcycles, delivery vans, and buses, is also projected to expand rapidly this decade.⁷³ These shifts, along with efforts to increase electricity generation from renewable sources, will prove critical to decarbonizing the transportation sector, which currently accounts for 15% of total GHG emissions.⁷⁴

Many drivers of systems change have come together to spark these early successes. Innovations in battery technologies, charging infrastructure, and electric motors, for example, have underpinned the automobile industry's ability to produce EVs at lower cost.⁷⁵ Clear signals from national and subnational governments, such as zero-emissions vehicle quotas, fuel economy and efficiency standards, and internal combustion engine bans, have motivated carmakers to scale up their investments in EV development, while supportive policies have aided deployment.⁷⁶ Requiring cities to increase the number of EVs within their fleets, channeling funding to research and development, and supporting the expansion of charging infrastructure have all aided the transition to zero-emissions transportation. But most policies that were prioritized have focused on offering consumers incentives to purchase electric cars. Tax credits, exemptions, and rebates are among the most popular tools for reducing the cost of EV ownership.

In China, for instance, the national government not only set zero-emissions quotas for carmakers, but it also has provided subsidies—more than \$8.4 billion in 2015 alone—to make EVs more affordable. Several provinces and municipalities have matched these national subsidies, and in some major Chinese cities, such as Beijing, officials have eased local automobile ownership restrictions for those with electric cars.⁷⁷ The government now plans to subsidize local efforts to expand charging infrastructure to alleviate consumers' range anxieties.⁷⁸ These policies have accelerated EV ownership throughout China, a country that now has nearly half of the world's electric cars and buses.⁷⁹

Although China boasts the greatest number of EVs in the world, Norway leads the market by share, with the highest per capita ownership of EVs, which account for over half of new car sales.⁸⁰ Because the country generates nearly 100% of its electricity from renewable sources, Norway has focused its decarbonization efforts on other sectors, such as transportation, which emits more than a third of the nation's carbon dioxide.⁸¹ Efforts to incentivize EVs charged on Norway's clean grid began in the early 1990s, but have ramped up in recent years, with the government recently announcing that all light vans and passenger cars sold in 2025 must be zero-emissions vehicles.⁸² Like China, the Norwegian government has adopted a portfolio of policies to achieve this goal, including high taxes on combustion engine cars, tax exemptions for EV purchases, free parking and charging, toll fee waivers, access to bus lanes, and additional driving privileges.⁸³ Other European Union countries and American states are beginning to follow suit, and in doing so, these early leaders are showing policymakers around the world both what is possible and what is needed to phase out internal combustion engines. Continued efforts, however, will be required to ensure that these initial successes spur a lasting transition to zero-emissions mobility.



The Transformations We Need

Tables 1 and 2 summarize the major transformations required to protect the global commons. For illustrative purposes and to encourage discussion, this paper identifies nearly 50 specific shifts, but different taxonomies are clearly possible. Some of these transformations are "sectoral" in nature, calling for

Table 1 Sectoral Transformations

🗧 ENERGY

- Double the rate of improvement in energy efficiency
- Electrify transport, industry, and heating
- Decarbonize power
- Drive down the cost of energy storage
- Develop new fuels (e.g., hydrogen) and solutions for hard-to-abate sectors
- Scale up carbon removal and carbon capture and storage

TRANSPORT

- Eliminate the internal combustion engine
- Transition to new zero- or low-emissions fuels for heavy transport, shipping, and aviation
- Shift from road to rail and shipping
- Shift to public and shared transport, and to biking and walking

LAND, FOOD, AND FOREST MANAGEMENT

- Protect 30% of forests and other land by 2030
- Restore degraded landscapes
- Manage land sustainably to increase yields 40% by 2050 without expanding agricultural land or degrading ecosystems
- Halve food loss and waste by 2030
- Shift diets and ensure equitable access to nutritious food to feed 10 billion people by 2050
- Ensure supply chains are sustainable, including localizing value chains where possible
- Avoid overexploitation of terrestrial species
- Stop invasive species

OCEAN MANAGEMENT

- Ensure 30% of the ocean is fully protected by 2030
- Sustainably manage fisheries and aquaculture and avoid overexploitation of marine species
- Sharply reduce marine litter and pollution
- Stop invasive species

fundamental shifts in how we power our economies, produce goods and services, manage our land, waterways, and the ocean, and run our financial systems (Table 1). Others are broader imperatives, such as the way we measure progress, deliver services, ensure equity, and govern our shared Earth system

CITIES AND THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT

- Adopt compact urban design and transit-oriented development
- Ensure all new buildings are net zero carbon by 2030 and all existing buildings are decarbonized by 2050
- Shift to transport modes that have zero emissions and zero road deaths
- Transition to zero waste cities
- Make cities resilient

SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION

- Adopt circular product design, production systems, and supply chains
- Use pure, nontoxic, and regenerative materials (e.g., in products and systems)
- Shift to circular business models and a sharing economy
- Shift consumption patterns to reduce waste and overconsumption

FINANCIAL SYSTEMS

- Measure, disclose, and manage climate and other types of environmental risks
- Scale up public climate finance
- Unlock private investment in sustainable infrastructure
- Extend financial services to underserved groups
- Price GHG emissions and other environmental externalities
- Eliminate harmful subsidies

FRESHWATER MANAGEMENT

- Perform comprehensive water assessments and management
- Radically improve water efficiency
- Protect and restore freshwater systems
- Avoid overexploitation of freshwater species
- Stop invasive species

Table 2 Cross-Cutting Transformations

MEASURING PROGRESS

í.

- Leverage the digital revolution and improve data systems, including tracking equity of progress
- Advocate for and accept new measures of progress

INCLUSION, EQUITY, AND THE JUST TRANSITION

- Provide universal access to basic services and opportunities
- Shift to defining prosperity by inclusive well-being
- Shift to a new decision-making model, with more inclusive and community-driven leadership

(Table 2). This second group of transitions can both underpin the first set, as well as set conditions on how transformations must take place. Thus, for example, the radical shifts needed to protect nature must be undertaken in a manner that is just, inclusive, and enhances the well-being of vulnerable people. Put together, these shifts can transform the major key systems that define humanity's relationship with the natural world.

GOVERNANCE FOR THE GLOBAL COMMONS

- Make the global architecture (e.g., the United Nations, international agreements, multilateral development banks, and the World Trade Organization) more fit-for-purpose to address challenges
- Reset the social contract between government, corporations, and citizens

Chapters 4 and 5 contain a brief introduction to the key system under discussion and then describes the required transformations, providing a snapshot of where these stand, active efforts to achieve the needed changes, and institutions that are tracking their progress, performing critical analysis, and forging coalitions. These alliances, as well as individual organizations, may become key partners in the future work of the Systems Change Lab.







The Sectoral Transformations We Need

Sectoral transformations will be required across energy, industry, transport, cities and the built environment, consumption and production systems, and the ways in which we manage land, freshwater, and the eocean.

ENERGY

Global energy consumption continues to rise, with the average rate of increase nearly doubling from 2010 to reach 2.3% in 2018. Fossil fuels-coal, oil, and natural gas-still supply most total primary energy use in the world (80% in 2019).84 The world needs energy, particularly electricity, that is accessible, affordable, sustainable, and reliable. Although meeting these four objectives involves some trade-offs, the current model is unsustainable, negatively impacting the climate, air, water, biodiversity, and land. These harmful effects from energy production, conversion, and utilization have been exacerbated by the phenomenal rise in global energy consumption, industrial activity, and transportation. An increase in energy consumption, although needed in emerging economies, comes with its fair share of challenges, especially when the overall system remains heavily reliant on fossil fuels.

Emissions from the energy sector are the largest contributor to global GHG emissions—the sector is responsible for 73% of emissions worldwide.⁸⁵ Within this sector, heat and electricity generation accounts for most emissions (30% of total emissions), followed by transportation (15% of total emissions), and then manufacturing and construction (12% of total emissions).

In addition to GHG emissions, energy production and use is also predominantly responsible for emissions of sulfur dioxide (> 99%), nitrogen oxides (> 99%), and particulate matter (85%).⁸⁶ These emissions are significant contributors to air pollution, which is currently ranked as the world's largest environmental health threat; approximately 7 million deaths are attributed to poor air quality each year. Energy production and power generation are also responsible for roughly 10% of water withdrawals, and this percentage will rise with a growing population, urbanization, and increasing energy demand.⁸⁷

The following transformations are required for providing zero carbon, accessible, sustainable, affordable, and reliable energy. These are needed in all sectors using energy—buildings, transportation, and industry—as well as in the power supply, and can be described as:⁸⁸

- Optimize: Increase efficiency and reduce energy use
- Electrify: Shift energy demand to electricity and away from fossil fuels
- Decarbonize: Shift entirely to zero carbon technologies to generate electricity

This section discusses three additional transformations that will be required if we are to protect the global commons:

- Energy storage that will enable electrification and decarbonization
- Scaling carbon removal and carbon capture and storage
- New fuels and solutions for hard-to-abate sectors

Energy use in industry has been highlighted in the mentioned transformations, while buildings and transport are discussed under "Cities and the Built Environment" and "Transport," respectively.

Double the rate of improvement in energy efficiency

If countries around the world adopted the right mix of energy efficiency policies over the next two decades, in line with the energy efficiency target of the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 7, they could deliver 40% of the GHG emissions cuts needed to achieve the Paris Agreement without any new technologies.⁸⁹ Yet progress has stalled. The annual energy intensity rate has been declining gradually since 2015. In 2018, for example, it decreased at a slower rate (1.2%) for the third consecutive year. Public policy measures have struggled to establish and implement mandatory energy efficiency policies to reduce final energy use. As of 2018, only 34.7% of all global energy use was covered under mandatory policies, which was only a slight increase from the 21.8% covered in 2010. Changing weather patterns that brought hotter summers and colder winters to some regions of the world, along with longer-term structural trends such as growing demand for bigger cars and larger buildings, have also raised energy usage. Similarly, industrial shifts, such as energy-intensive sectors increasing their share of production in several major economies, also drove up global demand for all primary energy fuels.90

With demand across transportation, buildings, and industry together accounting for more than 85% of final global energy consumption in 2017, efficiency measures across sectors are needed.⁹¹ Past successes have shown that a mix of capacity-building initiatives, information programs, regulations (e.g., mandatory minimum energy performance standards), and financial incentives (or disincentives) are crucial for energy efficiency improvements in these sectors.⁹² If countries around the world adopted the right mix of energy efficiency policies over the next two decades, in line with the energy efficiency target of the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 7, they could deliver 40% of the GHG emissions cuts needed to achieve the Paris Agreement without any new technologies.

Tracking and accelerating action

Several international alliances, many of which involve public-private sector collaboration, have formed to accelerate global efforts to improve energy efficiency. The Three Percent Club, a coalition of 15 countries and more than a dozen businesses and institutions, focuses on deploying existing efficiency technologies, while the Energy Efficiency Global Alliance and the Global Commission for Urgent Action on Energy Efficiency present examples of multi-sectoral leadership initiatives. The Global Energy Efficiency Accelerator Platform of Sustainable Energy for All also seeks to scale up energy efficiency policies, actions, and investments.⁹³ Many organizations at the helm of these coalitions are monitoring the state of play on energy efficiency, with the International Energy Agency (IEA) and Sustainable Energy for All leading the charge. Other sectoral initiatives and national agencies are also providing critical data and analysis that feed into global efforts. Key players include United for Efficiency, the Global Fuel Economy Initiative, the Industrial Energy Accelerator, the Building Efficiency Accelerator, the District Energy Initiative, the Global Alliance for Building and Construction, and the Cool Coalition.

Electrify transport, industry, and heating

Electrification of the economy refers to replacing technologies in industry, in buildings, and in the transport sector that use primary energy sources (mostly fossil fuels) with technologies that use electricity.^{94,95} When this electricity is sourced from low-carbon resources, it helps amplify the benefits of electrification, reduce its costs, and decarbonize the economy. Industrial production typically involves thermal heating processes that utilize fossil fuels—either directly by generating heat through combustion or indirectly through steam or hot water from boilers.⁹⁶ Electrification in industry focuses on process heating and boilers, the primary industrial uses of fuel combustion.⁹⁷ Electrifying industrial heat applications allows high process temperatures to be reached more efficiently by utilizing other energy sources, such as waste heat.⁹⁸

Cost is a key challenge to electrification in industry. For example, in the United States, electricity is more expensive than the average cost of thermal fuel per unit of energy.⁹⁹ Electrification of some processes can also be technologically challenging and cause complications, thus slowing industry uptake.¹⁰⁰ For example, changing one part of a highly integrated industrial process often requires changes in other parts of a given process, which can be challenging.¹⁰¹

The share of direct fuel combustion in global industrial energy use in 2016 was 73%, with electricity accounting for only 27%.¹⁰² Emissions from industrial on-site fuel combustion and manufacturing processes accounted for almost one-fifth of GHG emissions globally in 2014, with about a dozen industries responsible for more than 90% of emissions.¹⁰³

With currently available technologies, almost 50% of the fuel used for energy in industries could be replaced with electricity.¹⁰⁴ In the "the future is electric" scenario of the IEA, industry could potentially have 37% electrification globally in 2040—mainly from heat pumps—across a wide range of subsectors, from 13% in cement production to 60% in aluminum.¹⁰⁵ Research, development, and demonstration for industrial electricity-based technologies to lower capital costs and increase efficiency are required to

realize the potential for electrification.¹⁰⁶ Further, lower electricity prices or a lower carbon price could make industrial electrification more financially attractive.¹⁰⁷

Tracking and accelerating action

Progress across industries with their distinct emissions sources and different technological solutions to electrification is not regularly monitored. The industrial sector is difficult to electrify and initiatives championing electrification tend to be more focused on transport (such as the International Council on Clean Transportation) and buildings (such as the Building Electrification Initiative and the Rocky Mountain Institute's Building Electrification Program) than on industry, which presents relatively fewer opportunities to electrify given the wide variety of end uses and technologies and limited research.¹⁰⁸ Some concerted efforts toward electrification of industrial processes do exist; for example, the Global Sustainable Electricity Partnership promotes electrification across end-use sectors and calls for industry to aim for doubling the share of electricity to more than 50% by 2050 (from the 2018 average of 23%).109

Decarbonize power

Electricity supply is one of the biggest sources of CO_2 globally, accounting for approximately 40% of global energy-related CO_2 emissions. Deep decarbonization of the global power supply is needed to limit global warming to 1.5°C, which would avoid the worst climate impacts. Achieving near-zero electricity sector emissions by mid-century is one of the strategies considered most necessary to remain in accordance with the Paris Agreement.

Decarbonizing the electric power sector refers to using low-carbon resources for producing electricity. There are a number of viable technology options for this—for example, solar or wind energy—that can provide more flexibility, and significantly contribute to environmental co-benefits, such as improved human health. For example, expanding power generation from renewables could also produce \$650 billion in business opportunities annually by 2030, as well as create millions of new jobs around the world.¹¹⁰

There has been a remarkable shift in electricity generation away from fossil fuels, especially coal, toward renewable sources—although, globally, we are far from having a large share of intermittent renewables power the grid. In 2018, solar energy accounted for 2.1% of global power generation, while wind energy accounted for 4.8%.¹¹¹ This has been driven by declining costs; coalfired power is currently not competitive economically in many regions. According to Bloomberg New Energy Finance (BNEF), solar and wind energy now provide the cheapest power for 67% of the world. Solar projects in Chile, the Middle East, and China, and wind projects in Brazil, the United States, and India, are approaching figures below \$30 per megawatt-hour, lower than the costs of building and producing power from plants that use coal or even the cheapest gas. However, although coal use is in decline, it still dominates emissions, making up more than 40% of current fossil fuel CO_2 emissions. Coal is being used to meet rising energy demand in some countries, including China and India.¹¹²

Tracking and accelerating action

There are several coalitions and organizations that are monitoring progress, either at the sector level or for individual technologies, and working to affect change in the power supply sector. Regarding monitoring this transformation, IEA and the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) are at the forefront with global and national data on supply related indicators. There are also several country-specific data sources (e.g., the U.S. Department of Energy's Energy Information Administration) as well as other organizations monitoring progress and conducting related analysis, such as the Rocky Mountain Institute, the Overseas Development Institute, Climate Analytics, and Power Watch. A number of coalitions are working to decarbonize the power sector, including the Energy Transition Commission, the Deep Decarbonization Pathways Project, RE100, the Powering Past Coal Alliance, the Just Transition Centre of the International Trade Union Confederation, the Platform for Coal Regions in Transition, and more at regional and national levels.

Drive down the cost of energy storage for electricity

Electric energy storage is crucial to the energy transition; it can boost solar and wind power generation and help decarbonize end-use sectors. Renewable energy provides a variable energy supply that may not align with energy demand, and it is less predictable in terms of electricity generation. In 2018, the average annual capacity factor for solar energy and on-shore wind energy ranged between 10% to 21% and 23% to 44%, respectively.¹¹³ Although renewable energy-related costs have declined and renewable energy's share in meeting demand has increased, advancements in storage



technologies are needed to allow greater system flexibility to accommodate an increasing share of variable renewable energy.¹¹⁴ Accordingly, energy storage can make power generation more costeffective; it makes it possible to make better use of periods of time when the cost of generating power is significantly lower than at others.¹¹⁵ In addition to grid balancing and renewable energy integration, energy storage also makes possible a smoother flow of power and better reliability in backup electricity systems.¹¹⁶ Nonetheless, energy storage technologies inherently use more electricity than they provide, as technologies such as pumped-storage hydropower use more electricity to pump water through different reservoirs than they produce, and non-pumpedstorage hydropower systems face energy conversion and storage losses.

In 2017, a total of 4.67 terawatt hours (TWh) of electricity storage capacity, or 176 gigawatts (GW) of storage power capacity, was installed globally; 96% of this was pumped-storage hydropower. During high renewable generation periods, pumped-storage hydropower storage facilities store electricity by pumping water from a reservoir at a lower elevation to one at a higher elevation. When electricity is needed, this water is then released back to the lower reservoir, generating power through turbines. Other technologies included thermal storage (1.9%), batteries (1.1%) and other mechanical storage (0.9%). Although pumped-storage hydropower storage is commercially mature, with almost half of the global energy storage capacity in China, Japan, and the United States, the batteries market is growing rapidly, with lithium ion batteries enjoying the largest share (59%) of installed capacity in 2017. Different storage technologies are suited for different service needs. For example, pumped-storage hydropower is better for longer storage durations; in other circumstances, technologies with higher electricity storage density, such as sodium sulfur batteries, may be favored in places such as city buildings, which have space constraints.¹¹⁷

Battery storage costs have declined dramatically over the past decade, a trend that is likely to continue.¹¹⁸ Falling costs of energy storage are making renewable energy more competitive. It is estimated that 70% of installed capacity will be in eight countries—the United States, China, Japan, India, Germany, the United Kingdom, Australia, and South Korea—that will lead the energy storage market.¹¹⁹ Total deployment levels of EVs and stationary storage, coupled with manufacturing experience, will together influence the future cost of lithium ion batteries.¹²⁰

Advancing a range of energy storage technologies to improve performance and lower costs will require investment in research, development, and deployment at a large scale.¹²¹ Energy storage is an early-stage technology existing in a few markets and requires significant policy support. In 2019, 2.9 GW of energy storage was added to electricity systems, which is almost 30% less than in the previous year (in part because of concerns over several fires at grid-scale storage plants in South Korea).¹²² This was the first decline in nearly a decade. However, there are positive developments at smaller scales; for example, India now explicitly incentivizes the co-location of renewable electricity and storage, and Europe is launching pilot projects for new applications and markets and providing long-term support through the European Clean Energy Package.¹²³

For batteries in particular there is a need to scale up end-of-life recycling, reuse, and disposal in the 2020s.¹²⁴ Today, the recycling of batteries is almost nonexistent—in the European Union and the United States, for example, only approximately 5% of all lithium ion batteries are recycled. Further, if not done correctly, battery recycling can be hazardous and produce toxic by-products in accidental battery fires or explosions, endangering those handling these processes. Materials availability is unlikely to be a limiting factor in the growth of battery electricity storage technologies until at least 2025.¹²⁵ Reusing batteries in energy storage applications at the end of their life in EVs will help reduce costs.¹²⁶

In addition to storage technologies, other solutions to match intermittent and distributed energy sources with demand (such as dispatchable clean energy generation, automated load shifting, price signals with time of use rates, and transmission infrastructure for a centralized renewable system that moves energy from excess renewables capacity areas) are needed to reduce the need for storage.

Tracking and accelerating action

Information related to the number of energy storage facilities, geographical distribution, energy storage capacities, and costs is found in disparate sources of scientific or institutional publications and consultancy reports published by organizations such as BNEF and Navigant.¹²⁷ Some of these include country- or region-specific information, especially for the most important national markets. The open-access U.S. Department of Energy database on battery storage is used in many analyses, and there are a few global fee-based databases, such as IHS Markit. However, the Department of Energy database includes information registered by operators of storage systems on a voluntary basis, and it has not been systematically compiled, leading to gaps in country-specific information.

A few coalitions have been announced in recent years, such as the World Bank's Energy Storage

Partnership in 2019, which is focused on accelerating the deployment of energy storage in developing countries, and the International Coalition for Energy Storage and Innovation to scale up the availability of energy storage facilities. At the national level, there are examples such as the India Energy Storage Alliance with more than 90 members, including energy storage manufacturers, research institutes, renewable energy, power electronics, and companies that manufacture EVs.¹²⁸

Develop new fuels and solutions for hard-to-abate sectors

So-called hard-to-abate sectors include heavy-duty transport (shipping, aviation, and heavy-duty road transport) and heavy industry (steel, chemicals, cement, and others).¹²⁹ Across the sectors, companies rely on high-temperature heat or high energy density to power their operations—energy needs that electricity cannot easily replace; hence the term hard-to-abate. Together, these account for almost a third of global annual CO_2 emissions and are expected to grow from 10 gigatonnes (Gt) in 2019 to 16 Gt by 2050 if current trends continue.¹³⁰ Direct electrification plays a limited role in decarbonizing these sectors and other solutions, such as zero carbon electricity-based fuels and low-carbon fuels along with carbon capture and storage, are needed.¹³¹

Hydrogen made using renewable electricity and lowcarbon fuels can deliver low-carbon to zero-carbon energy in industrial process in sectors such as steel and cement. Currently, more than 95% of hydrogen is produced using fossil fuels. Using carbon capture or electrolysis can provide zero carbon hydrogen but both are significantly more expensive than using fossil fuels. Falling costs of renewable electricity coupled with the expected decline of electrolysis equipment is expected to help bring the cost down for zero carbon hydrogen. Parallel investment in associated technologies, such as hydrogen storage, will also facilitate scaling up capacity.¹³²

Encouraging research and development efforts, demonstration of industrial-scale projects, infrastructure investment, and early market and policy support are needed to realize this transition.¹³³ These can be complemented with a boost in consumer or institutional demand for greener materials (e.g., so-called green steel or green cement) through information campaigns or government procurement policies. For example, a pilot is underway in Sweden to use renewable hydrogen to produce steel with a goal of producing produce fossil-free steel by 2035 at a cost that is competitive with traditional steel. It can potentially reduce Sweden's emissions by 10%.¹³⁴ Many more such examples will be needed to truly bring down costs. The European Union's hydrogen strategy aims to increase clean hydrogen capacity sixfold to 6 GW by 2024 and 40 GW by 2030 through the newly launched public-private European Clean Hydrogen Alliance.¹³⁵ A similar initiative for batteries launched in 2017 has mobilized billions of dollars in public and private investment. It is hoped that this will reduce the cost for producing green hydrogen (hydrogen from renewables) from \$6 to \$2 per kilogram by 2030, compared with the cost of "gray hydrogen," produced industrially from natural gas, at around \$1.79 per kilogram.¹³⁶

Tracking and accelerating action

The Energy Transitions Commission is a key group that has done research on these sectors; for example, see the findings published in its *Mission Possible* report. In addition, the European Clean Hydrogen Alliance and coalitions such as the Clean Cement and Concrete Coalition, the Net-Zero Steel Initiative, and the Collaborative Innovation for Low-Carbon Emitting Technologies in Chemicals are working to lower emissions in hard-to-abate sectors.

Scale up carbon removal and carbon capture and storage

To prevent the worst climate change impacts, the world must not only rapidly reduce GHG emissions, but also remove and store carbon from the atmosphere. All mitigation pathways that limit global temperature rise to 1.5° C above preindustrial levels, for example, require the removal of billions of tonnes of CO₂ annually by 2050 in addition to deep emissions cuts across all sectors. Yet most technological carbon removal strategies tend to be energy intensive, and scientists are only just beginning to assess the costs, environmental impacts, and feasibility of large-scale deployment.¹³⁷

Many natural approaches, which rely on biochemical processes to remove atmospheric carbon, are ready for deployment now, cost less than technological strategies, and generate co-benefits, from improving water quality to safeguarding biodiversity.¹³⁸ These include afforestation and reforestation, land management strategies that increase soil carbon, and the restoration of carbon-dense ecosystems such as wetlands. Some of these practices are already well established, but current adoption rates do not yet match estimated need or potential. If mobilized at scale, these natural solutions could remove approximately 5.6 Gt of carbon dioxide equivalent annually—equivalent to the agricultural sector's total global emissions in 2014—for less than \$100 per tonne of carbon by 2030.¹³⁹ However, carbon

sequestered in these ecosystems is vulnerable to reversal (e.g., a forest fire can release stored carbon back into the atmosphere), and significant uncertainties, such as impacts on agricultural production, evapotranspiration, and planetary albedo, must be addressed before widespread deployment. Furthermore, they cannot alone meet the scale of carbon removal that the models suggest is necessary to meet the Paris Agreement's goals.¹⁴⁰

Technological strategies, which remove carbon directly from the air or accelerate carbon storage by manipulating natural processes, are nascent but gaining traction. These include direct air capture (DAC), direct air capture and storage (DACS), carbon mineralization, and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS). Already, a handful of start-ups are experimenting with carbon mineralization; a number of commercial DAC systems exist in Canada, the United States, and Europe; and BECCS has entered the demonstration phase, with half a dozen operational projects. Many of these solutions show early promisedirect air capture and storage, for example, could feasibly remove 1.4 Gt of CO₂ annually in the United States by 2050.¹⁴¹ Yet technological carbon removal approaches can be often energy intensive, expensive, require large tracts of land, and may also come with considerable risks.¹⁴² For BECCS in particular, there is limited potential when accounting errors are kept in check, and double counting of biomass and land already being used is avoided.¹⁴³ Minimizing these downsides will require incentives, policy safeguards, effective governance, and accounting procedures, while scaling promising technologies will depend on significant investments in research, development, and deployment, as well as enabling infrastructure such as CO₂ pipelines and storage networks, designated geological sites, and power from renewable sources.144 Ultimately, advancing a portfolio of natural and technological solutions can help lower aggregate costs, boost cumulative removals through mid-century, and minimize the risk that some strategies will fail to scale up.145

Distinct from carbon removal, but required for some carbon removal approaches, carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies reduce anthropogenic emissions by separating CO_2 from energy and industrial sources and storing the GHG, usually underground. Although fossil fuel use must decline steeply, many global decarbonization pathways rely on CCS in the interim. CCS can capture more than 90% of CO_2 emissions from power plants and industrial facilities.¹⁴⁶ Today, two large-scale CCS projects in commercial power plants capture 2.5 metric tons of CO_2 (MtCO₂)

per year, while 19 CCS projects operate in industrial facilities, with a potential annual capture capacity of 34 MtCO₂.¹⁴⁷ But the technology does come with several drawbacks. For example, the additional electricity and heat needed to operate the CCS unit either reduces the plant's rated power output or increases the amount of fuel consumed to produce the same electricity output as a plant without CCS.148 Also, while higher capture rates are technically possible in power plants, in some industries such as iron, steel, and cement, more dilute CO₂ streams and multiple capture points make it economically and technically challenging to capture the emissions.¹⁴⁹ Developing cluster facilities for several plants, however, can help scale up efficiencies and reduce costs. Still, expanded deployment of CCS will require continued research and development, additional technological innovations, and greater investment in CO₂ transport and storage infrastructure. Targeted policy measures, including tax credits, feed-in tariffs, public procurement, grant funding, and low-carbon product incentives, can help boost investments.

Tracking and accelerating action

The Global Carbon Capture and Storage Institute, the Carbon Management Research Initiative at Columbia University, the Center for Climate and Energy Solutions, and IEA are all, to some extent, monitoring and analyzing the uptake of CCS technologies.

The carbon removal landscape, however, appears more fragmented, with a number of environmental institutions, such as Conservation International and The Nature Conservancy, advancing natural solutions, while others, such as the Rhodium Group, are focusing on the potential of technological innovations. World Resources Institute (WRI) is one of the few organizations conducting research on both approaches, although its current focus is limited to the United States. Recent reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine have also assessed scientific progress on carbon removal.

Several coalitions dedicated to scaling up CCS and carbon removal have formed in recent years. These include such groups as Carbon 180 and the Carbon Capture Coalition, which brings together more than 80 businesses and organizations to advocate for U.S. federal policy support for deployment of carbon capture, transport, use, removal, and storage. If mobilized at scale, natural carbon removal solutions could remove approximately 5.6 Gt of carbon dioxide equivalent annually—equivalent to the agricultural sector's total global emissions in 2014—for less than \$100 per tonne of carbon by 2030.

(%) T

TRANSPORT

Transport generates almost a quarter of CO₂ emissions from fuel combustion, and nearly threeguarters of these releases come from road vehicles, including cars, trucks, buses, and two- and threewheelers.¹⁵⁰ A significant increase in mobility, freight, aviation, and shipping stemming from urbanization and economic growth has led to pollution, emissions, and other environmental damage from the sector. By 2030, annual passenger traffic is set to increase by 50% and global freight volumes will rise by 70% from the 2015 measurements.¹⁵¹ The transport sector is currently on track to generate GHG emissions (by 2050) that are three to six times greater than the amount of GHG emissions consistent with achieving the goals of the Paris Agreement.¹⁵² Although the COVID-19 pandemic caused a drastic decline in transportation emissions in 2020, this trend is not likely to continue without interventions. To ensure that this sector decarbonizes by 2050, governments, private companies, and nongovernmental organizations will need to invest in technological transformations to eliminate unsustainable fuels and plan transformations to drastically reduce vehicle kilometers traveled (VKT).

Eliminate the internal combustion engine

Internal combustion engines account for about 10% of GHG emissions globally and lead to air and noise pollution with significant health impacts.¹⁵³ Reducing

dependence on conventional vehicles and shifting to EV is a prominent solution in 2050 scenarios. Although some countries have made commitments to phase out conventional cars, the automobile market has not made the dramatic shift necessary to see substantial change.

Future mobility options are likely to include a combination of vehicles-battery electric, hybrid electric, fuel cell electric, and conventional-that are significantly more efficient. This transition will require research and investment in EV batteries; charging infrastructure that promotes vehicle-to-grid integration where EV batteries are responsive to the grid's needs; a clean electric grid; infrastructure to deploy electric buses; battery recycling programs; modifying building codes to require the necessary infrastructure for charging options in public areas, workplaces, and multifamily housing units; and efforts geared to increasing consumer acceptance of EVs. Although EVs will likely dominate the future of transportation, fuel cell EVs will also require further research and investment, especially when it comes to long-haul, heavy-duty applications.

Between 2014 and 2019, the average annual growth of the EV market was 60% (and battery price has decreased by 85% since 2010).¹⁵⁴ To help generate this market growth, a significant number of entitiesat least 66 countries, 71 cities or regions, and 48 companies-made announcements and adopted plans for phasing out internal combustion engines and shifting to zero-emissions vehicles.¹⁵⁵ Companies have banded together in groups, such as the Corporate Electric Vehicle Alliance and EV100, to make EVs more competitive in the market in terms of both cost and variety of models.¹⁵⁶ Organizations such as the International Council on Clean Transportation are providing grassroots organizing, research, and policy support for the elimination of internal combustion engines. As of 2019, 23 automobile manufacturers had introduced electric car models and set EV sales targets that were largely motivated by governments' strong policy signals (e.g., in China and Norway).¹⁵⁷ Despite strong signals, annual EV sales decreased in 2019 and are projected to decrease in 2020, partly because China briefly phased out EV subsidies, but largely due to the COVID-19 pandemic.¹⁵⁸ This decline should be temporary, as countries are maintaining, strengthening, or reinstating their EV subsidies.

Although there has been significant progress in countries and companies making commitments to scale up EV production across vehicle classes, the most effective EV deployment requires advances in smart charging programs. Maximizing the emissions reductions associated with eliminating internal combustion engines will require charging infrastructure





that considers how vehicle-to-grid integration can offer drivers incentives to use EVs more sustainably and can help grid operators increase their storage capacity, which will increase their ability to integrate renewable energy sources. These co-benefits make battery EVs more compatible with other sustainable mobility and sustainable energy projects than other EVs.

Tracking and accelerating action

Although research is being done on these applications by groups such as the National Renewable Energy Laboratory and IRENA, real-world applications remain in the pilot stages. EV adoption and the accompanying infrastructure are being tracked at a global level by organizations such as the IEA and BNEF, the Rocky Mountain Institute, and the International Council on Clean Transportation.

The EV100 coalition brings together companies that are committed to transitioning to EVs by 2030. A few regional coalitions that advocate for change also exist, such as the Corporate Electric Vehicle Alliance in the United States.

Transition to new zero- or low-emissions fuels for heavy transport, shipping, and aviation

Heavy-duty transportation-freight trucking, shipping, and aviation-contributes approximately 43% of global GHG emissions.¹⁵⁹ In business-as-usual scenarios, emissions from shipping alone could increase by 50% to 250% by 2050.160 Reducing these emissions requires finding low- and zero-emissions alternatives to the liquid fossil fuels that dominate this sector, but long-haul aviation, shipping, and freight are likely to continue to use liquid fossil fuels in the medium to long term because of limitations in electrical energy storage. Without breakthroughs in battery technology and fast-charging batteries with higher energy densities, this sector will require biofuels, hydrogen fuel cells, or synthetically made fuels. A number of new fuels could feasibly power future zero-emissions shipping vessels: hydrogen or ammonia used in combustion engines, electric batteries, or hydrogen fuel cells. To maximize environmental benefits, the production of these new fuels should rely on renewable sources such as solar power or wind power, given that, today, processes to create both hydrogen and ammonia are energy intensive.





On the basis of today's technology, hydrogen fuel cells appear to be the best option for zero-emissions vehicles in sectors that are hard to electrify, including heavy-duty freight, transit between cities, shipping, and aviation. Fuel cell vehicles' lighter batteries and fuel storage tanks allow them to carry heavier payloads and travel longer distances than their electric battery counterparts.¹⁶¹ Regional groups, such as Europe's Fuel Cells and Hydrogen Joint Undertaking, seek to further hydrogen fuel cell adoption. However, fuel cell EVs are still nascent technology and make up only about 0.5% of total zeroemission vehicle sales.¹⁶²

Tracking and accelerating action

Although coalitions are working to reduce emissions in these heavy-duty, long-haul sectors, there is still work to be done. The Getting to Zero Coalition, which includes more than 90 maritime companies, envisions building and deploying the first commercially viable, zero-emissions deep-sea ships over the next decade and pledges to halve the industry's GHG emissions by 2050.¹⁶³ In 2018, the International Maritime Organization adopted an initial strategy that committed to cutting emissions from global ocean shipping to 50% of the 2008 level by mid-century.¹⁶⁴ This agreement is particularly promising given the regulatory power of the International Maritime Organization; however, efforts to transition to zero-emissions fuels are still nascent.

As for aviation, the International Civil Aviation Organization's Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation has 85 country signatories. The organization has developed a CO₂ Estimation and Reporting Tool to track progress in the sector.¹⁶⁵

In the freight sector, the Climate and Clean Air Coalition and the EPA sponsor the Global Green Freight Action Plan. This effort facilitates collaboration between the public and private sectors to enact actionable plans that reduce freight emissions.¹⁶⁶

Shift from road to rail and shipping

A combination of modal shifts and better logistics could deliver CO₂ reductions of 20% in heavy-duty, long-haul vehicles.¹⁶⁷ Shifting to cleaner forms of transport—from trucks to railroads and ships—can help cut freight transport emissions. Railroads are approximately four times more fuel efficient than trucks; using rail for freight can reduce GHG emissions by 75%, compared with using trucks.¹⁶⁸ A 10% diversion of freight from truck to rail can give a 9% energy savings.¹⁶⁹ Likely candidates for shifting to rail or ships include commodities for long hauls that are not time sensitive (as opposed to,

e.g., overnight mail).¹⁷⁰ The transition from high- to low-energy-intensity modes will require substantial investments in additional rail infrastructure and rolling stock. Similarly, diverting shipments from truck and rail to inland or coastal waterway systems requires an infrastructure that can handle large volumes of shortdistance sea traffic, greater frequency of service, a reduction in associated costs with short-distance sea shipping, and a clear communication of why shippers should switch modes and operations.¹⁷¹

When shifting to rail or inland waterways is not an option, better planning and logistics can reduce the number of VKT by freight vehicles, which will have a substantial effect on emissions in cities. A number of planning changes can reduce emissions from freight in urban settings, including implementing urban consolidation centers as strategic hubs to move longhaul freight from trucks to smaller vehicles, creating vicinity unloading zones that ensure consolidated parking locations for trucks that serve businesses and neighborhoods; or implementing off-peak deliveries. For example, pilot projects for off-peak delivery hours show that delivering goods between 7:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. can reduce emissions by 45% to 67%.¹⁷² Although these reductions are not as substantial as shifting from road to rail, they will still be key to lowering this sector's emissions.

Tracking and accelerating action

Several organizations are working to implement these transitions. Acting as a think tank, the International Transport Forum, an intergovernmental organization with 62 member countries, promotes more efficient transport policy, including a focus on freight shipping.¹⁷³ The Global Logistics Emissions Council works with more than 70 multinational companies to reduce transport-related emissions.¹⁷⁴ EcoLogistics and Center of Excellence for Sustainable Urban Freight Systems both partner with cities around the world to reduce freight emissions.

In the maritime sector, corporations are forming shipping alliances to increase cooperation on shipping routes to limit the amount of shipping overlap. Some of these include the Transport High Efficiency Alliance, the Global Maritime Forum, the Ocean Alliance, and the 2M Alliance.¹⁷⁵ In addition, new international shipping routes, the Northwest and Northeast Passages, are being established through the Arctic; ironically, these passages are opening up because of climate change, but if used, they would drastically reduce route distances.¹⁷⁶

Shift to public and shared transport, and to biking and walking

Roughly 45% of transport emissions comes from lightduty road vehicles. A shift from private modes to public and shared modes of transport, along with better mobility and accessibility options that promote walking and biking, is key to tackling emissions in this sector.¹⁷⁷ Ultimately, VKT per person will have to be reduced, and this will involve a mix of transport and land-use adaptations. In the short term, transport demand management can shift commuters to more sustainable transit modes through a combination of incentives and disincentives.¹⁷⁸ Road-use pricing, driving and parking restrictions, and low-emissions zones discourage the use of private cars. At the same time, investing in bicycle lanes, sidewalks, micromobility, and mass transit options that are appealing, convenient, efficient, and affordable will convince citizens to move more sustainably. In the longer run, smart land-use planning can create a bigger shift in modes by investing in walkable, mixed-use developments near public transit.¹⁷⁹ Prioritizing these short-term and longterm changes will allow people to make sustainable travel choices that reduce transportation emissions.

Cities that have successfully implemented smart landuse planning show promising results. Cities such as Hong Kong and Copenhagen have seen decreases in emissions coupled with economic growth and fewer traffic deaths.¹⁸⁰ If shared mobility, autonomous vehicles, and restrictions on private cars are widely adopted, CO₂ emissions related to VKT can drop by up to 73% by 2050.¹⁸¹

Tracking and accelerating action

Coalitions such as C40 Cities, Local Governments for Sustainability, the International Association of Public Transport, the Sustainable Low Carbon Transport Partnership, and the Institute for Transportation Development Policy are helping cities to rethink urban design to move away from car dependency.

The Global New Mobility Coalition is working to address the increasing demand for transport by advocating for this total shift to shared, electric, and autonomous transport by 2050.¹⁸² Furthering the work of these coalitions and making the most of growing mobility data will help cities scale up their initiatives.

CITIES AND THE BUILT

Sustainable, resilient cities of the future must maintain a near-zero carbon footprint, eliminate fossil fuel use, and manage weather extremes, from heat waves to coastal storms.¹⁸³ But trends point the other way. Cities are becoming more populous and more resource intensive. The urban population is set to rise from 54% in 2015 to 66% in 2050, adding 2.4 billion people to cities, mostly in lowerincome countries, particularly in China, India, and Nigeria.¹⁸⁴ At the same time, global urban material consumption will likely reach 90 billion tons by mid-century, rising faster than worldwide urban population growth.¹⁸⁵



Driving this is a continuing pattern of spatial dedensification over the past century, which is having critical consequences for available arable land and food production, as well as cities' abilities to service their populations efficiently.¹⁸⁶ The results are rising levels of GHG emissions, air pollution, biodiversity loss, and water stress and contamination.¹⁸⁷

A key challenge is that current and future urbanization is occurring in countries where incomes are not growing as they have during past waves of urbanization, when advances in transportation and agricultural surpluses supported urban growth, as during the industrial revolution. Growing cities, in which a larger share of poor people live, will exacerbate pressures on the natural environment. When urban residents cannot access basic services such as energy, water, housing, and waste, they self-provision in often illegal, informal, or unregulated ways. Intensive self-provisioning and unsustainable urbanization patterns result in widespread ecosystem degradation, unsustainable resource use, lower incomes and productivity, and danger to lives, as in the case of illegal settlements on unsafe territory.¹⁸⁸ Without urbanization that stays within planetary guardrails, we can expect high costs on individuals, households, society, the environment, and the economy.

Adopt compact urban design and transit-oriented development

Cities are currently growing outward, not upward, with the built environment expanding 66% from 2000 to 2012.¹⁸⁹ Driven by peripheral expansion and urban land markets, urban land cover is set to triple between 2000 and 2030, increasing by 1.2 million square kilometers.¹⁹⁰ Low and declining population densities pose problems for cities everywhere. In developing cities, these patterns result in unsustainable patterns of growth and expansion as local governments face the high costs of new infrastructure, leaving them unable to provide their populations with basic services. In many developed countries, it may be already too late-past decisions affecting land use, infrastructure, and the built environment have locked in sprawling urban development, which these citie are now struggling to reverse.191

Cities are becoming more populous and more resource intensive. The urban population is set to rise from 54% in 2015 to 66% in 2050, adding 2.4 billion people to cities, mostly in lower-income countries, particularly in China, India, and Nigeria. At the same time, global urban material consumption will likely reach 90 billion tons by mid-century, rising faster than worldwide urban population growth.

Because of this urban expansion and the accompanying fuel and energy consumption, cities now generate nearly three-quarters of CO₂ emissions globally.¹⁹² Electricity use is also rising rapidly—in many cities, faster than population growth.¹⁹³ In low-income cities around the world, both motorization and energy consumption release increasingly high levels of toxic pollution into the air, causing serious respiratory health disorders that lead to more than 1.3 million premature deaths worldwide each year.¹⁹⁴ Urbanization and its associated land-use changes impact both nearby and distant ecosystems directly and indirectly. Similarly, converted natural areas rich in biodiversity will likely experience significant damage and, in some cases, will be permanently lost.¹⁹⁵

Cities can be designed more sustainably by changing where people live and work, and how they consume energy and other services. There is a growing consensus that urban density must be approached strategically and deliberately through urban development policies and design encouraging transitoriented development (TOD)—the creation of compact neighborhoods where housing, jobs, and amenities are connected by efficient and affordable mobility options dominated by public transport between nodes and active mobility within nodes.¹⁹⁶

There are many positive examples of progress toward the implementation of transit-oriented cities; however, to date inclusive urbanization remains an elusive goal. Change on a much larger scale is needed to ensure urban development is compact, connected, and affordable. Pioneering countries that have practiced TOD for several decades, such as Japan,¹⁹⁷ are being joined by others, such as China, South Africa, and India, in instituting national or regional TOD policies involving mass transit solutions, such as the bus rapid transit systems in Mexico City and Johannesburg and the Delhi metro.¹⁹⁸ More recently, several high-income cities have begun piloting concepts inspired by traditional TOD, such as Paris' "15-minute city,"199 Melbourne's "20-minute neighborhoods,"200 and major cycling and pedestrian infrastructure investments in London and Milan.

Tracking and accelerating action

International supporters of TOD and compact urban development include multilateral organizations such as the World Bank Group, the Global Environment Facility (through its flagship Sustainable Cities Implementation Program), and nongovernmental organizations such as the Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (which developed the TOD standard to guide practitioners),²⁰¹ C40 (a city network), and WRI, among others.

Ensure all new buildings are net zero carbon by 2030 and all existing buildings are decarbonized by 2050

Cities as a whole must decarbonize to achieve the goals outlined in the Paris Agreement. For this, major changes have to take place in the building sector, which accounts for around one-third of urban energy consumption,²⁰² and where emissions are set to double by mid-century.²⁰³ To reduce emissions from the projected level of between 17.3 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent and 1.8 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent in 2050, all buildings would need to be net zero carbon by 2050.²⁰⁴

Net zero carbon buildings are energy efficient and reach a net balance between the carbon emissions from annual energy supply and demand. This equilibrium could be achieved through basic and advanced energy efficiency interventions, with on-site and off-site renewables, and can be situated across a portfolio of districts or buildings.²⁰⁵ Today, less than 1% of existing stock is considered net zero carbon.²⁰⁶ In most markets, even high-performance buildings (a lower benchmark than net zero carbon) represent less than 5% of construction.²⁰⁷ In 2017, there was a total of 2,500 net zero energy buildings, with the majority of them being housing units mostly located in the European Union and North America.²⁰⁸ Net zero buildings are still seen as one-time pilot projects, given their small number globally. There is also a perception that they are the preserve of wealthy cities, and are not economically feasible in lower-income cities.

At the same time, continued focus on achieving greater efficiency in existing building stock and requiring higher levels of efficiency for new buildings is critical. These gains in efficiency could also generate significant economic benefits. For example, improvements in heating and cooling performance, coupled with investments in more efficient electronics, appliances, and lighting, could generate \$825 billion in annual cost savings by 2030.²⁰⁹ According to the IEA's *Global Status Report 2017*, a combination of regulatory solutions (such as building energy codes and appliance standards), incentives and financing instruments, successful models to attract private sector investment, information and capacity building, and changes in behavior are needed to reduce global energy use per square meter in buildings.²¹⁰

Tracking and accelerating action

Interest around net zero carbon buildings and districts has rapidly grown in recent years, as illustrated by the growing commitment to declarations such as the World Green Building Council's Net Zero Carbon Building Commitment,²¹¹ which has almost 100 signatories from cities, regions, and businesses, and C40 Cities' Net Zero Carbon Buildings Declaration.²¹² These and other such documents have put net zero carbon buildings firmly on the agenda at international meetings between energy ministers and high-level decision-makers from around the globe, such as the Clean Energy Ministerial and the 2019 United Nations Climate Action Summit. The latter launched the Zero Carbon Buildings for All Initiative, a multi-partner global initiative that the Secretary-General of the United Nations has endorsed. The initiative secures commitments from national and local leaders to decarbonize new buildings by 2030, and all existing buildings by 2050; and from financial and industry partners to provide \$1 trillion of investment by 2030.213



The growing momentum on zero carbon buildings is underpinned by initiatives led by nongovernmental organizations such as the Amplify program of the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD),²¹⁴ the Building Efficiency Accelerator, a public-private collaboration supporting the implementation of building efficiency policies and programs (hosted by WRI since 2015), and the Global Alliance for Buildings and Construction,²¹⁵ a network that provides policy research, data, and analysis, including the annual *Global Status Report on Buildings and Construction.*

Shift to transport modes that have zero emissions and zero road deaths

Growing city footprints and motorization have gone hand in hand with urbanization, resulting in environmental degradation and declining health outcomes.²¹⁶ According to the World Health Organization, 98% of cities with more than 100,000 residents in low- and middle-income countries fail to meet the organization's air quality guidelines; air pollution linked to motorization in cities causes serious respiratory health disorders and is linked to 1.3 million premature deaths each year worldwide.²¹⁷ Globally, urban transport is one of the sectors with the largest emission reduction potential in cities.²¹⁸ By far the largest future emissions increases (about 90%) in urban transport are expected to come from developing cities.²¹⁹ As traffic volumes increase, congestion eventually worsens as motorization rates catch up with capacity and residents spend increasing amounts of time and money on travel. It has been estimated that time lost because of congestion costs is between 2% and 5% of gross domestic product (GDP) in Asia and approximately 10% in a megacity such as Beijing.²²⁰ The human cost is staggering-traffic accidents, which disproportionately affect vulnerable road users such as pedestrians, bicyclists, and children, already kill more than 1.2 million people globally every year and could become the fifth largest cause of death by 2030.221 There is growing evidence that personal security and the fear of being victimized decreases women's mobility in some countries and therefore their access to economic opportunities and health services.222

To reverse the rising tide of vehicle fleets and unsafe street design, urban transportation must become "triple zero," with zero emissions, zero road deaths, and zero exclusion from the education, health, food, and economic services that make cities livable and equitable for all.²²³ This transition to more efficient, seamless, and accessible urban transport systems requires building an integrated offering of mobility services from a patchwork of coexisting public, informal, and private modes.²²⁴ Mass transit that moves more people more efficiently than private vehicles should be strengthened, rather than allocating budgets to expand road capacity for private cars.²²⁵ Electrification of bus fleets and urban freight is also an important piece of the puzzle, as buses are a dominant mode of transport in many developing cities and can reduce emissions by up to 75% compared with diesel buses;²²⁶ electric buses also make journeys more pleasant through reduced vibrations, smoother operation, and lower noise levels.²²⁷ Nonmotorized modes and "last mile" connections through safe street networks are essential to link residents with their destinations and avoid having them invest in private cars and two-wheeled vehicles.²²⁸ In many places, urban transport systems have to be planned from scratch or heavily upgraded.²²⁹

Tracking and accelerating action

There is a large community of sustainable transport planners, practitioners, researchers, and public and nongovernmental champions actively working on a range of topics related to triple zero urban transportation. There is a rich history of innovation for sustainable mobility reaching back many decades. Local governments have been pioneers in implementing approaches to foster decarbonization, road safety, accessibility, congestion reduction, and many other
Local governments have been pioneers in implementing approaches to foster decarbonization, road safety, accessibility, congestion reduction, and many other sustainable solutions. Yet efforts to track progress are patchy and limited at a global scale.

sustainable solutions. Knowledge circulates globally, thanks to nongovernmental knowledge actors such as the Sustainable Low Carbon Transport Partnership, the Institute for Transportation and Development Policy, the New Urban Mobility Alliance, professional networks such as the International Association of Public Transport and the National Association of City Transportation Officials in the United States, and intercity networks such as C40 Cities and Local Governments for Sustainability.

Yet efforts to track progress are patchy and limited at a global scale. The Sustainable Urban Mobility for All coalition, established in 2017, brings some coherence to this disparate community by aligning more than 50 influential public and private actors from across the transportation space to advocate, act, and finance the sustainable mobility future. Its first flagship publication (the *Global Mobility Report*), a first-ever assessment of the global transport sector and the progress made toward achieving sustainable mobility, finds a large gap between reality and ambition that defies quantification for lack of common definitions, agreed methodologies, and data availability.²³⁰

Transition to zero waste cities

Globally, around 7 billion to 9 billion tons of waste are produced annually, of which 2 billion tons is municipal solid waste (MSW) that local governments must manage.²³¹ It is estimated that cities dump or send 70% of MSW to landfills, recycle or compost 19% to recover materials, and rely on modern incineration to treat the remaining 11%.232 In many low-income cities, waste collection and processing are carried out by informal workers whose livelihoods depend on waste-derived revenues.²³³ In these lower-income countries-principally those in sub-Saharan Africa, South Asia, and the North Africa-it is thought that MSW could double or even triple in the next 15 to 20 years.²³⁴ This will put considerable strain on local governments, which spend about 19% of their budgets on waste management.235

Global MSW, which includes a range of organic and inorganic waste streams from households, businesses, and public organizations, has multiple environmental, social, and economic consequences. The generation of waste and its ineffective management through dumps and landfills accounts for about 5% of global GHG emissions.²³⁶ MSW is also linked to the accumulation of plastic in the ocean, disease, nutrient imbalances in nearby water bodies from leached nitrogen, and adverse public health outcomes from the dumping and open burning of wastes.²³⁷ In addition, in lower-income countries the health and livelihoods of informal workers whose labor underpins waste systems are often at risk from lack of formal recognition of their contribution, of access to social protection, and of secure revenue sources.238

Over the past decade or so, many cities around the globe have started working toward being "zero waste." What counts as zero waste varies considerably across cities and countries; however, there is a common understanding that it involves diverting waste from landfills, dumping, and incineration to other uses. Across the spectrum of national and local responses, zero waste may include a range of measures, including reducing waste generation, reusing and recycling waste, treating waste (by composting, anaerobic digestion, incineration, use of sanitary landfills, and other methods), and converting waste into resources (recovery) such as electricity, heat, compost, and fuel.²³⁹ Composting of wet waste, in particular food waste, has become popular in high- as well as low-income cities.²⁴⁰

However defined, and whatever strategies are employed, most cities are far from achieving a 100% diversion rate. In the United States, for instance, the national average recycling and composting rate was around 35% in 2017.²⁴¹ There are many challenges with recovering waste streams, such as plastics and electronics, at a time when global recycling supply chains are under strain because traditional waste importers (China, Malaysia, India, and others) have stopped accepting such recyclable waste.²⁴²



Tracking and accelerating action

The most globally comprehensive effort leading the way toward zero waste cities is the "Global Waste Management Goals," the product of a multi-stakeholder process and coalition led by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and the International Solid Waste Association. These goals include, among others, universal access to adequate, affordable, and safe solid waste collection services, halting uncontrolled dumping and open burning, and building sustainable livelihoods for informal waste workers in the poorest cities.²⁴³ Some of them are also reflected in the SDGs (especially Targets 11.6, 12.3, 12.4, and 12.5).

Other international efforts include a declaration put out by more than 20 large cities that are part of the C40 Cities' network.²⁴⁴ These cities aim to reduce MSW waste generation (by 15% per capita), reduce landfilling and incineration (by 50%), and increase diversion from landfill and incineration (by 70%), all by 2030. Coalitions such as the Climate and Clean Air Coalition are supporting cities in waste assessments, management plans, and feasibility studies. United Nations Human Settlement Programme launched a Joint Programme on Waste SDG Indicator Monitoring and Capacity Development.²⁴⁵ The European Union's Zero Waste Cities knowledge platform is one of the few that have adopted the only internationally accepted definition put forward by the Zero Waste International Alliance.²⁴⁶

Make cities resilient

As cities have grown in complexity over the past decades and climate change impacts intensify, so too has their vulnerability to risks of a range of adverse potential (and some actual) outcomes. For example, about 90% of cities are coastal, with many now grappling with rising sea levels and more extreme storm surges that could cost these urban areas more than \$1 trillion annually by 2050.247 By 2050, almost 1.1 billion urban residents will live in cities wrestling with recurrent water shortages as surface and groundwater flows will likely fail to keep pace with urban population growth and climate change.²⁴⁸ Water quality is also a challenge for many city dwellers, with an estimated 80% of all wastewater globally released untreated into rivers, lakes, or the ocean.²⁴⁹ This pollution, particularly when coupled with unsustainable water withdrawals and inefficient, aging pipes, leads to saltwater intrusion in coastal cities, contaminates freshwater supplies, degrades ecosystems, and causes serious, potentially lifethreatening illnesses.²⁵⁰ Shifts in precipitation patterns associated with climate change will exacerbate these challenges, complicating flood management efforts and intensifying competition over freshwater resources between cities and other regional users.²⁵¹

Urban resilience has received recent attention in the context of climate change;²⁵² however, it encompasses a broader range of environmental, economic, and social risks,²⁵³ such as terrorism and cyberattacks, infectious diseases, natural disasters, as well as economic and supply chain disruptions. As complex systems, undergoing constant changes in often unforeseeable directions, cities need resilience so they can bounce back and adapt to adverse acute shocks and chronic stresses.²⁵⁴ Strategies for doing so include harnessing nature-based solutions for water and heat management,²⁵⁵ building earthquake-resistant infrastructure, integrating projected climate impacts into urban planning (e.g., shifting floodplains and sea level rise), and developing contingency plans for emergencies, such as early warning systems and safety nets. Putting these strategies in place is especially important because climate change does not have equal effects on urban residents. The poor and the marginalized often shoulder the heaviest burdens and have fewest resources with which to respond.

Tracking and accelerating action

A growing number of actors are helping strengthen urban resilience across the globe. Public actors such as national and local governments are playing perhaps the most important role in putting risk reduction strategies in place, including financial safety nets for emergency situations.²⁵⁶ Almost 75,000 local authorities worldwide have adopted plans aligned with national disaster risk reduction strategies and the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030.257 Bilateral and multilateral donors have also been critical in channeling climate adaptation funds, often through trust funds, to developing countries to help develop local response capacity. In addition, research organizations are generating increasingly sophisticated data products to track various indicators of resilience, including water risk (Aqueduct) and vegetated surfaces (the European Union's Joint Research Centre). Voluntary disclosures by corporations and local governments of relevant indicators and actions are being tracked by CDP (formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project). Coalitions working on strengthening urban resilience range from international research and advocacy groups, such as the Global Commission on Adaptation,²⁵⁸ to grassroots advocates focused on specific localities and topics, such as Slum Dwellers International, which focuses on the urban poor, and infrastructure-focused initiatives such as Resilience Shift and the Standard for Sustainable and Resilience Infrastructure (SuRe®).²⁵⁹ Experience gained from initiatives such as the 100 Resilient Cities network (now the Resilient Cities Catalyst and the Global

Resilient Cities Network) shows that building urban resilience is a long-term journey in which results often become apparent only when disaster strikes.

SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION

Today's unsustainable levels of production and consumption place enormous pressure on the global commons, driving biodiversity losses, stressing freshwater resources, and releasing billions of tonnes of GHGs into the atmosphere each year.²⁶⁰ Reducing material use among the world's most affluent households and abandoning this linear, take-makewaste model for a circular economy-one that designs out pollution and waste, keeps materials in use for as long as possible, and regenerates natural systems-will prove critical to staying within planetary boundaries. Shifting to this new economy across all sectors, for example, could lower natural resource consumption by a third, nearly halve carbon emissions, and recoup trillions of dollars wasted by 2030. Doing so could also create 30 million new jobs over the next 10 years.²⁶¹

But despite these potential gains, progress in transitioning to a circular economy remains slow and uneven. Although some companies, cities, and countries have made significant strides forward in closing material loops, just 8.6% of the global economy is circular.²⁶² Rather than cycling existing materials, we are continuing to deplete natural resources, with annual extraction rates more than tripling over the past five decades to reach 92 billion tons in 2017.263 Our consumption of these virgin materials, which remains concentrated among high-income households, now outpaces improvements in end-use recovery by a factor of two to three, and should business continue as usual, natural resource extraction will more than double by 2060.264 At this rate, we will exhaust the known reserves of nearly two dozen commonly used resources in the next five decades.²⁶⁵ This trend not only threatens severe environmental degradation in the coming decades, but it also endangers future human well-being, particularly for the world's poorest communities, whose development, in part, depends on increased material use. Reversing course will require radical transformations to decouple resource consumption from economic prosperity.

Adopt circular product design, production systems, and supply chains

Transitioning to this new economy must begin with circular design, the stage at which manufacturers lock in 80% of a good's environmental impacts.²⁶⁶ Today's overflowing landfills, marine garbage patches, and debris-filled waterways stem, in part, from design choices that give little thought to material life cycles. Nearly half of all plastic waste, for example, is from products created to be thrown away after a single use.²⁶⁷ Achieving greater circularity will require a fundamental shift in these prevailing design conventions. Most important will be a rejection that waste exists-what is currently deemed waste today, for example, simply becomes an input into another good. Designers must create products from technical, inorganic materials that will continually cycle through the economy or from biological inputs that will regenerate, rather than degrade, ecosystems when they flow back into the environment.²⁶⁸ Key strategies for achieving these new objectives include designing with a life cycle perspective, a method that considers durability, repairability, reuse, repurposing, and recycling; moving toward modularization to enable remanufacturing and component reuse; and focusing on dematerialization, which either directly reduces the volume of materials included in products or replaces physical goods with

digital ones, such as storing files on network servers rather than maintaining paper records.

Designing out waste can spark a shift toward more sustainable consumption, but a truly circular economy will need additional changes across production systems and supply chains. In today's take-make-waste economy, materials generally flow from resource-rich countries to manufacturing powerhouses and then on to consumers in wealthy nations, where they end up in landfills. Just five countries in Asia, for example, manufacture 75% of the world's garments, which consumers concentrated in the United States, Europe, and Japan purchase. Ultimately, 80% of these clothes becomes waste. Supply chains for other fast-moving goods are similarly unsustainable, retaining just 20% of the materials' value. To close these open-looped systems and minimize resource loss, many companies must overcome three key barriers in their supply chains: geographic dispersion, material complexity, and linear lock-in. Case studies show that establishing reverse logistics systems that minimize distances between manufacturers and consumers can help reduce material leakage and enable material reuse. For many businesses, shorter distances to consumers also lower transportation costs, energy consumption, and GHG emissions. Manufacturing products with fewer, higherquality materials can also decrease resource losses, while investing in material tracking systems enables





companies to monitor flows, prevent contamination, and improve recovery rates. But for some businesses, misaligned incentives along the supply chain may undercut these efforts to improve circularity. Companies facing this challenge will need to reconfigure these pathways to distribute the benefits (and costs) of improving circularity more equitably.²⁶⁹

Although a handful of companies now recognize the benefits of closing material loops, the widespread adoption of circular designs, production systems, and supply chains has yet to occur. Supportive policies—national circular economy strategies, sectoral targets, taxes on virgin natural resources, financial incentives for material reuse and recycling, circular design mandates, and extended producer responsibility laws—will be needed to push businesses to close their production, consumption, and waste generation loops.²⁷⁰ Governments must also carefully measure the actual and anticipated impacts of these policies to avoid unintentional consequences, from displacing jobs to generating efficiency rebound effects that spur greater material production.²⁷¹

Tracking and accelerating action

Several international coalitions have emerged to help decision-makers manage these challenges and accelerate the transition to a circular economy. The Platform for Accelerating the Circular Economy, a community of 75 public, private, and civic executive leaders, is at the forefront of this global effort. Sectoral initiatives, including the Circular Electronics Partnership, the Global Plastics Action Partnership, and the Global Battery Alliance, have also formed in recent years, as have national and regional alliances such as Canada's Circular Economy Leadership Coalition, the European Resource Efficiency Platform, and the China Association of Circular Economy. Many of the organizations spearheading these coalitions are monitoring progress toward a circular economy, including the Ellen MacArthur Foundation, the World Economic Forum, McKinsey & Company, WBCSD, the Circle Economy, and WRI. Most of this research, however, focuses on building the case for material cycling, identifying best practices, and providing tools that decision-makers can use to measure circularity within their businesses. Data measuring the uptake and impact of circular designs, production systems, and supply chains are both limited and not readily available, but will be needed to assess this transition.

Use pure, nontoxic, and regenerative materials

Pure, nontoxic, and high-quality materials—those that can be safely reused, recycled, or returned to the environment—are a prerequisite for circularity.²⁷² These





Shifting to this new economy across all sectors, for example, could lower natural resource consumption by a third, nearly halve carbon emissions, and recoup trillions of dollars wasted by 2030. Doing so could also create 30 million new jobs over the next 10 years.

inputs must also be regenerative, either biologically, as renewable resources such as solar energy, or technologically, by there being predictable, wellmanaged stocks that, although currently locked up in existing products, will eventually return to supply chains. But the proliferation of chemical use within thousands of everyday products serves as a major impediment to these restorative material flows. Since 2000, global chemical production capacity has nearly doubled, from 1.2 billion to 2.3 tonnes, and commonly used goods now contain hundreds of these manufactured, often hazardous compounds. Not only do many of these chemicals harm human health and contaminate ecosystems when disposed, but they also create significant obstacles to extending product life cycles. Recycled materials sometimes contain chemicals that, although not dangerous when in the original products, pose health risks to consumers in their new forms. Flame retardants from recycled plastics, for example, have been found in children's toys, kitchen utensils, and thermos cups, while high concentrations of hazardous substances have appeared in rubber playground equipment built from recycled tires.²⁷³ In other materials, particularly plastics, gradual chemical changes and the accumulation of contaminated substances pose additional challenges for reuse and recycling.274

Manufacturers also rely on chemicals to bind materials together, enabling designers to integrate products with different functions into a single good such as a smartphone, which allows users to make calls, send emails, take photographs, browse the internet, and watch television. But this increasing complexity limits resource recovery and reuse. Some electronic devices, for instance, rely on batteries that cannot be removed, while others include toxic chemicals, such as beryllium, that cannot be easily separated from their surrounding materials; in both instances, these design choices force recycling facilities to classify the entire product as hazardous waste. Nonhazardous mixed-material products are also difficult, if not impossible, to recycle. Food packaging that has chemical additives to improve shelf life, foil made from laminated films of plastic and aluminum, and disposable coffee cups lined with plastic are all examples of common products that existing systems cannot easily break down.²⁷⁵

Many countries have passed legislation to limit the use of hazardous substances in consumer products, with the European Union adopting some of the world's strongest restrictions. But even these policies do not sufficiently regulate chemical content in recycled feedstock, and biomonitoring data show that Europeans continue to face exposure to a complex chemical mix.²⁷⁶ Switching to a smaller palette of benign chemicals will require countries around the world to adopt additional, stronger policies, such as those that mandate manufacturers to proactively disclose all substances included in their products, ban chemicals that limit reuse or recycling, and restrict harmful compounds in secondary feedstocks.

Tracking and accelerating action

Several organizations are tracking some, but not all, of the data needed to monitor this transition. The Circle Economy estimates global rates of material cycling, while the European Commission evaluates recycled resource use in production systems across its member states. The Ellen MacArthur Foundation and WBCSD both offer tools that help companies analyze their material flows, but they do not share businesses' scorecards publicly. High levels of circularity may suggest that companies are using pure, nonhazardous inputs, but existing metrics do not directly measure changes in the toxicity, complexity, and regenerative nature of materials. Similarly, UNEP's Global Chemicals Outlook synthesis reports assess global efforts to minimize the adverse impacts of global chemical production, use, and waste, but its latest publication highlights data gaps that prevent scientists from analyzing chemical flows throughout product life cycles.²⁷⁷ Although many circular economy coalitions call on manufacturers to use nontoxic, pure, and regenerative materials, few alliances dedicated solely to addressing this particular challenge exist.

Shift to circular business models and a sharing economy

The predominantly linear business models of today's take-make-waste system provide little incentive to retain resources within the economy. To shift this paradigm, companies must not only rethink product designs, materials, production systems, and supply chains, but also transform their core strategies and value propositions. Business models that broadly support this transition to a more circular economy include circular supply models, which rely on renewable or recovered inputs rather than virgin raw materials; resource recovery models that retain materials' value by channeling them back to manufacturers or retailers for reuse or recycling; product life extension models that lengthen the use of existing goods; sharing models that increase the utilization of existing, often privately owned goods; and product service models, in which companies retain ownership of a good and instead sell its service, performance, or value.²⁷⁸ These corporate schemes not only improve material cycling throughout the economy, but they also strive to serve the needs of a fastgrowing, increasingly wealthy global population with a smaller absolute amount of materials. Although some of these approaches are fairly mature, such as waste recycling or product reuse and repair, circular business models' market penetration in most sectors stands at just 5% to 10%.279

Relatively new circular business models, however, are rapidly emerging, fueled by technological innovations, urbanization, and shifting consumer preferences that value access over ownership. Product service models, particularly mobility-as-a-service schemes, have become increasingly popular over the past decade, with bicycle, scooter, and car-sharing arrangements appearing in cities around the world from Vietnam to Kenya to Brazil.²⁸⁰ Global membership of urban car-sharing schemes is increasing at an annual rate of 65%; in Western Europe, specifically, many businesses have diversified these product service models to include home lighting, washing machines, and clothing. Sharing business models, which allow owners of underutilized assets to charge consumers to use products that would otherwise remain idle, are also gaining ground, with AirBnB becoming the largest single supplier of short-term accommodation in just 10 years and Uber expanding to 250 cities in just five years.281

The rise of these two circular business schemes also underpins the expansion of the sharing economy, a spectrum of economic models in which swapping, sharing, trading, or renting assets broadly replaces conventional ownership of goods. Transactions across this continuum can occur between individuals, companies, or consumers and businesses.²⁸² Already emerging quickly in dense urban centers around the world, several sharing economy sectors, including travel, finance, car sharing, staffing, as well as video and music streaming, will grow significantly over the next five years. By 2025, global revenues in these five markets may reach \$335 billion, up from \$15 billion in 2015.283 However, the sharing economy does not always lead to improved efficiency. Ridesharing, for example, can include someone renting a car that they did not previously own to drive for Uber, and taking people on rides they otherwise would not have made. Concerted efforts from both businesses and policymakers will be needed to steer the sharing economy toward greater sustainability.284

Widespread adoption of all circular business models will depend on governments' willingness to address market failures, misaligned policies, and perverse incentives. Policies that prioritize circularity include those that accurately price externalities (e.g., taxes on virgin resources), hold producers accountable for their goods' end-of-life management (e.g., extended producer responsibility laws), deliver subsidies to companies that invest in material cycling or integrate recycled inputs into their products (e.g., differentiated value added tax rates), and incentivize greater sharing of products (e.g., congestion pricing). Research and development investments, consumer educational programs, and green public procurement initiatives can also encourage companies to adopt circular business models.285

Tracking and accelerating action

Indicators from the Ellen MacArthur Foundation enable companies to assess circularity within their businesses, while those from WBCSD indirectly measure companies' uptake of circular business models. This information, however, tracks circularity only at the company level, and it is not publicly available. Data and data protocols needed to monitor the uptake of circular economy business models, including those that contribute to the sharing economy, are not readily available.

Shift consumption patterns to reduce waste and overconsumption

Improving circularity within material flows underpins this transformation, but it represents only one side of the equation. Even as companies close resource loops, global material use will likely grow if the world's most affluent citizens' consumption patterns continue unabated.²⁸⁶ Since 1990, the global material footprint, a consumption-based indicator of resource use, has increased by 113%. Living standards across the world's wealthiest countries account for much of this rise and its related environmental impacts. High-income nations, for example, have maintained an average material footprint of about 27 tons per person over the past three decades-at least 60% higher than that of uppermiddle-income nations and more than 13 times greater than that of low-income countries. In 2017, this material footprint caused environmental impacts, such as rising GHG emissions and biodiversity losses, that were three to six times higher per capita than those arising from the average material footprint in low-income nations.287 These international analyses, however, often obscure deeper inequalities that are widening within countries.288 Fueled primarily by income inequality, the top decile of income earners' consumption patterns account for 25% to 43% of environmental impacts globally, compared with just 3% to 5% of ecological harm caused by the consumption patterns of the world's lowest decile of income earners.289

Not only do current consumption trends of the world's wealthiest citizens threaten the global commons, but many less affluent households are increasing their material footprints every year, particularly within upper-middle-income countries.290 If every person on Earth consumed as much as the average citizen in high-income countries, human society's material footprint would surpass the planet's biocapacity by a factor of nearly four.²⁹¹ Equitable, sustainable consumption -- that which enables everyone to meet their basic human needs and live a dignified life-will instead require both "contraction and convergence."292 Needed changes may be disruptive, such as shifting from high- to low-tech options (e.g., air-drying clothes instead of using a dryer), establishing minimum and maximum consumption limits, and rethinking definitions of economic prosperity. Technological gains that boost efficiency can contribute to this transition, but these innovations alone cannot keep the global population within planetary boundaries while also improving the well-being of those living in poverty. A growing number of studies, for instance, find that rising consumption levels have dampened—and in some cases canceled-the effect of new technologies designed to minimize goods' environmental impact.293



Tracking and accelerating action

Efforts to increase circularity within production systems have often garnered more attention than those focused on sustainable consumption.²⁹⁴ However, a growing number of experts are calling for a new economic model to address current and projected ecological degradation arising from unsustainable resource use. Kate Raworth's doughnut economics, for instance, visualizes a safe operating space for humanity, where consumption needed for human well-being exists within planetary boundaries, as an alternative to those that focus primarily on GDP.²⁹⁵ Similarly, the Capital Institute's vision of regenerative capitalism calls for the deceleration of consumption across the developed world to allow developing countries to attain equitable, sustainable material prosperity.²⁹⁶ Many organizations leading the transition to a circular economy, such as the Ellen MacArthur Foundation and the World Economic Forum, also advocate for more sustainable consumption patterns and dematerialization, noting that reducing demand for materials sits atop the circularity hierarchy. But few are explicitly calling for the world's most affluent individuals to reduce their overconsumption and addressing the forces that drive these unsustainable lifestyles.

UNEP and the International Resource Panel track data on consumption-based material flows, providing information on total use, per capita use, and use per U.S. dollar. In their latest report, *Global Resources Outlook* 2019, they estimate global and per capita material footprints since 1990 and some of the drivers, while the Global Footprint Network tracks global and countrylevel ecological footprints. The United Nations Statistics Division also tracks material footprint as an indicator for SDG 12. Data that focus on the drivers of consumption, such as population growth, income (a proxy indicator for affluence), and technological innovation, exist but are often dispersed.



FINANCIAL SYSTEMS

Financial systems underpin growth and development. They encompass "institutional units and markets that interact, typically in a complex manner, for the purpose of mobilizing funds for investment, and providing facilities, including payment systems, for the financing of commercial activity."²⁹⁷ The principal threat that the world's current financial system poses to the global commons is that the rules governing financial decision-making fail to account for environmental, social, and governance risks and opportunities. As a result, the world's "\$80 trillion annual economy creates environmental externalities valued at over \$7 trillion

annually, and at current patterns of economic growth are set to further erode global natural wealth by over 10% by 2030."²⁹⁸

According to UNEP's 2015 Inquiry, the largest, most recent international effort to analyze and shift global finance, a "quiet revolution" has begun to unfold in financial systems-a revolution that is moving them toward the internalization of sustainable development into financial decision-making, A working definition for a sustainable financial system has been put forward: "one that creates, values and transacts financial assets in ways that shape real wealth to serve the long-term needs of an inclusive, environmentally sustainable economy."299 This definition represents a shift from conceiving a "sustainable" financial system as one that can weather financial crises to a broader definition that seeks to align capital allocation with wider environmental, social, and economic goals to serve the transition to sustainable development.³⁰⁰

Measure, disclose, and manage climate and other types of environmental risks

Until relatively recently, decision-making about longterm strategies for the efficient allocation of investment capital did not routinely account for climate change risks. However, as losses from natural catastrophes have intensified in recent years, amounting to \$640 billion in 2017–2019, investors are now seriously considering the risk of unanticipated financial losses associated with climate change. These losses may come from extreme events (e.g., storms, droughts, and wildfires), changing weather patterns over time (e.g., the effect of rising sea level on credit secured by coastal real estate), or rapid losses in the value of assets caused by changing policies or consumer preferences.³⁰¹

Climate-risk disclosure has made important advances in recent years. Both investors and financial regulators are demanding internationally consistent climate and environment-related disclosures relating to the potential financial impact of climate risks. Investors see the absence of such information as a possible threat to their investments, while regulators see it as a threat to the functioning of financial markets.³⁰²

However, most countries do not yet mandate climaterisk disclosure. The notable exception is France, whose Article 173 constitutes the world's first climate change financial disclosure law since 2016.³⁰³ Other countries, such as the United Kingdom, have committed to exploring mandatory disclosure, but in the meantime, few companies disclose—or manage—climate risks systematically. Voluntary disclosure has progressed thanks to initiatives such as the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. One important response has come from within the financial community in the form of a call for better information and greater transparency about how companies that issue public debt or equity across a wide range of sectors are exposed to these risks and are preparing to mitigate them.³⁰⁴

Disclosure is an important element needed for managing and pricing the physical risks from climate change. The International Monetary Fund's (IMF's) latest Global Financial Stability Report finds that equity valuations across many countries in 2019 did not reflect commonly discussed climate scenarios and physical climate risks, such as loss of life and property, or disruptions to economic activity caused by floods, heat waves, and droughts. Pricing these is a difficult exercise for investors, as it requires evaluating long-term firmlevel implications of climate scenarios and expected mitigation and adaptation actions. Yet, the study finds that neglecting physical risks could present a significant source of market risk and that firm-specific disclosures on exposures (current and future) could help better price risks in the future.305

The TCFD provides an annual tracking of the implementation of TCFD recommendations for disclosing climate risks (full, partial, or none) and their incorporation into decision-making. The TCFD's recommendations are supported by corporations and investors (the latter with more than \$135 trillion in assets under management collectively) and more than 1,000 organizations. However, the tracking covers only companies and does not include other financial actors, such as public finance institutions. Similar to the TCFD but more recent is the Task Force for Nature-Related Financial Disclosures launched by the governments of the United Kingdom and Switzerland, the World Wildlife Fund (WWF), and Global Canopy. Aiming to publish a reporting framework in 2021, the task force will follow a format similar to that of the TCFD and focus on the overexploitation of natural resources.

Scale up public climate finance

"Climate finance" represents the financial resources that cover the costs of transitioning to a low-carbon global economy and of building resilience to current and future climate change impacts.³⁰⁶ In 2009, developed countries committed to jointly mobilizing \$100 billion per year from public and private sources by 2020 to support climate action in developing countries.³⁰⁷ The 2015 Paris Agreement aims to make these finance flows consistent with the objective of limiting the increase in global average temperature to 1.5°C above preindustrial levels and to achieve a balance between funding for mitigation and adaptation actions.³⁰⁸ Commitments such as these send a strong signal to financial actors that a rapid and deep shift away from high-emission investments is needed.³⁰⁹

The global public climate finance landscape is a patchwork of countries, bilateral institutions, multilateral institutions, and regional organizations that are all involved in raising, channeling, and deploying finance for climate-related activities. These commitments have a critical role to play in terms of meeting the global costs of climate change mitigation and adaptation, helping to create new markets (such as those for renewable energy and energy efficiency), fostering innovation, reducing risk, leveraging private investment, and providing funding for goods and services that commercial markets do not support, such as improved disaster warning systems, capacity building, and community participation.³¹⁰ Using public funds in a catalytic manner requires finding the right approaches, resources, and space for experimentation, as it involves accounting for different needs across sectors and countries, depending on their financial readiness, the investment profiles of projects, and national and sectoral investment environments.

Climate finance flows reached a record high of \$579 billion in 2017–2018 across all types of investors, with domestic, bilateral, and multilateral development finance institutions accounting for the majority of public finance.³¹¹ However, a key barrier to scaling up the levels of public finance is mobilizing ambition among international actors and then translating these commitments into actual sources of finance that can be counted and tracked.³¹² Other obstacles include fragmented responsibilities, poor institutional cooperation, limited resources, and programming and implementation costs.³¹³

The United Nations Global Climate Action portal notes that more than 2,500 cities and 2,000 companies have registered their commitments to act on climate change. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) Standing Committee on Finance tracks global climate flows on a biannual basis and the Climate Policy Initiative publishes a flagship report, which features a broad range of disaggregated data by geography and type.³¹⁴ These are fairly comprehensive exercises, but they do not include subnational tracking, making it difficult to understand how effectively global flows are in reaching the local level where climate projects are implemented.³¹⁵ There are many actors seeking to boost public climate finance commitments, disbursements, and effectiveness, including bilateral and multilateral institutional actors and nongovernmental organizations. Since 2019, finance ministers from 20 countries have formed the Coalition of Finance Ministers for Climate Action,³¹⁶ which endorses a set of principles to boost climate action through fiscal policy, public finance, and partnerships with key institutional actors such as the IMF, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), UNFCCC, the United Nations Development Programme, and the NDC Partnership, among others.

Unlock private investment in sustainable infrastructure

Mobilizing private capital is seen as essential to achieving the required investment levels for lowcarbon and resilient infrastructure. These investment needs for global infrastructure from 2015 to 2030 have been estimated at \$90 trillion (or \$6 trillion per year); another \$270 billion per year would be required to make investments in energy, transport, cities, and other low-carbon areas.³¹⁷ Demand stems from both aging infrastructure in advanced economies and rapid urbanization in developing countries. The challenge is enormous—the amounts required are more than the entire existing infrastructure stock today, and approximately two-thirds is needed in the global South, where investment conditions are more challenging.³¹⁸

The transformation needed is twofold: meeting the incremental cost of low-emissions, climate-resilient investments, as well as mobilizing and reorienting the large amount of business-as-usual investment in the first place.³¹⁹ Private capital is still largely untapped for sustainable investments, in particular the long-term debt finance in capital markets and the large pools of institutional investor capital.³²⁰

The challenge is enormous the amounts required are more than the entire existing infrastructure stock today, and approximately two-thirds is needed in the global South, where investment conditions are more challenging.

Tracked private finance reached an annual average of \$326 billion in 2017–2018, primarily going to renewable energy (85%) and low-carbon transport (14%), consistent with the greater commercial viability of these investments.³²¹ These numbers are still far from the estimates of what is needed for a sustainable infrastructure transition. The lack of transparent and bankable project pipelines reflects significant transaction costs involved in getting nontraditional, low-carbon, and resilient investments off the ground. Matching supply- and demand-side actors through project preparation activities can amount to 2.5%–5% of total investment cost—for energy sector projects, this could amount to \$1–2 trillion, and \$0.7–1.3 trillion for transportation.³²²

Several efforts are underway to boost private investment in sustainable and resilient infrastructure. These are taking place at global, regional, national, and projectlevel scales, and-given the geographically specific nature of investment conditions-across different geographies. There is a growing number of "project preparation facilities" that aim to match infrastructure projects with investors, helping to prepare transactions, business models, revenue sources, and often regulatory aspects, through technical assistance and stakeholder engagement, as well as enabling environment support. Many of these are bilateral and multilateral undertakings, such as the World Bank-hosted Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility and the Group of Twenty's initiatives (e.g., the Global Infrastructure Facility and the Global Infrastructure Hub). Others are specific to an implementation level or a geography,

such as the Cities Climate Finance Leadership Alliance and the Cities and Climate in Africa facility funded by the European Union, Switzerland's State Secretariat for Economic Affairs, and the Agence Française de Développement, which targets investment in African cities. Globally, there has been a movement to establish standards on sustainable and resilient infrastructure in order to distinguish it from conventional infrastructure, broaden its appeal among different investor groups, streamline regulations, and pave the way for innovative financial instruments to help accelerate investments, lower transaction costs, and reduce investment risks.³²³

Extend financial services to underserved groups

Financial inclusion is one of the best ways to build individual and collective resilience and enable people to buy low-carbon technologies.³²⁴ Globally, about 1.7 billion adults remain "unbanked," living without an account at a financial institution or through a mobile money provider. Women account for more than half of the unbanked population, nearly half of whom live in just seven developing countries: Bangladesh, China, India, Indonesia, Mexico, Nigeria, and Pakistan.³²⁵

Increasing financial inclusion helps low-income populations better manage climate risks. The full range of financial services is relevant when building individuals' and small businesses' climate resilience-savings, credit, insurance, and easy money transfer options, including digital channelsas they can provide a buffer against climate events as well as help include those at the bottom of the economic pyramid throughout the transition to low-carbon economies. Extending financial services to underserved groups could strengthen their resilience while boosting investments in low-carbon technologies.³²⁶ On the supply side, offering financial services to lower-income and poor populations is still lagging behind services offered to wealthier groups, especially in countries where the financial system as a whole is less mature. The principal reasons for not having an account, according to the 2017 Global Findex survey, are having too little money to use an account, the cost of and distance to a financial institution, because a family member already has one, lack of documentation, distrust in the financial system, and religious reasons.327

The World Bank provides the well-respected Global Findex Database, which tracks financial inclusion across more than 140 countries and includes a range of indicators and type of financial services. There are a number of existing partnerships and national initiatives that aim to foster financial inclusion. The Alliance for Financial Inclusion is a member-owned network that works on policy and regulation at a global level, in close partnership with and support of its members—central banks and other financial regulatory institutions from emerging and developing countries. There are also numerous national initiatives that focus on boosting financial inclusion in specific geographies, such as the national financial inclusion strategies of Indonesia, Mexico, and Pakistan.

Price GHG emissions and other environmental externalities

Externalities are a result of mispricing natural capital assets and economic activities. Natural capital assets include those that can be traded (e.g., fossil fuels and mineral commodities) and those for which no price exists, including public goods, such as clean air, safe drinking water, and biodiversity. It has been estimated³²⁸ that unpriced natural capital costs arising-for example, from climate change, water use, land use, air and other types of pollution, and hazardous waste-was about 13% of global economic output in 2009. These price distortions have significant harmful effects on efforts to align the financial system with sustainable development. They are thought to introduce economic inefficiencies, divert resources from better uses within the economy, benefit the rich rather than the poor, decrease the competitiveness of low-carbon businesses by discouraging investment and negating carbon price signals, and damage public health by supporting polluting activities.329

Pricing externalities is designed to shift the burden for the damage back to those who are responsible for it. In 2018, almost 60 jurisdictions worldwide had implemented some form of carbon pricing, either through taxation or emission trading schemes (many of these in the Americas and Canada).³³⁰ These efforts generated roughly \$44 billion in carbon pricing revenues in 2018. However, current prices are not consistent with achieving the Paris Agreement, and carbon pricing schemes cover just 20% of global GHG emissions.

Theoretically, governments can then use these carbon revenues to generate revenues that can be reinvested.³³¹ The challenge of introducing carbon pricing (in the form of a cap-and-trade program or a carbon tax) requires designing, developing and executing the carbon pricing system itself, which is a major undertaking requiring technical expertise, political buy-in, and long-term implementation capacity.³³²

The World Bank provides an up-to-date, annual overview of existing and emerging carbon pricing instruments through its *State and Trends of Carbon Pricing* publication. The World Bank also hosts the Secretariat of the Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition, a voluntary initiative that brings together government, business, and civil society to support the implementation of carbon pricing around the world and share implementation experiences. There are also various national and regional pressure groups and champions that promote different forms of carbon pricing in their own geographies, such as the Carbon Tax Center in the United States.

Eliminate harmful subsidies

The mispricing of externalities also includes monetary incentives for activities that are the source of environmental degradation. In OECD countries and major economies, it is estimated that government tax breaks and spending programs support fossil fuels at a level of \$160-200 billion annually, accounting for an estimated 70% of all energy subsidies and contributing to considerable adverse effects on the global commons.³³³ According to IMF estimates, subsidies were valued at \$4.7 trillion (6.3% of global GDP) in 2015, with China, the United States, Russia, European Union, and India being the largest subsidizers. Coal and petroleum accounted for 85% of global subsidies. Reductions in these subsidies could have lowered global carbon emissions by 28%, reduced fossil fuel air pollution deaths by 46%, and increased government revenue by 3.8% of GDP.³³⁴ Removing fossil fuel subsidies could also significantly reduce the average payback periods for a range of efficient appliances.

However, in most countries, subsidy reform is a politically contentious agenda. On the one hand, taxpayers are frequently unaware of how much public money is spent on subsidies in the first place, and are likely to see some prices go up as a result of reform. On the other hand, there is a lack of transparency on the production side with regard to how much energy producers (whether state-owned or not) receive from government, and subsidies may take many different forms, which are often not clearly identified in government budget documents. Special interests exerting political influence and weak institutions limited government capacity and mechanisms for coordinating reform—add to inertia affecting fossil fuel reform. Still, some nations are making progress. The IEA classified 12 countries' experiences as successful, leading to permanent and sustained reduction of subsidies.³³⁵ A review of carbon pricing initiatives found 57 national and subnational initiatives in implementation or scheduled to be implemented in 2019.³³⁶

Several global efforts aim at tracking and dismantling harmful fossil fuel subsidies. The IMF tracks global and regional energy subsidies for 191 countries on a regular (but not annual) basis. The Global Subsidy Initiative, led by the International Institute for Sustainable Development, is actively working to remove harmful subsidies through a range of research projects and capacity support, raising awareness about subsidies' harmful impacts and the possibilities for phasing out them in different countries. Campaigns and more activist approaches also exist, including notably Oil Change International's #StopFundingFossils campaign, which seeks to mobilize citizens to put pressure on their governments.



To stay within Earth's planetary boundaries, reduce GHG emissions to safe levels, and maintain critical ecosystem services, we will have to dramatically change the way we manage land. We have to reduce forest loss and degradation, accelerate forest restoration, and decouple increases in agricultural yields from the expansion of crop- and pastureland.

Terrestrial ecosystems sequester almost a third of all anthropogenic CO₂ emissions, making it impossible to limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C absent a paradigm shift in how we manage land. A change in land use-clear-cutting forests to make way for livestock pastures or farms-drives the agricultural sector's GHG emissions. Agriculture, peatland destruction, and other land-based sources, for example, account for nearly 45% of recent human-driven emissions of methane, a highly potent GHG. At the same time, despite increased deforestation and other land-use changes, the world's lands continue to remove more GHGs than they generate. From 2007 to 2016, for instance, land sequestered a net 6 Gt of CO₂ each year, equivalent to the United States' annual GHG emissions. Continued deforestation and land degradation, however, increasingly limit this carbon sink's ability to store GHGs.337

The food system currently operates as a major carbon source and threatens our collective ability to remain within the 1.5°C boundary.³³⁸ Current practices are too resource intensive and could risk destabilizing essential regulatory functions of the ecosystems we depend upon. This risk becomes ever more pertinent as the global population grows and, on average, becomes wealthier. These socioeconomic and demographic changes consequently increase pressures on our food system, threatening to disrupt the safe operating space for GHG emissions, land and water use, and nitrogen and phosphorus application if no systemic change is undertaken.³³⁹

Protect 30% of forests and other land by 2030

Forests and other lands provide critical ecosystem services, from housing biodiversity, to providing food and fiber, to safeguarding communities from floods and droughts. They also protect us from much greater climate impacts, given the role they play as a carbon sink. Curbing deforestation and forest degradation offers the largest potential for lowering land sector emissions.³⁴⁰

This transformation entails protecting new land and strengthening the conservation of existing protected land to maintain critical ecosystem services, biodiversity, and carbon pools, as well as to reduce the conversion of forests, peatlands, wetlands, and grasslands. The New York Declaration on Forests called for halving tropical deforestation this year, by 2020, and ending it altogether by 2030. However, tropical forest loss continues unabated, with an annual loss of tree cover over an area the size of the United Kingdom taking place between 2014 and 2018. Primary forest loss has accelerated, with primary forest loss in the humid tropics accelerating by 44% from 2001–2014 to 2014–2018. The largest driver of forest loss is agricultural commodities, and if current trends continue unabated, the world will lose 289 million hectares of tropical forest—an area roughly the size of India—by 2050.³⁴¹

In addition to halting deforestation, we must also prioritize preventing it, particularly in forests. High forest cover and low deforestation (HFLD) countries—those with forests that stretch across more than 50% of national lands and deforestation rates below 0.22%—contain nearly a quarter of the world's forests, much of the planet's intact, unfragmented tropical forests, and 10.5% of carbon stored in these equatorial ecosystems.³⁴² Yet these nations have received less than \$2 billion in climate finance since 2007. Funding for reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, plus sustainable management of forests and the conservation and enhancement of forest carbon stocks (REDD+), is strongly correlated to countries' loss of tree cover and emissions from deforestation





rather than to nations' total forest cover. These findings suggest that many donors are channeling REDD+ finance to regions grappling with acute deforestation pressures—but without financial support, economic development could sharply increase forest loss in HFLD nations over the coming decades.³⁴³ Adopted in 2019, the Krutu of Paramaribo Joint Declaration on HFLD Climate Finance Mobilization calls on the international community, including the Green Climate Fund, to align financial frameworks and mechanisms with HFLD nations' sustainable forest management needs, representing an important step forward for those nations.³⁴⁴

Various multi-stakeholder organizations are also working hard to introduce an "apex goal" for nature and biodiversity that includes protecting 30% of the terrestrial surface of the planet that is still in relatively pristine condition. Related restoration goals have been set (see the following section). This work entails the completion of a science-based target for biodiversity and its inclusion in the Convention on Biological Diversity's (CBD) post-2020 framework, currently being negotiated under the Conference of the Parties to the CBD.

Tracking and accelerating action

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) recently published the *State of the*

World's Forests (2020), a report that helps track the protection of lands. Global Forest Watch showcases data on protected areas, tree cover loss, and tree cover loss by dominant driver (e.g., commodity-driven deforestation, shifting agriculture, forestry, wildfire, and urbanization), and hot spots of primary forest loss, as well as primary forests, intact forest landscapes, mangrove forests, and land cover. Datasets exist for only some drivers of forest loss, such as land tenure.

Protected Planet has data on protected areas, including coverage, representation, connectedness, and areas of importance for biodiversity. The database on the downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement of protected areas maintained by Conservation International and WWF shows the downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement of protected areas after they were established. Conservation International, WWF, Birdlife, The Nature Conservancy, and the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds have put together an assessment of progress toward the CBD's Aichi Biodiversity Targets, which have relevant data on several indicators. The Tropical Forest Alliance has data on deforestation commitments and assesses how well they have been implemented. An assessment has been conducted on progress toward achieving the New York Declaration of Forests, which includes a large variety of organizations.





Despite the large number of different types of commitments (e.g., under the CBD, UNFCCC, the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, the New York Declaration of Forests, the Bonn Challenge, the SDGs, and various commodity roundtables), there is no strong accountability mechanism. However, the Tropical Forest Alliance has data on deforestation commitments and assesses how well they have been implemented. A multipartner assessment of progress toward the New York Declaration of Forests has also been conducted.

Restore degraded landscapes

As a complement to halting deforestation and protecting forests and lands, we must restore our landscapes to improve air and water quality, control erosion, protect biodiversity, and sequester carbon.. Across developing countries, restoration can raise smallholders' incomes by \$35 billion to \$40 billion annually within the next 15 years.³⁴⁵

The New York Declaration calls for restoring 150 million hectares of degraded lands by 2020 and 350 million hectares by 2030. It is estimated that meeting the 150 million hectare restoration goal alone would bring \$85 billion per year in net benefits.³⁴⁶

Tracking and accelerating action

The Bonn Challenge includes almost 60 pledges from countries, subnational jurisdictions, and companies. Regional restoration initiatives, such as the African Forest Landscape Restoration Initiative in Africa and Initiative 20x20 in Latin America and the Caribbean, also contribute to meeting the Bonn Challenge goal. However, restoration is often happening outside natural forests and only about 18% of the 2020 goal has been met.³⁴⁷ Data on tree canopy cover and on tree cover gain and loss can indicate positive or negative restoration progress. Data on tree cover outside forests can also be a relevant indicator. Such data are collected by the University of Maryland, SERVIR, and FAO. However, there is no definitive dataset that can be used to track restoration. Data on restoration are self-reported by some countries (e.g., under the Bonn Challenge Barometer of the International Union for Conservation of Nature [IUCN]), but by only a fraction of those that have made a commitment. There is no independent assessment of restoration achieved and no progress toward restoration pledges being tracked on a regular basis.

Manage land sustainably to increase yields 40% by 2050 without expanding agricultural land or degrading ecosystems

Human activities directly impact 70% of Earth's icefree land, more than a quarter of which now suffers from degradation, and the many pressures currently placed on land will intensify in the coming decades.³⁴⁸ Driven by land-use changes, primarily from the agricultural sector, and unsustainable management practices, land degradation,³⁴⁹ which includes forest degradation, fuels biodiversity losses, releases GHG emissions, limits terrestrial ecosystems' carbon uptake, and threatens food security around the world. Since 1998, productivity declines across natural and managed ecosystems have occurred on one-fifth of the planet's vegetated surface.³⁵⁰ Today, erosion on agricultural lands outpaces soil formation rates by a factor of 10 to 20 on untilled lands and by 100 on conventionally tilled fields.³⁵¹ These cropland soils have also become a source of GHG emissions, losing between 20% and 60% of soil organic carbon even before cultivation.³⁵² Against this backdrop, chemical pesticides and fertilizers use continues to rise as farmers strive to maintain yields as land productivity falls, but these synthetic inputs have come at a cost:

Across developing countries, restoration can raise smallholders' incomes by \$35 billion to \$40 billion annually within the next 15 years.

biodiversity losses, increased soil salinization, and pollution of nearby and downstream ecosystems.³⁵³ The impacts, in turn, often lead to further degradation.

Already, climate change is increasing the rate and magnitude of land degradation, multiplying threats for the estimated 1.5 billion people whose livelihoods depend on degraded lands.³⁵⁴ Many of those affected live in poverty across the developing world, and losses in land productivity heighten these households' vulnerability to climate impacts, hunger, and conflict over scarce natural resources.³⁵⁵ Land degradation can also entrench rural families in a cycle of poverty. For example, when unproductive land yields smaller harvests, many families increase their reliance on activities in nearby forests or other wildlands, such as collecting and selling fuelwood. But as dependence on these ecosystems rises, they often begin to experience degradation, forcing families to return to unproductive farms.³⁵⁶ Many are left with few choices but to migrate or to expand agricultural lands-decisions that, in aggregate, risk exacerbating climate change, biodiversity losses, freshwater depletion, deforestation, and land degradation.

Sustainable land management (SLM)-a suite of practices that use land resources, including animals, plants, soils, and water, to produce goods that meet humans' evolving needs, while also protecting the resources' future productive potential and environmental functions—can help avoid, reduce, and reverse land degradation.³⁵⁷ Although SLM practices differ widely across contexts, they share a common set of objectives: improve soil management to reduce erosion, increase fertility, and minimize chemical inputs; curb GHG emissions, as well as increase carbon sequestration and storage; optimize water productivity by enhancing water cycling and storage; strengthen rural livelihoods by increasing yields and diversifying sources of income; conserve aboveground and belowground biodiversity; protect ecosystem services; and build resilience to intensifying climate impacts and natural disasters.³⁵⁸ Sustainable forest management, one form of SLM, strives to minimize deforestation and forest degradation, enhance carbon sinks, safeguard biodiversity and ecosystem services, provide economic benefits to forest managers, and sustainably deliver goods, such as timber or fiber.359 Agroforestry, silvopasture, integrated crop-livestock systems, intercropping perennials with annuals, integrated pest management, living fences, no-till agriculture, and terracing provide examples of wellknown practices currently used around the world.³⁶⁰ Implemented across scales, from smallholder fields to transboundary watersheds, SLM can generate many



benefits. Meta-analyses find that readily available practices can improve land productivity, deliver economic returns, contribute to climate change mitigation efforts, and build resilience to climate impacts.³⁶¹

However, systemic barriers to widespread adoption of SLM persist, including weak enabling environments (e.g., laws, policies, and institutions), scarce public and private finance (e.g., government grants, microcredit, insurance, and payment for ecosystem services), and poor access to knowledge and technologies throughout growing seasons. Overcoming these challenges will require a portfolio of strategies that enable farmers and land managers to choose the practices best suited to their contexts and goals, invest in appropriate technologies, and adapt as socioeconomic and environmental circumstances shift. Strengthening land tenure, cocreating knowledge informed by traditional practices and the best available science, mainstreaming SLM priorities across development initiatives, creating tax incentives, investing in participatory integrated land-use planning, supporting farmer networks, and establishing rural extension services are all proven measures that governments can adopt now to support SLM.³⁶² Doing so can help countries feed the world's growing population, strengthen rural livelihoods, deliver climate change mitigation commitments, and protect life-supporting ecosystems.

Tracking and accelerating action

Assessing land degradation poses several challenges to tracking this transition. Because there is no single indicator to measure land degradation, its global extent, rate, and intensity are not well quantified. Several proxy indicators, including vegetation-based parameters such as the normalized vegetation index, are available, and remote sensing of these proxy indicators, when used in combination with other information, can offer consistent, geographically specific data over decadal time scales.³⁶³ But these metrics, many experts agree, miss facets of land degradation that are subjective and value-based. Data detailing the direct drivers of land degradation are more readily available, such as land-use changes (e.g. deforestation, urbanization, or agricultural expansion) and management practices (e.g., fertilizer or chemical use), but information needed to track indirect drivers is more limited and dispersed. Similarly, efforts to systematically track adoption and impact of SLM are nascent, with the World Overview of Conservation Approaches and Technologies' global SLM database of practices leading the way.

Still, many institutions are contributing much-needed knowledge, identifying, monitoring, and evaluating practices, policies, and financial mechanisms needed to scale up SLM. United Nations entities (e.g., FAO, the Secretariat of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification Secretariat, and the Secretariat of the CBD), bilateral and multilateral funders (e.g., the World Bank, the Global Environment Facility, and the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation), and research institutes (e.g., the International Centre for Tropical Agriculture and the International Center for Agricultural Research in Dry Areas) are at the forefront of these efforts. The International Land Coalition, the World Overview of Conservation Approaches and Technologies global network, and the Food, Agriculture, Biodiversity, Land-Use, and Energy Consortium within the Food and Land-Use Coalition are also convening experts from around the world to create an enabling environment for and accelerate the transition to SLM. Although these efforts are critical, some have received criticism for excluding those most affected by the decision-making processes-smallholder farmers, Indigenous communities, women, and poor communities.³⁶⁴ Inclusion of these often overlooked stakeholders, however, will prove critical to the successful scale-up of SLM.³⁶⁵

Halve food loss and waste by 2030

Currently, 24% of the world's food supply, as measured by calories, is lost or wasted rather than consumed.³⁶⁶ Reducing food loss and waste is critical to increasing the efficacy of food supply chains, reducing the need for additional food production and therefore reducing agriculture's pressure on land, water, and the climate.³⁶⁷ Halving consumer food waste could also generate \$380 billion in annual cost savings by 2030; curbing losses along the supply chain could save another \$365 billion each year.³⁶⁸ SDG 12 seeks to "ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns" and specifies the need to halve global food waste and reduce food loss by 2030 in Target 12.3 in order to reduce the strain of agricultural production on natural resource systems.³⁶⁹

The principal strategy for meeting SDG Target 12.3 is the target-measure-act approach, which involves governments and businesses setting reduction targets, measuring food loss and waste to develop a baseline, and developing an action plan to reduce loss and waste.³⁷⁰ Further actions include developing targeted consumer-focused interventions to encourage reducing food waste³⁷¹ and designing interventions specific to consumption environments.³⁷²

Tracking and accelerating action

Current challenges include a dearth of efforts to track food loss and waste at the national level and the absence of a standardized methodology for tracking. Some national-level tracking efforts, especially those led or co-led by nonprofit organizations, have been successful at quantifying food loss and waste, as is seen in the work of the Waste and Resources Action Programme in the United Kingdom. More recent efforts by the FAO and UNEP have involved the development of food loss and waste indicators that are being tracked at the global scale. Still, data collection and consistency challenges prevail. More grassroots efforts, such as the work of Champions 12.3, are attempting to build multisectoral coalitions to improve the efficiency of data collection and reporting on this issue, but are still in the early stages of enacting systemic change.

Shift diets and ensure equitable access to nutritious food to feed 10 billion people by 2050

Reducing the quantity of meat demanded by highconsuming populations is a necessary step for keeping the food system within planetary boundaries.³⁷³ Between 1961 and 2009, the average per capita consumption of animal-based protein increased by almost 60%, while the consumption of plant-based protein grew by just 14% over the same period.³⁷⁴

As efforts to alleviate poverty take hold in places around the world, consumption patterns are expected to shift toward the current norms in Western countries, leading to an increase in the global consumption of meat, which has a much higher GHG impact for production than plant-based foods.³⁷⁵ Livestock also contributes heavily to the degradation of land and the pollution of freshwater systems, and increased demand for meat has the potential to threaten the planetary boundaries for these essential resources.376 Strategies to shift toward more sustainable diets include increasing product innovation, such as the development of meat alternatives,377 developing promotional, behavior change, and marketing strategies to consciously and unconsciously shift consumer choices toward plantbased foods,³⁷⁸ and influencing consumer choices through policy and pricing strategies.379

Embedded in this transformation is the realization of equitable access to nutritious food. Switching to healthier, more sustainable diets for all, including those who currently do not have reliable access to affordable, healthy, and safe food, will be critical if we are to be successful.

Tracking and accelerating action

Progress toward this transition is difficult to track, as tracking relies primarily on data collected through household surveys or provided by retailers. Intermediary indicators of progress, such as widespread awareness of the need to shift diets, are being tracked, with WRI playing a key role through initiatives such as the Better Buying Lab and the Cool Food Pledge. Accelerating progress toward this transition will require overcoming the lack of centralized data collection systems and methodological challenges (e.g., household surveys can vary from country to country, with a range of gaps and inaccuracies) and working with food suppliers and retailers, who often hesitate to share their data on consumer preferences with researchers. Individual studies on shifting diets represent isolated efforts to track and compile data on consumption patterns and tend to be country specific.

Ensure supply chains are sustainable, including localizing value chains where possible

Agricultural expansion is the primary driver of deforestation and forest degradation globally. Over the past three decades, the world has lost 420 million hectares of forest, and since 2015, an estimated 10 million hectares of forest have disappeared each year.³⁸⁰ Commercial activities account for about 40% of this deforestation across developing countries, with just four commodities-beef, soybeans, palm oil, and wood products—responsible for nearly 113 million hectares of tropical forest loss from 2000 to 2012.³⁸¹ As conversion of forests into pastures, plantations, and croplands continues, so too do biodiversity losses, increases in carbon emissions, and the displacement of local communities. Protecting the world's remaining forests, as well as mitigating these harmful impacts, will require the private sector to eliminate deforestation from supply chains. Already, more than 480 companies with deforestation risks across their food and fiber supply chains have made 850 commitments to reducing deforestation associated with at least one commodity.³⁸² Yet most of these pledges, many of which were made in the context of the New York Declaration on Forests, the Consumer Goods Forum Zero Net Deforestation Commitment, and the Tropical Forest Alliance 2020, lack ambition.³⁸³ Time-bound, verifiable, and zero-deforestation commitments that cover all of a company's commodities, sourcing regions, suppliers, and operations are needed to eradicate deforestation from supply chains. Yet less than 8% of 400 major companies' pledges align with this gold standard, and the majority of businesses have failed to set traceable, time-bound, and robust targets.³⁸⁴

Most commitments instead employ a combination of external guidelines and internal policies that establish conditions, incentives, or disincentives for upstream actors within companies' supply chains. Common tools adopted to achieve these pledges include securing certifications, such as those from the Forest Stewardship Council and the Roundtable for Sustainable Palm Oil; negotiating public-private agreements, including geographic moratoria, such as the soy moratorium in the Brazilian Amazon; or creating company-specific sourcing criteria in sectors without certifications. But this diversity in strategies—and in how companies define deforestation-free supply chains—poses challenges to suppliers, who must manage myriad complex procurement, traceability, and engagement approaches. Vague pledges and limited assistance for producers, particularly smallholders or small- to medium-scale growers, have also delayed implementation.³⁸⁵ In fact, none of the most influential companies with forest-risk operations will fulfill their commitments to eliminate or reduce deforestation from their supply chains by 2020.³⁸⁶

Tracking and accelerating action

Insufficient voluntary reporting, poor transparency, and a lack of common performance metrics currently limit efforts to assess existing pledges' implementation and subsequent impacts. New tools that monitor, verify, and report on companies' progress are fast emerging, including the Accountability Framework Initiative, Global Forest Watch Pro, the Proforest Soy Toolkit, the Sustainable Palm Oil Transparency Toolkit, and the Transparency for Sustainable Economies' (Trase) tool.³⁸⁷ Institutions involved in these efforts include CDP, Climate Focus, Forest Trends, Global Canopy (particularly its Forest 500 and Supply Chain Transparency Network initiatives), The Nature Conservancy, the Stockholm Environment Institute, the Tropical Forest Alliance, WRI, and WWF. But a comprehensive global assessment of supply chain commitments' impact on deforestation rates does not yet exist. Such a study would require new datasets that measure leakage (e.g., displacing deforestation in one region to another), track implementation of companies' commitments, monitor the portion of trade covered by supply chain pledges for key commodities, and map other drivers of deforestation. Without this information, today's progress reports instead tally the total number of deforestation-free commitments and analyze companies' levels of ambition within these pledges.³⁸⁸ Thus, significant data constraints and existing uncertainties limit the ability to assess progress toward this transition.

Avoid overexploitation of terrestrial species

Biodiversity losses increasingly threaten life on Earth, growing more rapidly than at any other time in human history.³⁸⁹ In addition to habitat loss and degradation, overexploitation (hunting and harvesting) is the second most prevalent threat to biodiversity and accounts for 17% of threats to birds, 35% of threats to mammals, and 24% of threats to reptiles and amphibians.³⁹⁰ Species population declines are particularly pronounced in many biodiversity hotspots, with Central and South America experiencing a nearly 90% loss compared with 1970.³⁹¹

Preserving land biodiversity is critical for human society. Throughout our existence, wild animals, plants, fungi, and microbes have underpinned human wellbeing. These species have inspired many medical treatments, while many bird, mammal, and insect species play a critical role in controlling disease and managing pests. And crops accounting for 35% of global food production rely on animal species for pollination.³⁹²

Sustainable harvesting of plants, animals, and other organisms can help minimize species extinction and the reverberating impacts of extinctions on ecosystems and their services. This transition requires managing the hunting and harvesting of living organisms to prevent the unsustainable exploitation of terrestrial species for domestic or international trade, including by actions agreed under the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Flora and Fauna (CITES).³⁹³ Many of the approaches to preservation and restoration of habitats can also help reduce overexploitation by extending protections to plant and animal species in those habitats.

Tracking and accelerating action

Several key conventions and organizations actively work to address and monitor species exploitation. Some threatened terrestrial species populations receive dedicated attention, such as African elephants and other key species monitored by the wildlife trade specialist, TRAFFIC; not all are exploited terrestrial species are so rigorously monitored. Bird species are especially vulnerable to overexploitation and BirdLife International manages a comprehensive data collection with detailed information on species and important bird and biodiversity areas. Many other entities are actively working to address and monitor overexploitation, including the Secretariat of the CBD, CITES, and the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), as well as WWF, FAO, OECD, the United Nations Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC), and many others.

Stop invasive species

The introduction of invasive species is another critical threat to terrestrial biodiversity. For example, *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*, a single invasive pathogen species, threatens nearly 400 amphibian species around the world and has already triggered extinctions.³⁹⁴ Cumulative introductions of non-native species to new habitats have increased by 40% since 1980 because of improvements in transportation and the globalization of trade.³⁹⁵

Introductions may be intentional, for commercial purposes, or unintentional, such as with traded goods (e.g., lumber). To thwart the transmission of invasive alien species, introduction pathways, such as trade routes and tourism, must be effectively managed, and invasive species must be controlled and eradicated.

Tracking and accelerating action

National governments often monitor invasive alien species distribution and numbers in order to support domestic or regional eradication programs. CBD, UNEP, IUCN, and the National Wildlife Federation, as well as many other international, national, and subnational entities, also monitor and support efforts to curb invasive species. Nevertheless, to date there has been no significant global progress; worldwide, the number of invasive species introductions continues to rise.³⁹⁶

FRESHWATER MANAGEMENT

Essential to life on Earth, freshwater systems face mounting pressures. Population growth, coupled with economic development and changing consumption patterns, are increasing global water demand. Worldwide, water use grew eightfold over the past 100 years, and since 1960, water withdrawals have more than doubled.³⁹⁷ By 2050, the world's demand will rise by 20% to 30%, reaching between 5,500 to 6,000 cubic kilometers annually.³⁹⁸ These global projections, however, mask significant disparities in water use both between and within countries. Americans, on average, consume 2,842 cubic meters of water per year-more than twice the amount that average consumers in India and China use.³⁹⁹ And today, nearly 2.2 billion people lack access to clean, safely managed drinking water, while 2 billion still rely on improved sanitation services. These underserved and unserved communities are concentrated within rural areas, often stretching across the world's poorest countries.400

Yet as countries strive to meet growing demand and deliver clean water, sanitation, and hygiene services to all, climate and land-use changes will alter the spatial and temporal distribution of water supply, complicating efforts to manage this resource sustainably. Precipitation patterns around the world will shift, heightening water scarcity across arid and semi-arid areas and intensifying



flooding in wet regions.⁴⁰¹ An estimated 4 billion people already experience severe water scarcity for at least one month each year, and if business continues as usual, this number could reach 5.7 billion by 2050 (this is likely an underestimation).402 Pollution, a challenge predicted to intensify over the coming decades, further limits global water supply for human use. Industries currently discharge upwards of 400 million tons of toxic waste into the world's waters each year; an estimated 90% of sewage in developing countries flows untreated into surface water and groundwater; and nitrogen and phosphorous effluents will more than double over the next three decades. Not only will rising pollution levels threaten human health, but they will also degrade aquatic ecosystems, already accounting for more than 30% of global biodiversity losses.⁴⁰³ Poor management, enabled by weak governance, has entrenched this unsustainable, unequitable paradigm, with cascading effects on the entire system's resilience. Protecting this global common good will require comprehensive water assessment and management, radical water efficiency improvements, and substantial efforts to protect freshwater biodiversity.

Perform comprehensive water assessments and management

Freshwater managers of the past century have traditionally opted for the "hard path," a supplyoriented approach that depends on large, centralized infrastructure, such as dams, levees, canals, and wells. This path, however, has often had unintended consequences. For example, dams, a technology emblematic of this trajectory, often provide reliable water sources, minimize flood damage, and generate hydropower, but they can also fragment and degrade river ecosystems, limit nutrients flowing to downstream lands, displace local communities, and impair water quality.⁴⁰⁴ Similarly, engineering waterways, such as constructing extensive levee systems or dredging canals, can also heighten nearby communities' vulnerability to flooding or extreme weather events. Building inter-basin water transfers can lead to the aridification, salinization, and ecological degradation of donor basins, as well increased consumption in water-scarce recipient basins.405

Integrated, comprehensive management can help address both water quantity and quality challenges, while also strengthening governance. This new approach should seek to balance the many demands exerted on freshwater systems (e.g., water resources for domestic consumption, irrigation, hydropower, and environmental conservation) by coordinating water management across sectors and at all levels of government. Comprehensive management must also strive to integrate projected climate change impacts into water development plans; maximize water efficiency while ensuring equitable distribution of benefits; focus on reducing water demand and improving quality, rather than solely on securing new supply; consider providing water services rather than water itself whenever possible (e.g., rather than provide a specific amount of water needed to flush a toilet, decision-makers would instead focus on ensuring that all households can safely dispose of excreta); and evaluate the impacts on future generations and ecosystems when developing management plans. Adopting inclusive decision-making processes, balancing the best available science with local knowledge, and establishing strong, adaptive governance systems within and between countries will also prove critical to sustainable, equitable water management. Integrated water resources management, a framework championed by the Global Water Partnership and included within the SDGs, the Pacific Institute's "soft path" framework, and the EPA's watershed approach all embrace many of these principles.⁴⁰⁶ Although 80% of countries around the world have created strong foundations for integrated water resources management, implementation remains difficult in practice, and many have criticized this approach, claiming that it lacks a clear, actionable definition, concrete indicators, and monitoring systems.407

Tracking and accelerating action

Effective comprehensive water management depends on robust, in-depth data and extensive assessments. Such evaluations require environmental, social, economic, and cultural data collected across spatial and temporal scales, including hydrologic and hydraulic data for surface and groundwater systems; physical, chemical, and biological data to assess water quality; soil and land-use maps; census data that provide information on variables that determine per capita water consumption, such as household size and income level; information on land and water rights; and additional cultural and social survey results. Basic data is often available at the national level, but limited funding, capacity, and access to technologies have restricted many developing countries' ability to collect this information and perform comprehensive assessments.408 Although the responsibility to manage water resources rests with governments, often at local or regional levels, a variety of organizations also work to quantify, track, project, and assess freshwater-related items. These include Climate Is Water, the Pacific Institute, the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, the Alliance for Global Water Adaptation, the International Water Management Institute, the Stockholm Resilience Centre, WRI, the World Meteorological Organization, the Blue Planet Network, the Global Water Partnership, and the United Nations.

Radically improve water efficiency

The improvement of water efficiency speaks directly to the threat of a decreased supply of water. One cause of decreased supply is a lack of efficiency in how water is used. Assuming the use of current technologies used to grow food for human consumption, the amount of water needed to feed the growing population is staggering. If the global human population reaches 9 billion by 2050, water requirements will increase by about 2,100 cubic kilometers.⁴⁰⁹ Currently, agriculture accounts for 70% of all global water use. Thus, it is critical to develop agricultural technology that is more water efficient. This is just one example of many that illustrate the ways in which adjusting the water intensity of human activity could have significant effects.

Tracking and accelerating action

Various entities are tracking the numerous strands of this transformation. Given the significance of agriculture and in buildings, some of the key coalitions working in this space include the World Bank, the FAO, the International Water Association, the Alliance for Water Stewardship, the CEO Water Mandate, and the United Nations.

Protect and restore freshwater systems

Freshwater ecosystems-groundwaters, streams, rivers, lakes, ponds, and wetlands-cover just 2% of the planet, account for less than 1% of its water, and hold more than 10% of the world's species. These ecosystems deliver critical, life-supporting services-maintaining hydroclimatic regimes, supplying water and food, providing flood mitigation, and cycling nutrients. Yet they face intensifying threats from a slew of anthropogenic pressures- climate change, pollution, land-use change (e.g., urbanization and agricultural expansion), overfishing, habitat alteration, fragmentation, and flow regulation.⁴¹⁰ Around the world, rivers suffer from increasing fragmentation, with just 37% of waterways longer than 1,000 kilometers flowing freely.411 Rising water withdrawals and diversions also interrupt rivers, now causing roughly a guarter to run dry before reaching the ocean and draining some of the world's

Freshwater managers of the past century have traditionally opted for the "hard path," a supplyoriented approach that depends on large, centralized infrastructure, such as dams, levees, canals, and wells. This path, however, has often had unintended consequences.

largest inland lakes, such as the Aral Sea.⁴¹² Nearly a third of groundwater systems are also in distress, and the planet has lost upwards of 71% of wetlands in the past century, with the fastest, most significant declines experienced in inland systems.⁴¹³

Protecting freshwater ecosystems requires a portfolio of strategies that vary by watershed. In highly urbanized basins, for example, reducing impervious surfaces, improving stormwater management, restoring natural flow regimes, and establishing nobuild zones along riverbanks will help conserve and restore waterways.414 But in agricultural watersheds, managers should focus their efforts on curbing chemical fertilizer use, adopting more efficient irrigation systems, switching to crops better suited to local precipitation regimes, improving manure management, controlling erosion, and creating riparian buffer zones. Although adopting the right management strategies for the right context is important, managers should also consider a common set of market-based incentives and regulations. These include setting sustainable withdrawal and diversion limits for rivers and aquifers; reducing inter-basin water transfers; halting wetland drainage; setting aside water for environmental flows; adopting and enforcing wastewater treatment standards, as well as strong regulations for point and nonpoint sources of pollution; establishing protected areas, including for headwaters; and, requiring decision-making processes across sectors to evaluate and account for impacts on freshwater ecosystems.415

Tracking and accelerating action

Efforts to track biodiversity loss, including those undertaken by the CBD Secretariat and the IUCN, often encompass impacts on freshwater ecosystems. Yet this work generally focuses on outcomes rather than the drivers of degradation, for which data availability and quality vary by country; such data are also often dispersed across different sectors. Working alongside many national conservation organizations, WWF, Wetlands International, Conservation International, and UNEP have programs dedicated to protecting freshwater systems. A growing number of organizations, including the World Bank, WRI, and the Pacific Institute, are also advancing nature-based solutions or green infrastructure in the water sector.

Avoid overexploitation of freshwater species

For freshwater ecosystems, the direct exploitation of fish, shellfish, and other organisms has had the second largest relative negative impact on nature since 1970. Populations of vertebrate freshwater species have declined 83% since 1970, partly because of overexploitation.⁴¹⁶ Overexploitation of freshwater ecosystems generally receives less attention than overexploitation of marine ecosystems, although the consequences are similar. Global protection targets for freshwater species are insufficient; only marine fisheries are included under SDG Target 14, although both freshwater and marine fisheries are covered under the Aichi Biodiversity Targets, outlined in the CBD's Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011 to 2020. Rampant illegal fishing using unregulated tactics has caused fish stocks to collapse and has both destroyed and significantly altered important freshwater habitats across the globe.417

Several actions can support a transition to more sustainable fishing and harvesting of freshwater species—actions that complement other transformations in the freshwater and ocean systems. These include integrated water resource management and planning, inclusive water governance and collaborative management systems, reducing the fragmentation of freshwater policies, and developing and promoting incentive structures to minimize overexploitation.⁴¹⁸

Tracking and accelerating action

The WWF's World Wide Fund for Nature, Wetlands International, National Geographic, and the IUCN, are among those monitoring and working on this topic.

Stop invasive species

Invasive species are a key threat to biodiversity in freshwater ecosystems and their services. Because bodies of water are interconnected, invasive species released in one body of water can quickly spread. For example, the European zebra mussel was unintentionally introduced into Lake St. Clair (in the United States and Canada) in 1988, and within 10 years, the mussel had spread to all five neighboring Great Lakes. The mussels have caused tremendous disruption, reducing the population of native mussels and clogging underwater structures, such as intake pipes for power plants. The zebra mussels have also reduced the food available in the lakes to larval fish and many invertebrates because of their efficiency at filtering the water and removing algae and microorganisms.⁴¹⁹

Tracking and accelerating action

Invasive species are often monitored and managed at the national or subnational level because of their direct biological and economic effects on local ecosystems. The Invasive Species Specialist Group of the IUCN manages the Global Invasive Species Database, which aims to increase awareness and facilitate prevention and management techniques. There are also several international and regional binding agreements as well as voluntary guidelines that include regulations on invasive species, such as the CBD, CITES, and the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea.

ocean management

The ocean keeps Earth habitable by absorbing excess CO_2 and regulating climate. But it is also facing several anthropogenic pressures that will likely lead to irreversible impacts on marine ecosystems.

Overfishing and hunting of marine life are among the earliest human threats to the ocean, and have increased over time with more extensive and invasive fishing practices. Rising temperatures, acidification, deoxygenation, and pollution from chemicals, heavy metals, and plastics, along with agriculture, urbanization and industrialization, growing world trade flows, and shipping have all put the ocean at risk. Habitat loss along the shoreline, rising human populations in coastal areas and land-use changes, and harnessing rivers have together led to changes in the materials flowing into the ocean. These impact the ocean ecosystem and the services it provides.⁴²⁰ Human activities such as tourism, urban infrastructure expansion, shrimp aquacultures, port development, and oil and gas exploration, all continue to affect marine life and ocean health. These pressures, coupled with weak governance structures, are causing changes that may not be linear and reversible.



Ensure 30% of the ocean is fully protected by 2030

The ocean covers 70% of the Earth's surface, but it remains grossly under-protected. Areas designated or proposed for protection cover just 7.4% of the ocean, and when considering highly or fully protected areas, this number drops to 2.5%.⁴²¹ The CBD's Aichi Biodiversity Target 11 commits governments to protecting 10% of marine environment by 2020. Further, more than 10,000 marine protected areas (MPAs) that currently exist differ substantially in the level of protection offered and the activities that are allowed. There is a need for effective implementation, monitoring, and management.

Protecting 30% of the ocean by 2030 (30x30), a new target called for by the IUCN (with the scientific community rallying behind it), is projected to bring a range of environmental and economic benefits. This target seeks to establish a network of highly protected MPAs and related conservation measures to support healthier, more resilient ecosystems, greater species diversity, climate change mitigation, human livelihoods through increased financial returns, and food security by boosting fisheries' productivity.⁴²² The call for the 30x30 target also coincides with efforts to negotiate a legally binding international instrument to enable the protection and sustainable use of biodiverse areas that extend beyond national jurisdictions.

MPA coverage needed can vary significantly depending on the place, habitat type, or species, or the specific goals (e.g., rebuilding fisheries or focusing on a particular species or habitat).⁴²³ Further, it is important that countries meet the target by creating MPAs that go beyond offering minimum protection and are effectively implemented and managed. MPAs are also likely to get a boost through a new treaty under the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea; this international agreement, which the United Nations General Assembly is currently negotiating, will focus on the sustainable use of marine biodiversity in areas beyond national jurisdictions. In addition to using areabased management tools, including MPAs, to protect the wildlife of the high seas and the deep sea, the agreement covers measures such as comprehensive environmental impact assessments for activities in biodiversity beyond national jurisdiction areas, capacity building for management and conservation, and global sharing of benefits derived from marine genetic resources.424

Tracking and accelerating action

Because of the widely projected positive socioeconomic and environmental benefits that come with greater levels of marine protection, numerous new stakeholder campaigns and coalitions have been launched to raise awareness and drive adoption of the 30% target. The Campaign for Nature (a coalition of more than 100 conservation organizations) and Antarctica 2020 are key examples of these. The United Kingdom is also leading the Global Ocean Alliance, a coalition of signatory countries calling for the adoption of the 30x30 ocean goal. The Alliance currently has 22 signatory countries, working toward the adoption of new ambitious global biodiversity targets under the CBD at the 15th Conference of Parties in Kunming, China, in 2021.

The UNEP-WCMC maintains a World Database on Protected Areas that acts as a keystone resource in facilitating data tracking of protected marine areas. The Marine Protection Atlas also serves as a useful resource, providing data breakdowns on the basis of the level of protection.

Sustainably manage fisheries and aquaculture and avoid overexploitation of marine species

Overexploitation of marine organisms (mainly by fishing, but also by the hunting of marine mammals, invertebrates, and plants) has had the most adverse

impact on biodiversity in marine systems.425 An increasing proportion of the ocean's fish stocks suffer from overfishing. Today, fishing threatens more than 1,000 species with extinction, and at least 55% of the ocean is subject to industrial fishing, which is concentrated in a few countries and among a few corporations.⁴²⁶ Additionally, climate change is leading to the rise of ocean temperatures and acidification, putting additional pressure on fisheries as species migrate and reach their tolerance limits, necessitating new management techniques and greater protections. The ocean is a source of protein as well as other macronutrients and micronutrients and it is critical for food security, nutrition, and economic stability. With careful management of wild fisheries and aquaculture, the ocean could provide six times more nutritious, affordable food than it currently does, sustainably feeding the world's evergrowing population.⁴²⁷ Sustainably managing wild fisheries, for example, could generate \$40 billion in annual savings by 2030 in part by minimizing economic losses (e.g., traveling further to find fish) that stem from overexploitation.428



Conservation and restoration of marine ecosystems can be achieved through the sustainable management of wild fisheries and marine organisms and the sustainable development of marine aquaculture. Rebuilding overfished stocks and restoring marine ecosystems entails addressing challenges related to lack of alternative employment, subsidies, and poverty: eliminating fishing, hunting, and harvesting that is currently unreported, unregulated, and illegal; and implementing ecosystem-based fisheries management. It is also necessary to discourage destructive fishing practices; prohibit certain subsidies that contribute to overcapacity, overfishing, and illegal, unreported, and unregulated fishing; deal with poor local and institutional governance and enforcement; and increase-and equitably share—economic benefits from sustainable use of marine resources.429

This transition also requires ensuring that no marine species is unsustainably exploited for domestic or international trade, including by actions agreed under CITES. For some marine species, monitoring and management efforts are more challenging, given limited information, for example, on harvests of aquatic invertebrates and plants.⁴³⁰

There is also a need to sustainably expand unfed marine aquaculture or operations based on non-fish feed without shifting pressure from fish stocks to land (e.g., by using soy).⁴³¹ Alternative and innovative ingredients (such as seaweed, algae, and microalgae) are needed. Sustainable aquaculture (marine and freshwater) is required. This can be promoted through measures such as voluntary certification, international agreements on allowable catches, fishing techniques, protected zones, monitoring, and bans, along with sanctions for noncompliance, and designating protected zones for endangered habitats and species.⁴³²

Mechanisms driving toward sustainable fish stocks have been introduced at national, regional, and international levels. These include the United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement (1995), the FAO Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries (1995), and regional fisheries management organizations.

Tracking and accelerating action

The FAO's biennial report, *The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture*, monitors how sustainably global fish stocks are managed.

The Stop Funding Overfishing campaign brings together numerous civil society groups to press for a World Trade Organization agreement on fishing rules that prohibit harmful subsidies. There also exist numerous private certifications of whether a fish stock is fished sustainably, or aquaculture is performed in such a way that fulfills sustainability criteria; these include Marine Stewardship Council and Aquaculture Stewardship Council certifications.

The nongovernmental organization TRAFFIC is a specialist on the global wildlife trade, including on the illegal poaching and trade of marine species including turtles, sharks, eels, and abalone, among many others. TRAFFIC conducts research, investigations, and analysis to compile the evidence to catalyze action and help ensure that the wildlife trade does not threaten conservation efforts.

Sharply reduce marine litter and pollution

Pollution from ocean and land-based activities can degrade ecosystems and adversely impact fish abundance, affecting food safety and security.⁴³³ Since 1980, marine plastic pollution has grown by a factor of 10, affecting at least 267 species (turtles, seabirds, and marine mammals) and, through food chains, humans.⁴³⁴ Pollution in the ocean comes from a variety of sources, including municipal sources, agriculture (including aquaculture), and industrial and maritime sources. Curtailing marine litter and pollution through effective pollution management services can safeguard marine ecosystems while ensuring a sustainable ocean economy.

There is a need to control, and radically reduce, marine litter by removing abandoned, lost, or derelict fishing gear from the waters; reducing the use of nonrecyclable, single-use plastics; and imposing fees on single-use items, strengthening markets for recycled plastics, and providing incentives for recycling. Other approaches include developing new, biodegradable materials that have the desirable performance characteristics of plastics, reducing solid waste, and shifting to a circular economy that recovers and regenerates materials to effectively eliminate waste. This may require changes in cultural norms and behavior shifts.⁴³⁵ In regard to marine pollution, reducing both point and nonpoint source pollution (e.g., plastics, mercury, chemicals, toxins, and nutrients) through effective solid waste, wastewater, and stormwater management, incentives, innovation, and sanctions; the safe use and disposal of chemicals; addressing the development and degradation of coastal zones; and improving access to sanitation is required. Pollutant inputs to marine ecosystems from industrial discharges, dumping, and accidents; from agricultural sources, such as chemical fertilizers and pesticides; and from ship-generated pollutants (e.g., dumping and tank flushing) must be curtailed.436 At the same time, an enabling environment should be created to designate protected zones for coastal areas, shelf seas, and deep ocean, as well as to monitor compliance.437

As awareness of the crisis of plastic in the ocean has risen in recent years, so has the number of coalitions seeking to combat the issue. The Alliance to End Plastic Waste, the Global Plastics Action Partnership (which works with governments to track instead of measure to mitigate plastic leakage), the Ellen MacArthur Foundation's New Plastics Economy, and the Global Ghost Gear Initiative (working to reduce pollution from the fishing industry) are some prominent examples of these coalitions. Many smaller, regionally focused efforts toward similar ends also exist. Because of the dispersed nature of how much oceanbased pollution enters the ocean and circulates, data reporting and availability on this issue are challenges. In regard to plastic, a global, legally binding treaty to combat marine plastic pollution has been suggested by Norway; the hope is to achieve this by 2023. Further, the Hong Kong Convention aims to ensure the safe recycling of end-of-life ships.

Stop invasive species

Invasive species are a critical ocean threat as they can destroy marine biodiversity, permanently alter habitats, and lead to the extinction of native plants and animals.⁴³⁸ Invasive species introductions are partly responsible for more than half of global animal extinctions with known causes.⁴³⁹ The transfer of invasive species may occur unintentionally, for example, by ballast water discharge and hull fouling from the shipping industry, or intentionally, such as the introduction of the Manila clam to the Venice Lagoon; the clam, which has high commercial profitability, has decimated local bivalve populations since the 1980s.⁴⁴⁰ We continue to see a rise in the number of invasive species introductions globally.⁴⁴¹





It is in our own self-interest to protect marine biodiversity and minimize further loss. The ocean provides critical goods and services that are the foundations for life on Earth. It supplies food and raw materials, detoxifies and decomposes wastes, and stabilizes and moderates the Earth's climate, among much else.442 Marine biodiversity loss hinders the ocean's ability to supply for food for the growing human population, with fish currently providing a primary source of dietary protein to an estimated 3 billion people. The global economy also depends on healthy oceans, which deliver an estimated \$2.5 trillion of goods and services every year and may yield many more, currently unknown, benefits.443 For example, Serinicoccu, a rare, recently discovered genus of marine bacteria, can selectively destroy melanoma cancer cells.444

To thwart the transmission of invasive alien species, this transition involves managing introduction pathways, such as global shipping, and controlling and eradicating invasive species when they are found. The management of invasive species in the ocean is especially challenging because different ecosystems are connected; however, it is more likely to succeed when an invasive species is detected early and the response is rapid.⁴⁴⁵ Controlling transmission pathways may require global or regional coordination and policy, while eradication of species

and remediation techniques can vary greatly depending on the species, the ecosystem, and the extent to which the species is embedded in the ecosystem. In some cases, it may be impossible to fully reverse the impacts.

Tracking and accelerating action

Coalitions are actively working to monitor and reduce invasive alien species. The IUCN Invasive Species Specialist Group raises awareness of invasive alien species' harmful impacts and shares approaches to prevent, control, or eradicate them. The group includes 196 core members from more than 40 countries and hosts an informal global network of more than 2,000 conservation practitioners and experts. Other organizations and institutions include UNEP-WCMC, IPBES, and many regional partnerships.







The Cross-Cutting Transformations We Need

In addition to the sectoral shifts described in the previous chapter, we will need cross-cutting systems change: how we measure progress, approach inclusion, equity, and the just transition, and govern the global commons.



MEASURING PROGRESS

Monitoring the trajectories of these required transformations plays a critical role in spurring durable, just systems change. Doing so enables decisionmakers everywhere to identify effective catalysts of transformation, learn from past failures, and understand the distribution of benefits across society as transitions unfold. By tracking progress, we can adjust course as circumstances evolve, share good practices with fellow agents of change, and maximize the impact of limited resources. Yet not only do considerable gaps within existing data systems limit our ability to assess gains made, but the metrics by which we measure success also fail to align with a more holistic conceptualization of well-being. Fundamentally shifting how we define and monitor progress is needed to steer the world toward a sustainable, resilient, and equitable future.

Leverage the digital revolution and improve data systems, including tracking equity of progress

Today, a standard tablet contains the processing power of 5,000 desktop computers from the mid-1980s. In 2008, the first "app" was developed, and in just a decade, the industry's value has reached \$1.3 trillion. And over the past 20 years, the proportion of the global population with a cell phone has risen from 12% to 63%.446 These rapid changes mark the onset of the Fourth Industrial Revolution, a transformation "characterized by the fusion of the digital, biological, and physical worlds, as well as the growing utilization of new technologies such as artificial intelligence, cloud computing, robotics, 3D printing, the Internet of Things, and advanced wireless technologies, among others."447 Already reshaping many sectors, from healthcare to education to mobility, these frontier technologies possess the power to accelerate the transformations needed to protect the global commons, offering the promise of better, cheaper, faster, scalable, and accessible environmental solutions. The Internet of Things (e.g., remote sensing from satellites, on-site terrestrial sensing systems, geographical information systems, sensor networks, and the internet), for example, could dramatically improve water management by providing more accurate water resource maps, weather forecasts, water usage data,

and real-time alerts of leaks across water distribution systems.⁴⁴⁸ Similarly, geospatial data monitoring platforms, such as Global Fishing Watch and Global Forest Watch, already employ big-data analytics, along with advanced sensor systems and satellite imagery, in ways that allow people around the world to monitor these environmental systems on their smartphones. Such initiatives could soon rely on artificial intelligence to predict where illegal logging or fishing may occur.⁴⁴⁹

Although these frontier technologies promise to close substantial data gaps at local, national, and global levels, they also pose considerable governance challenges. If people wear devices that collect air quality data, who owns the data, who has access to the data, and what ends does the information serve? How can we ensure that the algorithms that underpin machine learning do not reproduce—or worse, amplify—human biases? In the United States, for example, automated risk assessments designed to inform bail and prison term hearings have consistently recommended that judges impose longer sentences, higher bail, or both, on people of color.⁴⁵⁰ And in this new digital age, how can we respect citizens' privacy and secure data, while also providing the level of access needed to support innovation for the public good?⁴⁵¹ It is critical that countries begin to address these risks now, setting strong regulations for data collection, privacy, security, access, and usage. Governments must also establish new institutions that will monitor data sharing and use, ensure transparency and oversight of algorithms, as well as adopt flexible governance systems that allows officials to adapt as technologies evolve.452 And officials must prepare for how the Fourth Industrial Revolution will affect their economies and job markets to ensure that no one is left behind, particularly in developing countries. Investments in education, retraining programs, technology transfers, and relevant infrastructure (e.g., electricity and internet connectivity) can help ease this disruptive transition.453

In addition to leveraging the digital revolution, improvements must be made in data systems and monitoring progress. For certain indicators, no methodology exists to track progress; for others, there are data gaps or a lack of updated data. For many datasets, the high level at which data are presented obscures important underlying trends, including those related to the distribution of impacts. If we are to secure a just and inclusive future, we will also need to enhance our ability to track the equity of progress.

Advocate for and accept new measures of progress

Shifting to a new growth paradigm—one centered on well-being—will require moving away from fetishizing GDP as the sole indicator of economic prosperity.⁴⁵⁴ Overreliance on GDP has led to a "growth at all costs" mentality and has obscured other essential parts of the economy, such as community and ecosystem health. We must instead increasingly recognize our dependence on natural resources as well as the value these ecological assets provide for well-being and the quality of economic growth. Doing so will require the development of new metrics that measure well-being and prosperity more holistically.

Although great advancements have been made in measuring well-being, national accounts continue to track profit margins and economic growth. Many have yet to reflect progress as defined by the wealth of peoples' experience as well as citizens' and environmental well-being.⁴⁵⁵ But these new national measures of well-being should ultimately inform decision-making, policy debates, and alternatives.⁴⁵⁶

INCLUSION, EQUITY, AND THE JUST TRANSITION

The world needs an inclusive, equitable response to the many crises it now faces. Solutions must be just and fair, generating benefits shared among all rather than adverse impacts shouldered by a few. Equity must be procedural, distributional, structural, and transgenerational:⁴⁵⁷

- Procedural equity ensures that everyone, everywhere has the voice, power, and ability to shape decision-making processes; equitable programs and policies include those that are developed and implemented utilizing inclusive, accessible, and representative processes.
- Distributional equity involves the fair distribution of costs and benefits across society.
- Structural equity recognizes historical, cultural, institutional, and political structures and relationships, which exist to maintain the status quo by prioritizing the privileged and the powerful, while disadvantaging the marginalized.
- Transgenerational equity considers the generational impacts of today's decisions, with a focus on reducing burdens on future generations.



Provide universal access to basic services and opportunities

Today, 689 million people earn less than \$1.90 per day, and an estimated 4 billion people do not benefit from social protection programs-initiatives that not only support poor households through crises and shocks such as the COVID-19 pandemic, but also improve their access to education and economic opportunities.⁴⁵⁸ A large percentage of world's population also live without basic services that underpin efforts to reduce poverty, such as safe housing, clean water, sanitation, energy, and transportation. Globally, 880 million city dwellers reside in slums, 579 million people drink water from unimproved sources, 2.8 billion people still rely on polluting cooking fuels, and 789 million lack electricity.⁴⁵⁹ Even when poor communities can access these basic services, the quality may be inferior and the supply intermittent, unreliable, or expensive. Poor households in large cities across the developing world, for example, often spend more than 25% of their income on transportation.460 Unable to afford these basic services, residents often depend on local governments to subsidize the cost, but in many countries, public per capita budgets are low.461

Strategies to improve access to basic services vary substantially. In cities, for example, promoting rental homes or converting underutilized urban land into affordable housing can help poor residents secure adequate, affordable, and safe housing.462 Extending basic sanitation services to unserved communities also requires a portfolio of solutions, including expansions of the sewer network to household, communal, and public toilets or on-site sanitation options, such as septic tanks and pit latrines.⁴⁶³ And in cities with a large informal economy-currently, 50% to 80% of urban dwellers across the global South are employed in an informal economy-access to iobs and public space are interlinked challenges that require coordinated solutions.⁴⁶⁴ Yet, there is also a set of interventions that cuts across service areas (such as the need for stronger social protection programs and citywide approaches to in situ upgrading of informal settlements) that are important for housing, sanitation, energy, water access, and mobility, among others.465

Universalizing access to basic services within rural areas requires similarly diverse approaches tailored to the challenges of smaller population sizes, lower densities, and larger distances between service providers and users.⁴⁶⁶ Delivering affordable, reliable, and clean energy to remote households, for example, will likely depend on nontraditional, distributed electricity options, such as mini-grids and solar home systems, rather than expansion of the central grid.467 Combining decentralized, on-site sanitation systems, such as double ventilated improved pit latrines, compositing toilets, or septic tanks, with technologies that safely manage waste may also be more affordable, feasible, and sustainable than traditional sewer systems.⁴⁶⁸ Investing in rural infrastructure, particularly roads, can improve households' connection to markets, while expanding communities' broadband connections can enable farmers to adopt new digital technologies. Such strategies, alongside social protection programs, not only increase access to economic opportunities, but they can also support improved service delivery in rural areas.469

Across both rural and urban interventions, there are common factors-governance, finance, planning, and management—that underpin and can accelerate progress.⁴⁷⁰ Diverse coalitions, particularly those that include poor communities, can solve challenges in service provision by coming up with innovative solutions that fill gaps in other areas and respond to the policy environment. By formally supporting pro-poor initiatives led by civil society organizations, governments can help scale up these programs by providing financial stability as well as legitimacy. Evidence-based advocacy can be critical in gathering the support needed to scale up an initiative, and knowledge partnerships can be key to collecting the necessary data. The national policy environment can incentivize certain service arrangements and collaborations that otherwise might not have been considered. Local actors, particularly from within the government, can play a key role in accelerating innovative partnerships and institutionalizing change by mobilizing public opinion and resolving internal conflicts. Greater autonomy at the local level can play a critical role in establishing a long-term agenda that is catered to the local context.

Shift to defining prosperity by inclusive well-being

One of the greatest root causes of environmental decline is the continued focus on economic growth at virtually any cost. Profit motives often avoid social and environmental costs, and markets fail to recognize these costs unless corrected by government. We need a new vision of prosperity that is defined by inclusive well-being—one in which economic opportunities are widely and equitably available; one in which communities, families, and overall quality of life and livelihoods are the pursuit; and one in which we value current and future generations and the environment that will sustain them.⁴⁷¹

Shift to a new decision-making model, with more inclusive and community-driven leadership

Nearly 700 million people currently live in extreme poverty, and the COVID-19 pandemic could push as many as an additional 115 million people below the threshold. Meanwhile, income inequality is rising in most developed and developing countries.⁴⁷² The COVID-19 pandemic has also uncovered the lack of inclusivity and equity of current governance models. The pursuit of systems that are more inclusive and representative is a growing priority to foster more peaceful, resilient states and societies.⁴⁷³ However, the transformation to more effective and inclusive political systems is complex and requires rearranging the rules of the game, including changing the distribution of power and resources and revising the social contract. This also requires reforming the institutions and the underlying political economy that facilitates modern governance models to be more inclusive and community-driven. The current model of governing in many countries gives disproportionate influence and access to the wealthy and large corporations; instead, we will need to move to empowering marginalized groups and giving more power to the hands of the people, strengthening democracy and forging new alliances.474

GOVERNANCE FOR THE GLOBAL COMMONS

Make the global architecture more fit-for-purpose to address challenges

The current architecture for addressing global environmental challenges and advancing sustainable development lacks the strength needed to support systems change at the speed and scale required. Treaties and conventions, along with their goals and targets, remain aspirational rather than realistic, and when it becomes clear that additional action is needed, a new attempt is made to refresh these collective objectives—iteration, not innovation. Instead, transformational structural changes in global governance must occur, replacing the historically fragmented and incremental approach of the past 50 years.⁴⁷⁵

With the diversity of environmental crises, acknowledging interconnections among international agreements and issue areas is critically important. Although it can be difficult to manage disparate themes across agreements, focusing on these linkages may help raise the ambition of the system as a whole.⁴⁷⁶ There is increased attention to addressing these gaps in environmental governance and to leveraging the connections between environmental systems, through global discourse (supported by organizations such as the Global Pact for the Environment) and new scientific assessments (such as the IPCC's Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate and its Special Report on Climate Change and Land). There is also a growing need to recognize the relationships between environmental and nonenvironmental systems, including health, trade, human rights, and migration.477 Key elements of this transformation may encompass balancing reform with the development of new institutions, fostering coherent pluralism, transforming multilateralism to acknowledge and adapt to the prevailing political economy, and improving accountability.478

Reset the social contract between government, corporations, and citizens

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the livelihoods of nearly half of the global workforce, deepening existing economic and social inequalities. The world needs to establish a stronger, more sustainable, and more inclusive social contract among governments, corporations, and citizens.⁴⁷⁹ The current health, political, economic, and social disruptions are exposing inconsistencies, inadequacies, and contradictions of multiple systems and fundamentally changing the traditional context for decision-making.⁴⁸⁰ We will need a new social contract focused on sustainable well-being and societal progress, putting people and the planet at the center of these efforts. Treaties and conventions, along with their goals and targets, remain aspirational rather than realistic, and when it becomes clear that additional action is needed, a new attempt is made to refresh these collective objectives iteration, not innovation.





Systems Change Lab
Given the scale of the transformations required, there is a need for a space from which to monitor, learn from, promote, and accelerate systems change. Such a space can act as a lighthouse for change agents grappling with the long-term, structural challenges that have caused this perfect storm of social, political, economic and environmental crises.

The Systems Change Lab will provide this muchneeded space by

- Monitoring the required transformations,
- Learning and sharing about the ingredients for change, and
- Nudging and campaigning for the transformations at greatest risk.

There are important connections between these three objectives and they should not be seen as sequential. Monitoring reveals the transitions in acceleration, creating opportunities to deepen our understanding of what drives these changes. At the same time, monitoring reveals transitions at risk, focusing nudging and campaigning efforts on where they are needed most. Learning identifies ingredients of change that, in turn, can inform indicators for monitoring. And learning about these drivers of systems change can also inform nudging and campaigns.

The inception phase of the Systems Change Lab was conducted with the generous support of the Global Environment Facility and builds upon the foundation of Steer, Waughray et al. (2016) and discussions held under the Global Commons Alliance.

MONITORING

There is currently no one centralized place for measuring progress across all required transformations. Although efforts to track some of these transformations exist, many data gaps remain. Additionally, monitoring often focuses on outcomes (e.g., in the case of forest restoration, hectares restored), and not also on the forces that drive outcomes (e.g., land tenure rights, restoration commitments, among others). And although this information does allow assessment of the state of play for the required transformations, it does not provide the data needed to understand key roadblocks, catalysts of systems change, effective polices, or successful coalitions.

The Systems Change Lab will increase understanding of the progress that is made toward required transformations and interconnections and interdependencies across them, to inform the setting of agendas and the prioritization of activities by governments, companies, investors, funders, and nongovernmental organizations. On the basis of its tracking of drivers of systems change, the lab could lead to the development and uptake of new metrics

Figure 3 | A New Systems Change Lab



for assessing action, as well as informing campaigns and initiatives. Tracking these transformations would in turn uncover data gaps, which can inform research agendas.

More specifically, the Systems Change Lab will work with data providers and targeted users to develop a tracking platform, where required transformations, and their drivers can be regularly monitored. This platform will provide the first complete picture of progress across systems, informing adjustments in policy and practice. It will provide compelling evidence of major progress that is in line with science (transformations in acceleration), identify gaps that have to be addressed (transformations at risk), and reveal trends across systems. The monitoring system will be designed to provide information in different ways for a variety of users as well as to be portable (i.e., it will allow the data to be accessed in different places, to meet users where they are). It can also be integrated with the Global Commons Alliance's Earth Dashboard data on the conditions and trends of the global commons and the actions taken by companies and cities.

In addition to the tracking platform, the Systems Change Lab will produce an annual report that provides clear, actionable data findings, accompanied by compelling data visualizations, that will depict both the progress made and the gaps in action that remain, as well as major leaders and laggards. The lab will also pursue associated communications and outreach, and lessons learned will be shared at major events and during key moments.

Phase I: Design of Options for Tracking; Identification of Indicators, Data Sets, and Benchmarks

In the first phase, the Systems Change Lab will pursue design options for a tracking system that would assess progress toward all of the required transformations, including working with a vendor on wireframes. In testing out different possible designs and functionalities for the online tracking system, we will seek feedback from future user communities.

A critical first phase for the Systems Change Lab will be to work hand in hand with experts to identify the key indicators for each of the necessary transformations, as well as those that support multiple transformations; the most complete, accurate and open source datasets associated with each indicator that are regularly updated and sustained over time; and the organizations that are developing these datasets to so the lab can start to establish partnerships for data sharing. Indicators would be identified not only for the transformations, but also the underlying drivers, including various actors' incentives, policies, and commitments of various actors. An initial step of this phase will be to develop criteria for indicators and dataset selection.

In addition, informed by the work of the Earth Commission, the Systems Change Lab will assess whether benchmarks exist in the literature for each of these indicatorsbenchmarks that are aligned with the latest science, as well as taking into account other sustainability criteria. These would be guideposts for assessing progress. The lab will seek to monitor each of the transformations, not only as to how they have changed historically, but also how they speak to the gap in actions that are still required, for example, to 2030 and 2050. However, monitoring requires benchmarks to do so. Some of these already exist in the literature (e.g., outputs of integrated assessment models for climate). For benchmarks not readily accessible in the literature, the lab would partner with other organizations that are pursuing modeling and research efforts that could inform these benchmarks.

Phase II: Collection of Data

Once the indicators and datasets are identified, data will be curated, made accessible and usable, and visualized. The Systems Change Lab will partner with the leading data providers and make significant efforts to partner with a diversity of organizations, including those in developing countries.

Phase III: State of Play Assessment

On the basis of the collected data, the Systems Change Lab will produce an annual assessment that illustrates where progress is accelerating in line with science—and, to the extent possible, also identifies drivers of such change (see "Learning and Sharing"). The assessment will also identify where progress is too slow, is stalled, or is moving in the wrong way altogether. Associated communications and outreach will be pursued.

Future Phases

Future phases could include the following efforts:

- Release of regular assessments by sector and in addition to annual assessments (these periodic installments could be led by other partners);
- Expansion of global indicators to country level or country data platforms;
- Creation of new types of data where they do not now exist, and expansion of existing data collection efforts; and
- Compiling new datasets for tracking political and social realities on the ground.

LEARNING AND SHARING

There have been tremendous gains in academia and elsewhere on systems change, including drivers of historical systems change, and the Systems Change Lab will by no means duplicate this work. However, there are several challenges. Although monitoring progress reveals where transformations are accelerating, monitoring does not show why change is occurring. There are also gaps in understanding the drivers of recent exponential changes, such as the rise of the youth climate action movement, public consciousness about plastic pollution or the prioritization of nature-based solutions. And the literature on systems change is not always translated into language accessible to decision-makers. The Systems Change Lab will address these key gaps and translate the information into impactful and compelling analysis.

Phase I

The Systems Change Lab will work to instill greater confidence that systems change is possible, as change agents are armed with an evidence base across key transformations and with compelling stories. In the first phase of work, the lab will choose a number of transformations to study, partnering with research institutions and researchers with expertise in those fields. Initial steps will be determining case study research principles, especially about making claims of causality; selecting criteria for identifying case studies; and finding research partners with relevant expertise.

We will also convene leaders of coalitions to learn from them on where they are succeeding, and why, and to share lessons across systems and in real time.

The lab will pursue related communications and outreach activities to various actors and networks about the drivers of systems change, informing campaigns, commitments, and principles.

Future Phases

Future phases could commission new research on drivers of transformations on a thematic basis. For example, research on ingredients of systems change in ocean management or sustainable consumption could be published in installments.

NUDGING AND CAMPAIGNING

The Systems Change Lab will conduct outreach, engagement, and communication activities to bring findings from its monitoring and learning activities to help support many existing coalitions on their efforts to campaign and nudge. In doing so, it will help identify where there are gaps and work with partners to fill those, and co-ordinate around major moments to ensure impactful engagement that can help accelerate the transformations.

Phase I: Convenings to Share Results and Mapping Coalitions

The lab will work with partners to share its results as described above ("Monitoring and Learning"). For example, results will be fed into ongoing processes, such as the upcoming COP26 and COP26 Champions dialogues, CBD, World Cities Summit, Stockholm + 50, among others. In addition to intergovernmental processes, the lab will seek to bring its results into related convenings in various regions, reaching out to related industries, policymakers, and nongovernmental organizations working in relevant spaces.

The Systems Change Lab will also catalogue top coalitions seeking to advance each transformation. This will better help the lab identify where to target support and establish partnerships. The lab will seek to partner with leading coalitions, for example, with Mission 2020, the World Economic Forum, C40 Cities, the Food and Land Use Coalition, the Platform for Accelerating the Circular Economy, and others in a distributed ownership model, in which they lead convenings, as well as participate in and lead select research efforts referenced above.

Future Phases: Development of New Coalitions to Advance Change

For the transformations at greatest risk, the Systems Change Lab will work with coalitions to try to address those risks and with champions to call for greater action to fill gaps at critical moments. The lab will use a variety of means to assess gaps and barriers and to map the actors affecting each transformation. For example, the lab will conduct systems mapping to better understand the various actors, relationships, vested interests, drivers, and barriers in select systems. Complementing this exercise, through participatory dialogue, working with partners, the lab will seek to identify solutions that will be transformational that is, they will increase support over time, ratchet up ambitions to accomplish change, and become more durable. The lab will also identify possible disruptors that could unlock systems change and will enlist top leaders and champions to advocate for such changes.

GOVERNANCE

The Systems Change Lab will work with diverse and visionary high-level champions and coalitions and meticulous technical experts who will together provide the intellectual firepower behind the operation. Top data providers can help the lab track progress toward the required transformations. Leading researchers can help distill and communicate drivers of change. Coalitions and champions can help drive greater action. The lab's partners will be critical to its success.

We hope partners would include leaders from broad-based organizations such as the Global Environment Facility, WEF, World Business Council for Sustainable Development, multilateral development banks, and the United Nations; specific coalitions for change in key sectors, such as the Energy Transitions Commission, C40, the Food and Land Use Coalition, and the Platform for Accelerating the Circular Economy; and leading NGOs and academic institutions, such as the World Wildlife Fund (WWF), the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), the Energy and Resources Institute, Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research, the University of Tokyo, Tsinghua University, and others. The Lab would thus have a distributed ownership model, in which these institutions would lead convenings and select research efforts. WRI and WEF have agreed to play a coordinating role.

In addition to partners on various research and outreach efforts, the lab will establish transformation working groups and a leadership council to help guide its efforts.

Transformations Working Groups

The lab will establish working groups for each of the required sets of transformations (Tables 1 and 2, above) and will ensure a diversity of participating organizations. Working groups will validate indicators and dataset selection for the monitoring of transformations, the selection of benchmarks, the choice of case studies, and the development of a strategy for nudging and campaigning to affect change.

High-Level Leadership Council

A high-level steering panel will be established to help guide and advise on the Systems Change Lab's efforts. The lab will work with leaders of coalitions, as well as expert researchers on systems change, to learn from them about what has successfully driven system change, hypothesize about what could trigger and sustain such change in the future, and foster learning across systems.



Conclusion

We are living through a change of historic scale and scope. This shift will be as significant as the change from a world of hunter-gatherers to an agrarian society, and then again into an industrialized world. Fifteen years ago, smartphones were rare and social media barely started. In the blink of an eye, both have fundamentally altered how we give and receive information. The coming decade will see no less seismic shifts than the past decade. But whether the next 10 years see improvement in people's lives and in the state of the natural world is yet to be determined.

Today, we face a convergence of crises that threaten lives and livelihoods around the world. From unabated climate change and accelerating biodiversity losses to rising inequality and pervasive hunger, there is a burning need and an imperative to address these crises.⁴⁸¹

The world is at a crossroads. If we continue to invest in yesterday's economy, we will be forced into a path of dependency on dirty energy, continued loss of nature, and deeply unsustainable habits. We can let change wash over us, undirected, and watch as global temperatures rise, species go extinct, and ecosystems are lost.

Or we can seize the opportunity for disruptive change, harness it and shape it to solve the world's greatest social and environmental challenges—to reduce poverty and hunger, to expand energy access, to deliver equity and justice, and to safeguard the forests, fresh water, the ocean, and the climate.

An historic global reset is necessary and possible in this decisive decade. To achieve this, we need to take a hard look at our collective approach to addressing these urgent challenges. We need to work smarter and faster. We need to understand which interventions and movements are working, which aren't and why. We must then rapidly deploy resources to those initiatives poised for success and revise the approach where efforts are insufficient. That is why a central hub that monitors, learns from and accelerates transformational change is needed. The Systems Change Lab under the Global Commons Alliance will fill this gap. The world is at a crossroads. If we continue to invest in vesterday's economy, we will be forced into a path of dependency on dirty energy, continued loss of nature, and deeply unsustainable habits. We can let change wash over us, undirected, and watch as global temperatures rise, species go extinct, and ecosystems are forever transformed. Or we can seize the opportunity for disruptive change, harness it and shape it to solve the world's greatest social and environmental challenges.

Transformational change is necessary. It is also feasible and desirable. Indeed, change is natural. Human survival has been secured by our capacity to change and adapt. But we do not want only to survive—people and the planet must thrive. It is time to elevate our collective efforts from the instinctive to the conscious, in the coordinated pursuit of a stronger, cleaner, and fairer world.

ENDNOTES

- 1. Nakicenovic et al., "Global Commons in the Anthropocene."
- 2. World Bank, "Global Economic Prospects, June 2020."
- 3. IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty.
- 4. IPCC, "Summary for Policymakers," Climate Change 2014; IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty.
- 5. IPCC, IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate.
- 6. UNEP, "The Emissions Gap Report 2019."
- IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty.
- 8. FAO et al., "The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2019."
- 9. Searchinger et al., "World Resources Report."
- 10. GCA, "Adapt Now."
- IPBES, "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services"; Weisse and Goldman, "We Lost a Football Pitch of Primary Rainforest Every 6 Seconds in 2019."
- 12. Weisse and Goldman, "We Lost a Football Pitch of Primary Rainforest Every 6 Seconds in 2019."
- 13. Seymour and Busch, *Why Forests? Why Now? The Science, Economics, and Politics of Tropical Forests and Climate Change.*
- 14. Weisse and Goldman, "We Lost a Football Pitch of Primary Rainforest Every 6 Seconds in 2019."
- 15. Roe et al., "Contribution of the Land Sector to a 1.5 °C World."
- 16. IPBES, "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services."
- 17. Oberle et al., "Global Resources Outlook 2019."
- Geyer, Jambeck, and Law, "Production, Use, and Fate of All Plastics Ever Made."

- 19. IPBES, "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services."
- 20. FAO, "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020"; IPCC, IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate.
- 21. IPCC, IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate.
- 22. IPBES, "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services."
- 23. IPCC, IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate.
- 24. Hofste, Reig, and Schleifer, "17 Countries, Home to One-Quarter of the World's Population, Face Extremely High Water Stress"; Craig et al., "Meeting the Challenge of Interacting Threats in Freshwater Ecosystems."
- 25. Dudgeon et al., "Freshwater Biodiversity."
- 26. IPCC, "Summary for Policymakers," Climate Change 2014.
- 27. Burek et al., "Water Futures and Solution"; IPCC, "Summary for Policymakers," Climate Change 2014; Damania et al., "Quality Unknown."
- 28. Lawson et al., "Public Good or Private Wealth?"
- 29. World Bank, "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2020."
- 30. Shorrocks, Davies, and Rodrigo, "Global Wealth Report 2019."
- Alvaredo et al., "World Inequality Report 2018"; Keeley, "Income Inequality."
- World Bank, "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2018"; World Bank, "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2020."
- 33. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 34. Levin et al., "Overcoming the Tragedy of Super Wicked Problems."
- 35. Abercrombie, Harries, and Wharton, "Systems Change."
- 36. Uren, "How to Take 'Systems Change' from Idea to Action."
- 37. Victor, Geels, and Sharpe, "Accelerating the Low Carbon Transition."
- 38. Victor, Geels, and Sharpe, "Accelerating the Low Carbon Transition."
- 39. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 40. Levin et al., "Overcoming the Tragedy of Super Wicked Problems."
- Attwood et al., "Playbook for Guiding Diners Toward Plant-Rich Dishes in Food Service"; AFI, "Inclusive Green Finance."

- 42. AFI, "Inclusive Green Finance."
- 43. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 44. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 45. Levin et al., "Overcoming the Tragedy of Super Wicked Problems."
- 46. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 47. Ding et al., "Climate Benefits, Tenure Costs."
- 48. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 49. WRI, UNDP, and World Bank, "World Resources 2008."
- 50. Toensmeier, *The Carbon Farming Solution: A Global Toolkit of Perennial Crops and Regenerative Agriculture Practices for Climate Change Mitigation and Food Security*
- Reij, Tappan, and Smale, "Agroenvironmental Transformation in the Sahel"; Haglund et al., "Dry Land Tree Management for Improved Household Livelihoods."
- 52. Reij, Tappan, and Smale, "Agroenvironmental Transformation in the Sahel"; Buckingham and Hanson, "The Restoration Diagnostic. Case Example."
- 53. WRI, UNDP, and World Bank, "World Resources 2008."
- 54. Buckingham and Hanson, "The Restoration Diagnostic. Case Example."
- 55. Buckingham and Hanson; Pye-Smith, "The Quiet Revolution."
- 56. Buckingham and Hanson, "The Restoration Diagnostic. Case Example."
- 57. WRI, UNDP, and World Bank, "World Resources 2008."
- 58. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 59. ICAT, "Transformational Change Methodology."
- 60. Lipinski et al., "Installment 2 of 'Creating a Sustainable Food Future'."
- 61. Hanson and Mitchell, "The Business Case for Reducing Food Loss and Waste."
- 62. Levin et al., "Overcoming the Tragedy of Super Wicked Problems."
- 63. Geels, "A Socio-Technical Analysis of Low-Carbon Transitions."
- 64. Neumann C.M., "Improving the U.S. EPA Toxic Release Inventory Database for Environmental Health Research."
- EPA, "2000 Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) Public Data Release Report"; de Marchi and Hamilton, "Assessing the Accuracy of Self-Reported Data."
- 66. Burrier, "Why Uruguay's Unprecedented Shift to Clean Energy Is a Model for the World."

- Watts, "Uruguay Makes Dramatic Shift to Nearly 95% Electricity from Clean Energy."
- 68. Reitz et al., "IJER Editorial."
- 69. Ge et al., "Tracking Progress of the 2020 Climate Turning Point."
- 70. Wappelhorst, "The End of the Road? An Overview of Combustion Engine Car Phase-out Announcements across Europe."
- 71. IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2020."
- Wu et al., "New Market. New Entrants. New Challenges. Battery Electric Vehicles."
- 73. McKerracher et al., "Electric Vehicle Outlook 2020."
- 74. Ge and Friedrich, "4 Charts Explain Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Countries and Sectors."
- 75. McKerracher et al., "Electric Vehicle Outlook 2020."
- Wu et al., "New Market. New Entrants. New Challenges. Battery Electric Vehicles."
- Cattaneo, "Plug-In Electric Vehicle Policy. Evaluating the Effectiveness of State Policies for Increasing Deployment."
- 78. Lu, "Comparing U.S. and Chinese Electric Vehicle Policies."
- 79. IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2020."
- 80. Ge et al., "Tracking Progress of the 2020 Climate Turning Point."
- Government of Norway, "Norway's Seventh National Communication Under the Framework Convention on Climate Change."
- 82. Wappelhorst, "The End of the Road? An Overview of Combustion Engine Car Phase-out Announcements across Europe."
- 83. Holtsmark and Skonhoft, "The Norwegian Support and Subsidy Policy of Electric Cars. Should It Be Adopted by Other Countries?"
- IEA, "Global Energy Demand Rose by 2.3% in 2018, Its Fastest Pace in the Last Decade"; IEA, "Share of Total Primary Energy Demand by Fuel, 2010-2019."
- 85. Ge and Friedrich, "4 Charts Explain Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Countries and Sectors."
- 86. IEA, "Energy and Air Pollution."
- 87. IEA, "Water-Energy Nexus."
- Mackres, "6 Lessons on Energy Decarbonization from Countries Leading the Way."
- 89. IEA, "Energy Efficiency 2018."
- 90. IEA, "Energy Efficiency 2019."

- 91. IEA, "Energy Consumption."
- 92. IEA, "Energy Efficiency 2019."
- 93. Layke, International Efforts to Increase Energy Efficiency and Opportunities to Advance Energy.
- This transition discusses electrification of industry in particular. Electrifying transport and buildings are discussed in transport and cities system respectively.
- 95. Cleary, "Electrification 1010."
- 96. Bühler et al., "The Potential of Heat Pumps in the Electrification of the Danish Industry."
- 97. Rissman et al. "Technologies and Policies to Decarbonize Global Industry."
- 98. Schüwer and Schneider, "Electrification of Industrial Process Heat."
- 99. Cleary, "Electrification 1010"; Rissman et al., "Technologies and Policies to Decarbonize Global Industry."
- Cleary, "Electrification 1010"; Rissman et al., "Technologies and Policies to Decarbonize Global Industry."
- Baylin-Stern, Hegelund, and Schröder, "Frontier Electric Technologies in Industry."
- Rissman et al., "Technologies and Policies to Decarbonize Global Industry"; Hess, "3—Solar Thermal Process Heat (SPH) Generation."
- Rissman et al., "Technologies and Policies to Decarbonize Global Industry."
- 104. Roelofsen et al., "How Electrification Can Help Industrial Companies Cut Costs."
- 105. Baylin-Stern, Hegelund, and Schröder, "Frontier Electric Technologies in Industry."
- 106. Deason et al., "Electrification of Buildings and Industry in the United States."
- 107. Roelofsen et al., "How Electrification Can Help Industrial Companies Cut Costs."
- 108. Jadun et al., "Electrification Futures Study"; ETC, "A New Electricity Era."
- 109. GSEP, "New Electricity Frontiers."
- 110. WEF, "The Future Of Nature And Business."
- 111. IEA, "World Gross Electricity Production, by Source, 2018."
- 112. Ge et al., "Tracking Progress of the 2020 Climate Turning Point."
- 113. IEA, "Average Annual Capacity Factors by Technology, 2018."

- 114. IRENA, "Electricity Storage and Renewables."
- 115. To maintain a reliable grid, electricity consumed must equal electricity demand at every point in time. In the absence of energy storage, the electricity system operator must increase consumption or decrease other types of electricity generation when wind blows or the sun shines. As wind and solar generation grow, these constraints become more and more difficult to meet, leading the system operator to discard any "excess" solar or wind generation, even when the cost of producing an additional unit of electricity from those sources is essentially zero. Electricity storage helps manage this balancing need and increases the efficient use of investments in solar and wind generation.
- Vazquez et al., "Energy Storage Systems for Transport and Grid Applications."
- 117. IRENA, "Electricity Storage and Renewables."
- 118. Cole and Frazier, "Cost Projections for Utility-Scale Battery Storage."
- 119. BNEF, "Global Storage Market to Double Six Times by 2030."
- Lebedeva et al., "Li-Ion Batteries for Mobility and Stationary Storage Applications."
- D'Aprile, Newman, and Pinner, "The New Economics of Energy Storage."
- 122. IEA, "Energy Storage."
- 123. IEA, "Energy Storage."
- 124. IRENA, "Electricity Storage and Renewables."
- 125. IRENA, "Electricity Storage and Renewables."
- 126. Lebedeva et al., "Li-Ion Batteries for Mobility and Stationary Storage Applications."
- Figgener et al., "The Development of Stationary Battery Storage Systems in Germany—A Market Review."
- World Bank, "New International Partnership Established to Increase the Use of Energy Storage in Developing Countries"; ICESI, "International Coalition for Energy Storage and Innovation (ICESI)"; IESA, "Overview."
- This transition discusses hard-to-abate industrial sectors in particular. Heavy transport is discussed later (see Transport).
- 130. ETC, "Mission Possible."
- ETC, "Electricity, Hydrogen & Hydrogen-based Fuels in a Zero-Carbon Economy."
- 132. ETC. "Electricity, Hydrogen & Hydrogen-based Fuels in a Zero-Carbon Economy."

- 133. Åhman, "Unlocking the 'Hard to Abate' Sectors."
- 134. IRENA, "Electrification with Renewables."
- 135. Carbon Pulse, "EU Aims to 'Green' Hard-to-Abate Sectors with Hydrogen and Energy System Roadmaps"; Hall, "New EU Clean Hydrogen Alliance to Build 6 GW of Electrolyzer Capacity by 2024."
- 136. ECHA, "European Clean Hydrogen Alliance."
- 137. IPCC, Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty.
- 138. UNEP, "The Emissions Gap Report 2017."
- 139. Griscom et al., "Natural Climate Solutions."
- 140. UNEP, "The Emissions Gap Report 2017."
- 141. Mulligan et al., "Carbonshot."
- 142. UNEP, "The Emissions Gap Report 2017."
- 143. Searchinger, "Global Consequences of the Bioenergy Greenhouse Gas Accounting Error."
- 144. Mulligan, Ellison, and Levin, "Foundational Questions on Carbon Removal in the United States."
- 145. Mulligan et al., "Carbonshot."
- 146. Leung, Caramanna, and Maroto-Valer, "An Overview of Current Status of Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage Technologies."
- 147. IEA, "CCUS in Power"; IEA, "CCUS in Industry and Transformation."
- 148. Supekar and Skerlos, "Reassessing the Efficiency Penalty from Carbon Capture in Coal-Fired Power Plants."
- 149. Mulligan et al., "Technological Carbon Removal in the United States."
- 150. IEA, "Tracking Transport 2020."
- 151. SuM4All, "Global Mobility Report 2017."
- 152. Fransen et al., "Enhancing NDCs."
- 153. Reitz et al., "IJER Editorial."
- 154. IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2020."
- 155. Ge et al., "Tracking Progress of the 2020 Climate Turning Point."
- 156. Cosgrove, "Corporate Electric Vehicle Alliance Aims To Accelerate EV Adoption."
- 157. Ge et al., "Tracking Progress of the 2020 Climate Turning Point."

- 158. IEA, "Global EV Outlook 2020."
- 159. Fransen et al., "Enhancing NDCs."
- 160. IMO, "Third IMO GHG Study 2014 Executive Summary and Final Report."
- 161. McKinsey & Company, "How Airlines Can Chart a Path to Zero-Carbon Flying"; Deloitte China, "Fueling the Future of Mobility Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Solutions for Transportation"; Isenstadt and Lutsey, "Developing Hydrogen Fueling Infrastructure for Fuel Cell Vehicles."
- 162. Cano et al., "Batteries and Fuel Cells for Emerging Electric Vehicle Markets."
- 163. WEF, "New Coalition Aims to Make Zero-Emissions Shipping Plain Sailing."
- 164. IMO, "UN Body Adopts Climate Change Strategy for Shipping."
- 165. ICAO, "Continued Progress toward Implementation of ICAO's Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA)."
- 166. Global Green Freight, "About Global Green Freight."
- 167. ETC, "Mission Possible."
- 168. Association of American Railroads, "Railroad 101."
- 169. NAS, NAE, and NRC, *Real Prospects for Energy Efficiency in the United States*.
- 170. Januszko, "Is Shipping Freight by Rail and Water Better for the Environment?"
- 171. Brogan et al., "Transportation Energy Futures Series."
- Holguín-Veras et al., "Direct Impacts of Off-Hour Deliveries on Urban Freight Emissions."
- 173. ITF, "About ITF."
- 174. Smart Freight Centre, "GLEC Training 2020."
- 175. Mendoza, "What Are Shipping Alliances and What Are Their Importance?"
- 176. Bennett, "The Arctic Shipping Route No One's Talking About."
- 177. Fransen et al., "Enhancing NDCs."
- C40 Cities, "How to Drive a Modal Shift from Private Vehicle Use to Public Transport, Walking and Cycling."
- 179. C40 Cities, "How to Achieve a Walking and Cycling Transformation in Your City."
- 180. Salat and Ollivier, "Transforming the Urban Space through Transit-Oriented Development."

- ITF, "Transport Demand Set to Triple, but Sector Faces Potential Disruptions."
- 182. Hillyer, "World Economic Forum Launches Global New Mobility Coalition to Cut Transport Emissions by 95% and Reduce Commute Costs by 40%."
- 183. IPCC, "Summary for Policymakers," Global Warming of 1.5°C.; Seto et al., "Human Settlements, Infrastructure, and Spatial Planning."
- 184. UNDESA, "World Urbanization Prospects."
- 185. IRP and UNEP, "The Weight of Cities."
- 186. IRP and UNEP, "The Weight of Cities."
- 187. Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City."
- 188. King et al., "Confronting the Urban Housing Crisis in the Global South"; Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City."
- 189. Mahendra and Seto, "Upward and Outward Growth."; Chen et al., "Mapping Global Urban Areas From 2000 to 2012 Using Time-Series Nighttime Light Data and MODIS Products."
- 190. Seto, Güneralp, and Hutyra, "Global Forecasts of Urban Expansion to 2030 and Direct Impacts on Biodiversity and Carbon Pools."
- 191. Barrington-Leigh and Millard-Ball, "A Century of Sprawl in the United States."
- 192. Seto et al., "Human Settlements, Infrastructure and Spatial Planning."
- 193. Kennedy et al., "Energy and Material Flows of Megacities."
- 194. IRP and UNEP, "Ambient Air Pollution."
- 195. IRP and UNEP, "The Weight of Cities."
- 196. IRP and UNEP; "The Weight of Cities"; Salat and Ollivier, "Transforming the Urban Space through Transit-Oriented Development."
- 197. Suzuki et al., "Financing Transit-Oriented Development with Land Values."
- 198. Xue and Fang, "Rail Plus Property Development in China"; Pieterse and Owens, "Johannesburg"; Mehta, Mungekar, and Mathew, "Transit Oriented Development Manual."
- 199. O'Sullivan, "Paris Mayor Pledges a Greener '15-Minute City'.
- 200. Victoria State Government, "Plan Melbourne 2017-2050."
- 201. ITDP, "TOD Standard."

- 202. IEA, "Energy Technology Perspectives 2016"; CUT, "Climate Emergency, Urban Opportunity"; IRP and UNEP, "The Weight of Cities."
- 203. Becqué et al., "Accelerating Building Decarbonization."
- 204. CUT, "Climate Emergency, Urban Opportunity"; Seto et al., "Human Settlements, Infrastructure and Spatial Planning."
- 205. Becqué et al., "Accelerating Building Decarbonization."
- 206. Becqué et al., "Accelerating Building Decarbonization."
- 207. IEA, "The Critical Role of Buildings."
- 208. Becqué et al., "Accelerating Building Decarbonization."
- 209. WEF, "The Future of Nature and Business"; McKinsey & Company, "Resource Revolution."
- UNEP and IEA, "Towards a Zero-Emission, Efficient, and Resilient Buildings and Construction Sector. Global Status Report 2017."
- 211. WorldGBC's Net Zero Carbon Building Commitment surpasses 80 signatories.
- 212. C40 Cities, "19 Global Cities Commit to Make New Buildings 'Net-Zero Carbon' by 2030."
- 213. WRI, "Zero Carbon Buildings for All."
- 214. WBCSD, "EEB Amplify 2017-2020."
- 215. IEA, "Global Alliance for Building and Construction—Promoting Energy Efficiency."
- 216. Venter, Mahendra, and Hidalgo, "From Mobility to Access for All."
- Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City"; WHO, "Ambient Air Pollution"; WHO, "Ambient (Outdoor) Air Quality and Health."
- 218. IEA, "Energy Technology Perspectives 2016"; CUT, "Climate Emergency, Urban Opportunity"; IRP and UNEP, "The Weight of Cities."
- 219. UNCSD, "Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport in Emerging and Developing Economies"; Fransen et al., "Enhancing NDCs."
- 220. Venter, Mahendra, and Hidalgo, "From Mobility to Access for All"; AfDB, "Joint Statement by the Multilateral Development Banks on Sustainable Transport and Climate Change"; UN-Habitat, "Planning and Design for Sustainable Urban Mobility."
- 221. Welle et al., "Cities Safer by Design"; FIA Foundation and Amend, "Step Change."
- 222. SuM4All, "Global Mobility Report 2017."
- 223. Welle et al., "Cities Safer by Design"; Welle et al., "Sustainable and Safe"; Li et al., "How to Enable Electric Bus Adoption in Cities Worldwide."

- 224. Venter, Mahendra, and Hidalgo, "From Mobility to Access for All"; Welle et al., "Sustainable and Safe."
- 225. Venter, Mahendra, and Hidalgo, "From Mobility to Access for All."
- 226. Lajunen and Lipman, "Lifecycle Cost Assessment and Carbon Dioxide Emissions of Diesel, Natural Gas, Hybrid Electric, Fuel Cell Hybrid and Electric Transit Buses."
- 227. Basner et al., "Auditory and Non-Auditory Effects of Noise on Health"; Moon et al., "Financing Electric and Hybrid-Electric Buses."
- 228. Venter, Mahendra, and Hidalgo, "From Mobility to Access for All"; Welle et al., "Sustainable and Safe."
- 229. SuM4All, "Global Mobility Report 2017."
- 230. SuM4All, "Global Mobility Report 2017"; Mason, Turner, and Steriu, "Universal Access in Urban Areas."
- Chen et al., "The World's Growing Municipal Solid Waste"; Wilson and Velis, "Waste Management—Still a Global Challenge in the 21st Century."
- 232. Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0"; Chen et al., "The World's Growing Municipal Solid Waste."
- 233. Samson, "Forging a New Conceptualization of 'The Public' in Waste Management"; Kamath et al., "Pune"; Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0."
- 234. Wilson and Velis, "Waste Management—Still a Global Challenge in the 21st Century"; Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0."
- 235. Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0."
- 236. Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0."
- 237. UNEP, "Global Waste Management Outlook"; Wiedinmyer, Yokelson, and Gullett, "Global Emissions of Trace Gases, Particulate Matter, and Hazardous Air Pollutants from Open Burning of Domestic Waste."
- 238. Samson, "Forging a New Conceptualization of 'The Public' in Waste Management"; Kamath et al., "Pune"; Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0."
- 239. Kaza et al., "What a Waste 2.0"; UNEP, "Global Waste Management Outlook"; Wilson and Velis, "Waste Management—Still a Global Challenge in the 21st Century"; Zero Waste International Alliance, "Zero Waste Business Principles."
- 240. Kamath et al., "Pune"; Anderson, "Can Cities Ever Reach Absolute Zero (Waste)?"
- 241. EPA, "National Overview."
- 242. Anderson, "Can Cities Ever Reach Absolute Zero (Waste)?"
- 243. UNEP, "Global Waste Management Outlook."

- 244. C40 Cities, "Zero Waste Declaration."
- 245. UN-Habitat, "Tracking Progress Towards Inclusive, Safe, Resilient and Sustainable Cities and Human Settlements."
- 246. Zero waste is defined as "[t]he conservation of all resources by means of responsible production, consumption, reuse, and recovery of products, packaging, and materials without burning and with no discharges to land, water, or air that threaten the environment or human health." Zero Waste International Alliance, "Zero Waste Definition."
- 247. GCA, "Adapt Now."
- 248. McDonald et al., "Urban Growth, Climate Change, and Freshwater Availability."
- 249. UNESCO, "World Water Development Report 2009."
- 250. British Geological Survey and WaterAID, "Groundwater Information Sheet."
- 251. Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City."
- 252. GCA, "Adapt Now"; Chu et al., "Unlocking the Potential for Transformative Climate Adaptation in Cities"; Meerow, Newell, and Stults, "Defining Urban Resilience."
- 253. Martin-Moreau and Menascé, "Urban Resilience."
- 254. 100RC and NYU, "100RC Handbook"; Sanchez, van der Heijden, and Osmond, "The City Politics of an Urban Age."
- 255. GCA, "Adapt Now"; WEF, "The Future of Nature and Business."
- 256. AFI, "Inclusive Green Finance."
- 257. SDG Tracker, "SDG Tracker. Sustainable Development Goal 11 Make Cities Inclusive, Safe, Resilient and Sustainable."
- 258. GCA, "Adapt Now."
- 259. GIB, "SuRe[®]—The Standard for Sustainable and Resilient Infrastructure."
- 260. Oberle et al., "Global Resources Outlook 2019"; EMF, "Completing The Picture."
- 261. WEF, "The Future of Nature and Business."
- 262. de Wit, Hoogzaad, and von Daniels, "The Circularity Gap Report 2020."
- 263. Oberle et al., "Global Resources Outlook 2019."
- 264. de Wit, Hoogzaad, and von Daniels, "The Circularity Gap Report 2020"; Oberle et al., "Global Resources Outlook 2019."
- 265. EMF, "Towards the Circular Economy."
- 266. de Wit, Hoogzaad, and von Daniels, "The Circularity Gap Report 2020."

- 267. UNEP, "Single-Use Plastics."
- 268. EMF, "Towards the Circular Economy."
- 269. EMF, "Towards the Circular Economy."
- 270. WBCSD, "Policy Enablers to Accelerate the Circular Economy"; WBCSD, "Circular Policy Action Brief."
- 271. ILO, "Greening with Jobs"; Zink and Geyer, "Circular Economy Rebound."
- 272. EMF, "Towards the Circular Economy."
- 273. UNEP, "The Global Chemicals Outlook II—From Legacies to Innovative Solutions."
- 274. Geueke, Groh, and Muncke, "Food Packaging in the Circular Economy."
- 275. EEA, "Circular by Design."
- 276. EEA, "Circular by Design"; EMF, "Towards the Circular Economy."
- 277. UNEP, "The Global Chemicals Outlook II—From Legacies to Innovative Solutions."
- 278. Accenture, "Circular Advantage."
- 279. OECD, "Business Models for the Circular Economy."
- 280. de Wit, Hoogzaad, and von Daniels, "The Circularity Gap Report 2020."
- 281. OECD, "Business Models for the Circular Economy"; PwC, "The Sharing Economy."
- 282. BSR, "An Inclusive Sharing Economy."
- 283. PwC, "The Sharing Economy."
- 284. Rinne, "What Exactly Is the Sharing Economy?"
- 285. OECD, "Business Models for the Circular Economy."
- 286. Bengtsson et al., "Transforming Systems of Consumption and Production for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals."
- 287. Oberle et al., "Global Resources Outlook 2019."
- 288. Motesharrei et al., "Modeling Sustainability."
- 289. Wiedmann et al., "Scientists' Warning on Affluence."
- 290. Oberle et al., "Global Resources Outlook 2019."
- 291. Jason Hickel, "The Great Challenge of the 21st Century Is Learning to Consume Less. This Is How We Can Do It."
- 292. Hoekstra and Wiedmann, "Humanity's Unsustainable Environmental Footprint."

- 293. Wiedmann et al., "Scientists' Warning on Affluence."
- 294. Bengtsson et al., "Transforming Systems of Consumption and Production for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals."
- 295. Wiedmann et al., "Scientists' Warning on Affluence."
- 296. Fullerton, "Regenerative Capitalism."
- 297. OECD, "OECD Glossary of Statistical Terms—Financial System Definition."
- 298. UNEP, "The Financial System We Need."
- 299. UNEP, "The Financial System We Need."
- 300. UNEP, "Making Waves."
- 301. TCFD, "TCFD."
- 302. NGFS, "A Call for Action, Climate Change as a Source of Financial Risk—Climate Action in Financial Institutions"; TCFD, "2019 Status Report."
- 303. GCA, "Adapt Now"; UNEP, "Driving Finance Today for the Climate Resilient Society of Tomorrow."
- 304. NGFS, "A Call for Action, Climate Change as a Source of Financial Risk—Climate Action in Financial Institutions."
- 305. IMF, "Global Financial Stability Report, April 2020 Markets in the Time of COVID-19."
- 306. Falconer and Stadelman, "What Is Climate Finance? Definitions to Improve Tracking and Scale up Climate Finance."
- 307. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, "Report of the Conference of the Parties on its fifteenth session, held in Copenhagen from 7 to 19 December 2009. Addendum. Part Two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its fifteenth session."
- 308. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, "Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-first session, held in Paris from 30 November to 13 December 2015. Addendum. Part Two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-first session."
- 309. Amerasinghe et al., "Future of the Funds."
- 310. Amerasinghe et al., "Future of the Funds."
- 311. CPI, "Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019."
- 312. CPI, "Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019."
- UNEP, "Making Waves"; CPI, "Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019"; GCA, "Adapt Now."
- 314. UNFCCC, "Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows"; CPI, "Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019."
- 315. Soanes et al., "Delivering Real Change Getting International Climate Finance to the Local Level."

- 316. World Bank Group, "Finance Ministers Join Forces to Raise Climate Ambition. April 13, 2019."
- 317. NCE, "Better Growth, Better Climate."
- 318. NCE, "The Sustainable Infrastructure Imperative."
- 319. Amerasinghe et al., "Future of the Funds."
- 320. NCE, "The Sustainable Infrastructure Imperative."
- 321. CPI, "Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019."
- 322. NCE, "The Sustainable Infrastructure Imperative."
- 323. Wiener, "Sustainable Infrastructure as an Asset Class"; GIB, "SuRe®— The Standard for Sustainable and Resilient Infrastructure."
- 324. AFI, "Inclusive Green Finance."
- 325. Demirgüç-Kunt et al., "The Global Findex Database 2017."
- 326. AFI, "Inclusive Green Finance."
- 327. Demirgüç-Kunt et al., "The Global Findex Database 2017."
- 328. Trucost, "Natural Capital at Risk."
- 329. Whitley and van der Burg, "Fossil Fuel Subsidy Reform."
- 330. World Bank Group, "State and Trends of Carbon Pricing 2019."
- 331. NCE, "The Sustainable Infrastructure Imperative."
- 332. Kaufman, Obeiter, and Krause, "Putting a Price on Carbon."
- 333. Whitley, S., and L. van der Burg, "Fossil Fuel Subsidy Reform."
- 334. Coady et al., "Global Fossil Fuel Subsidies Remain Large."
- 335. IEA, "Energy Access Projections to 2030."
- 336. World Bank Group, "State and Trends of Carbon Pricing 2019."
- 337. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 338. Willett et al., "Food in the Anthropocene."
- 339. Springmann et al., "Options for Keeping the Food System within Environmental Limits."
- 340. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 341. NYDF Assessment Partners, "Protecting and Restoring Forests"; Busch and Engelmann, "Cost-Effectiveness of Reducing Emissions from Tropical Deforestation, 2016–2050."

- 342. "Krutu of Paramaribo Joint Declaration on HFLD Climate Finance Mobilization"; Dezécache, Salles, and Hérault, "Questioning Emissions-Based Approaches for the Definition of REDD+ Deforestation Baselines in High Forest Cover/Low Deforestation Countries."
- 343. "Krutu of Paramaribo Joint Declaration on HFLD Climate Finance Mobilization"; Wolosin, Breitfeller, and Schaap, "The Geography of REDD+ Finance Deforestation, Emissions, and the Targeting of Forest Conservation Finance."
- 344. "Krutu of Paramaribo Joint Declaration on HFLD Climate Finance Mobilization."
- 345. NCE, "Unlocking the Inclusive Growth Story of the 21st Century."
- 346. Ding et al., "Roots of Prosperity."
- 347. NYDF Assessment Partners, "Protecting and Restoring Forests."
- 348. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.; Dudley and Alexander, "Global Land Outlook."
- 349. This paper uses the IPCC's definition of land degradation as "a negative trend in land condition, caused by direct or indirect human-induced processes including anthropogenic climate change, expressed as long-term reduction or loss of at least one of the following: biological productivity, ecological integrity, or value to humans." This definition includes forest degradation.
- 350. Dudley and Alexander, "Global Land Outlook."
- 351. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 352. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 353. UNEP, "The Global Chemicals Outlook II—From Legacies to Innovative Solutions"; Dudley and Alexander, "Global Land Outlook."
- 354. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 355. Dudley and Alexander, "Global Land Outlook."
- 356. Barbier and Hochard, "Land Degradation and Poverty."
- 357. WOCAT, "Sustainable Land Management."

- 358. FAO, "Sustainable Land Management."
- 359. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 360. Toensmeier, *The Carbon Farming Solution: A Global Toolkit of Perennial Crops and Regenerative Agriculture Practices for Climate Change Mitigation and Food Security..*
- 361. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 362. IPCC; Dudley and Alexander, "Global Land Outlook"; Sanz et al., "Sustainable Land Management Contribution to Successful Land-Based Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation. A Report of the Science-Policy Interface."
- 363. Gonzalez-Roglich et al., "Synergizing Global Tools to Monitor Progress towards Land Degradation Neutrality"; IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 364. Newell and Taylor, "Contested Landscapes"; Schmitt, "The Debate Over 'Climate-Smart' Agriculture."
- 365. IPCC, Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems.
- 366. Searchinger et al., "World Resources Report."
- 367. Ranganathan et al., "How to Sustainably Feed 10 Billion People by 2050, in 21 Charts"; Willett et al., "Food in the Anthropocene."
- 368. WEF, "The Future Of Nature And Business."
- 369. FAO, "12.3.1 Global Food Losses."
- 370. Flanagan, Lipinski, and Goodwin, "SDG Target 12.3 on Food Loss and Waste."
- 371. van Geffen, van Herpen, and van Trijp, "Household Food Waste-How to Avoid It?"
- 372. Reynolds et al., "Review."
- 373. Searchinger et al.; Springmann et al., "Options for Keeping the Food System within Environmental Limits"; Pharo et al., "Growing Better."
- 374. Searchinger et al., "World Resources Report."
- 375. Godfray et al., "Meat Consumption, Health, and the Environment."

- 376. Springmann et al., "Options for Keeping the Food System within Environmental Limits."
- 377. Bianchi et al., "Restructuring Physical Micro-Environments to Reduce the Demand for Meat"; Godfray et al., "Meat Consumption, Health, and the Environment"; Searchinger et al., "World Resources Report."
- 378. Attwood et al., "Playbook for Guiding Diners Toward Plant-Rich Dishes in Food Service"; Bianchi et al., "Restructuring Physical Micro-Environments to Reduce the Demand for Meat"; Searchinger et al., "World Resources Report"; Willett et al., "Food in the Anthropocene."
- 379. Godfray et al., "Meat Consumption, Health, and the Environment"; Pharo et al., "Growing Better"; Hyland et al., "The Role of Meat in Strategies to Achieve a Sustainable Diet Lower in Greenhouse Gas Emissions."
- 380. FAO, "The State of the World's Forests 2020."
- 381. Hosonuma et al., "An Assessment of Deforestation and Forest Degradation Drivers in Developing Countries"; Henders, Persson, and Kastner, "Trading Forests."
- 382. NYDF Assessment Partners, "Protecting and Restoring Forests."
- 383. Taylor and Streck, "Ending Tropical Deforestation."
- 384. NYDF Assessment Partners, "Protecting and Restoring Forests"; Donofrio, Rothrock, and Leonard, "Zooming In."
- 385. Taylor and Streck, "Ending Tropical Deforestation."
- 386. NYDF Assessment Partners, "Protecting and Restoring Forests."
- 387. Taylor and Streck, "Ending Tropical Deforestation"; NYDF Assessment Partners, "Protecting and Restoring Forests."
- 388. Taylor and Streck, "Ending Tropical Deforestation."
- 389. WEF, "The Global Risks Report 2020."
- 390. WWF, "Living Planet Report 2018"; Di Minin et al., "Identifying Global Centers of Unsustainable Commercial Harvesting of Species."
- 391. WWF, "Living Planet Report 2018."
- 392. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 393. CBD and UNEP, *Global Biodiversity Outlook 4: A Mid-Term* Assessment of Progress towards the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020.
- 394. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.

- 395. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services; Mace, Masundire, and Baillie, "Chapter 4."
- 396. CBD and UNEP, *Global Biodiversity Outlook 4: A Mid-Term* Assessment of Progress towards the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020.
- 397. Wada et al., "Modeling Global Water Use for the 21st Century"; Wada et al., "Human Water Consumption Intensifies Hydrological Drought Worldwide."
- 398. Burek et al., "Water Futures and Solution."
- 399. Hoekstra and Mekonnen, "The Water Footprint of Humanity."
- 400. UNICEF and WHO, "Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 2000-2017."
- 401. Cisneros et al., "Freshwater Resources"; Anisfeld, Water Resources.
- 402. Mekonnen and Hoekstra, "Four Billion People Facing Severe Water Scarcity"; Burek et al., "Water Futures and Solution."
- 403. Boretti and Rosa, "Reassessing the Projections of the World Water Development Report."
- 404. Anisfeld, Water Resources.
- 405. Costanza, Mitsch, and Day, "A New Vision for New Orleans and the Mississippi Delta"; Zhuang, "Eco-Environmental Impact of Inter-Basin Water Transfer Projects."
- 406. Anisfeld, Water Resources.
- 407. UNEP, "Progress on Integrated Water Resources Management. Global Baseline for SDG 6 Indicator 6.5.1: Degree of IWRM Implementation."; Grigg, "Integrated Water Resources Management"; Biswas, "Integrated Water Resources Management."
- 408. McDonnell, "Challenges for Integrated Water Resources Management."
- 409. RockstrLL, "Challenges for Integrated Water Resources Management."ater instead of "manageme
- 410. Albert et al., "Scientists' Warning to Humanity on the Freshwater Biodiversity Crisis."
- 411. Grill et al., "Mapping the World's Free-Flowing Rivers."
- 412. Albert et al., "Scientists' Warning to Humanity on the Freshwater Biodiversity Crisis."
- Boretti and Rosa, "Reassessing the Projections of the World Water Development Report."
- 414. Platt, "Urban Watershed Management."

- 415. Albert et al., "Scientists' Warning to Humanity on the Freshwater Biodiversity Crisis"; CBD and UNEP, *Global Biodiversity Outlook 5.*
- 416. WEF, "Nature Risk Rising"; IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 417. Mota et al., "Ecology and Conservation of Freshwater Fish."
- 418. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 419. Mace, Masundire, and Baillie, "Chapter 4."
- 420. Duarte, "Global Change and the Future Ocean."
- 421. Waldron et al., "Protecting 30% of the Planet for Nature."
- 422. O'Leary et al., "Effective Coverage Targets for Ocean Protection."
- 423. O'Leary et al., "Effective Coverage Targets for Ocean Protection."
- 424. Roberts et al., "30x30."
- 425. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 426. IPBES, "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services"; Dinerstein et al., "A Global Deal For Nature."
- 427. Costello et al., "The Future of Food from the Sea."
- 428. WEF, "The Future Of Nature And Business."
- 429. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services; Duarte et al., "Rebuilding Marine Life."
- 430. CBD and UNEP, Global Biodiversity Outlook 4: A Mid-Term Assessment of Progress towards the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020.
- Costello et al., "The Future of Food from the Sea"; Dinerstein et al., "A Global Deal For Nature."
- 432. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 433. Costello et al., "The Future of Food from the Sea."
- 434. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 435. Dinerstein et al., "A Global Deal For Nature."

- 436. IPBES, Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 437. WEF, "The Global Risks Report 2020."
- 438. NOAA, "Invasive and Exotic Marine Species."
- 439. CBD and UNEP, Global Biodiversity Outlook 4: A Mid-Term Assessment of Progress towards the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020.
- 440. IMO, "Ballast Water Management"; Nunes and Markandya, "Economic Value of Damage Caused by Marine Bio-Invasions."
- 441. CBD and UNEP,Global Biodiversity Outlook 4: A Mid-Term Assessment of Progress towards the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020.
- 442. CBD and UNEP, "Sustaining Life on Earth."
- 443. Hoegh-Guldberg, "Reviving The Ocean Economy."
- 444. WEF, "The Global Risks Report 2020."
- 445. Giakoumi et al., "Management Priorities for Marine Invasive Species."
- 446. WEF, "Harnessing the Fourth Industrial Revolution for the Earth."
- 447. Ndung'u and Signé, "The Fourth Industrial Revolution and Digitization Will Transform Africa into a Global Powerhouse."
- 448. UNCTAD, "Technology and Innovation Report 2018."
- 449. WEF, "Harnessing the Fourth Industrial Revolution for the Earth."
- 450. Lee, Resnick, and Barton, "Algorithmic Bias Detection and Mitigation."
- 451. WEF, "Harnessing the Fourth Industrial Revolution for the Earth."
- 452. UNCTAD, "Technology and Innovation Report 2018."
- 453. Ndung'u and Signé, "The Fourth Industrial Revolution and Digitization Will Transform Africa into a Global Powerhouse"; UNCTAD, "Technology and Innovation Report 2018."
- 454. Speth, "The Joyful Economy."
- 455. NEF, "National Accounts of Well-Being."
- 456. Diener and Ryan, "National Accounts of Well-Being for Public Policy."
- 457. NRDC, "Definitions of Equity, Inclusion, Equality and Related Terms."
- 458. World Bank, "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2020"; United Nations, "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020."

- 459. Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City"; UNICEF and WHO, "Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene 2000–2017"; IEA et al. "Tracking SDG 7."
- 460. Gwilliam, "Cities on the Move."
- 461. Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City."
- 462. King et al., "Confronting the Urban Housing Crisis in the Global South."
- 463. Satterthwaite et al., "Untreated and Unsafe."
- 464. Chen and Beard, "Including the Excluded."
- 465. King et al., "Confronting the Urban Housing Crisis in the Global South"; Mitlin et al., "Unaffordable and Undrinkable"; Satterthwaite et al., "Untreated and Unsafe"; Westphal et al., "Powering Cities in the Global South"; Chen and Beard, "Including the Excluded"; Venter, Mahendra, and Hidalgo, "From Mobility to Access for All."
- 466. OECD, "Strategies to Improve Rural Service Delivery."
- 467. Odarno et al., "Strategies for Expanding Universal Access to Electricity Services for Development."
- 468. Tilley et al., "Compendium of Sanitation Systems and Technologies."
- 469. Pharo et al., "Growing Better."
- 470. Beard, Mahendra, and Westphal, "Towards a More Equal City."
- 471. Speth, "The Joyful Economy."
- 472. Doumbia, "The Role of Good Governance in Fostering Pro-Poor and Inclusive Growth"; World Bank, "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2020."
- Rocha Menocal, Power, and Kaye, "Promoting Inclusive Governance More Effectively."
- 474. Speth, "The Joyful Economy."
- 475. Biermann et al., "Transforming Governance and Institutions for Global Sustainability."
- 476. Antonich et al., "The State of Global Environmental Governance 2019."
- 477. Antonich et al.; Woods et al., "Transforming Global Governance for the 21st Century."
- 478. Woods et al., "Transforming Global Governance for the 21st Century."
- 479. Bruce-Lockhart and Chainey, "Normal Wasn't Working'—John Kerry, Phillip Atiba Goff and Others on the New Social Contract Post-COVID."
- 480. WEF, "The Great Reset."
- 481. Nakicenovic et al., "Global Commons in the Anthropocene."

REFERENCES

100RC (100 Resilient Cities) and NYU (New York University). "100RC Handbook: Planning for Resilient Urban Growth. Tools for Proactively Managing Rapid Urban Growth." New York: 100 Resilient Cities and New York University, 2018. https://www.100resilientcities.org/wp-content/ uploads/2018/09/NYU-Urban-Growth-Handbook_FINAL.pdf.

Abercrombie, Rob, Ellen Harries, and Rachel Wharton. "Systems Change: A Guide to What It Is and How to Do It." London: New Philanthropy Capital, 2015. https://www.thinknpc.org/resource-hub/systemschange-a-guide-to-what-it-is-and-how-to-do-it/.

Accenture. "Circular Advantage: Innovative Business Models and Technologies to Create Value in a World without Limits to Growth." Dublin: Accenture, 2014. https://www.accenture.com/ t20150523T053139_w__/us-en/_acnmedia/Accenture/Conversion-Assets/DotCom/Documents/Global/PDF/Strategy_6/Accenture-Circular-Advantage-Innovative-Business-Models-Technologies-Value-Growth.pdf.

AfDB (African Development Bank). "Joint Statement by the Multilateral Development Banks on Sustainable Transport and Climate Change." Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire: African Development Bank, 2015. https://www. afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Generic-Documents/ MDB_Joint_Statement_on_Sustainable_Transport_and_Climate_ Change_for_the_UNFCC_COP21.pdf.

AFI (Alliance for Financial Inclusion). "Inclusive Green Finance: A Survey of the Policy Landscape." Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: Alliance for Financial Inclusion, 2019. https://www.afi-global.org/sites/default/files/publica-tions/2019-06/AFI_IGF_report_AW_digital_1.pdf.

Albert, James S., Georgia Destone, Scott M. Duke-Sylvester, Anne E. Maturin, Thierry Bergdorf, Roberto E. Reis, Kirk O. Winemiller, and William J. Ripple. "Scientists' Warning to Humanity on the Freshwater Biodiversity Crisis." *Ambio*, (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01318-8.

Alvaredo, Facundo, Lucas Chancel, Thomas Piketty, Emmanuel Saez, and Gabriel Zucman. "World Inequality Report 2018." Paris: World Inequality Lab, 2017. https://wir2018.wid.world/files/download/wir2018full-report-english.pdf.

Amerasinghe, Niranjali Manel, Joe Thwaites, Gaia Larsen, and Athena Ballesteros. "Future of the Funds: Exploring the Architecture of Multilateral Climate Finance," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2017. https://www.wri.org/publication/future-of-the-funds.

Anderson, James. "Can Cities Ever Reach Absolute Zero (Waste)?" Next City (blog), April 15, 2019. https://nextcity.org/features/view/can-cities-ever-reach-absolute-zero-waste.

Anisfeld, Shimon C. *Water Resources*. Foundations of Contemporary Environmental Studies Series. Washington, DC: Island Press, 2010.

Antonich, Beate, Jennifer Bansard, Rishikesh Ram Bhandary, Pamela Chasek, Natalie Jones, Faye Leone, Stefan Jungcurt, Delia Paul, Asterios Tsioumani, and Elsa Tsioumani. "The State of Global Environmental Governance 2019." Winnipeg, Canada: International Institute for Sustainable Development, 2020. https://www.iisd.org/sites/default/files/publications/environmental-governance-2019.pdf. Association of American Railroads. "Railroad 101." Accessed August 1, 2020. https://www.aar.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/AAR-Rail-road-101-Freight-Railroads-Fact-Sheet.pdf.

Attwood, Sophie, Paula Voorheis, Cecelia Mercer, Karen Davies, and Daniel Vennard. "Playbook for Guiding Diners Toward Plant-Rich Dishes in Food Service." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2020. https://www.wri.org/publication/playbook-guiding-diners-towardplant-rich-dishes-food-service.

Barbier, Edward B., and Jacob P. Hochard. "Land Degradation and Poverty." *Nature Sustainability* 1, no. 11 (2018): 623–31. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41893-018-0155-4.

Barrington-Leigh, Christopher, and Adam Millard-Ball. "A Century of Sprawl in the United States." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112, no. 27 (2015): 8244–49. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1504033112.

Basner, Mathias, Wolfgang Babisch, Adrian Davis, Mark Brink, Charlotte Clark, Sabine Janssen, and Stephen Stansfeld. "Auditory and Non-Auditory Effects of Noise on Health." *The Lancet* 383, no. 9925 (2014): 1325–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61613-X.

Baylin-Stern, Adam, Asbjørn Hegelund, and Andreas Schröder. "Frontier Electric Technologies in Industry." International Energy Agency (blog), May 29, 2019. https://www.iea.org/commentaries/frontier-electric-technologies-in-industry.

Beard, Victoria A., Anjali Mahendra, and Michael I. Westphal. "Towards a More Equal City: Framing the Challenges and Opportunities." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2016. https://www.wri.org/ wri-citiesforall/publication/towards-more-equal-city-framing-challenges-and-opportunities.

Becqué, Renilde, Debbie Weyl, Emma Stewart, Eric Mackres, Luting Jin, and Xufei Shen. "Accelerating Building Decarbonization: Eight Attainable Policy Pathways to Net Zero Carbon Buildings For All," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www.wri.org/publication/ accelerating-building-decarbonization.

Bengtsson, Magnus, Eva Alfredsson, Maurie Cohen, Sylvia Lorek, and Patrick Schroeder. "Transforming Systems of Consumption and Production for Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals: Moving beyond Efficiency." *Sustainability Science* 13, no. 6 (2018): 1533–47. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11625-018-0582-1.

Bennett, Mia. "The Arctic Shipping Route No One's Talking About." *The Maritime Executive*. August 5, 2019. https://www.maritime-executive. com/editorials/the-arctic-shipping-route-no-one-s-talking-about.

Bianchi, Filippo, Emma Garnett, Claudia Dorsel, Paul Aveyard, and Susan A. Jebb. "Restructuring Physical Micro-Environments to Reduce the Demand for Meat: A Systematic Review and Qualitative Comparative Analysis." *The Lancet Planetary Health* 2, no. 9 (2018): 384–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(18)30188-8.

Biermann, Frank, Kenneth Abbott, Steinar Andresen, Karin Bäckstrand, Steven Bernstein, Michele M Betsill, Harriet Bulkeley, et al. "Transforming Governance and Institutions for Global Sustainability: Key Insights from the Earth System Governance Project." *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 4, no. 1 (2012): 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cosust.2012.01.014.

Biswas, Asit K. "Integrated Water Resources Management: Is It Working?" *International Journal of Water Resources Development* 24, no. 1 (2008): 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/07900620701871718.

Boretti, Alberto, and Lorenzo Rosa. "Reassessing the Projections of the World Water Development Report." *NPI Clean Water* 2, no. 15 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41545-019-0039-9.

BNEF (Bloomberg New Energy Finance). "Global Storage Market to Double Six Times by 2030." Bloomberg New Energy Finance (blog), November 20, 2017. https://about.bnef.com/blog/global-storage-market-double-six-times-2030/.

British Geological Survey and WaterAID. "Groundwater Information Sheet: The Impact of Urbanisation." London: British Geological Survey, 2008. http://nora.nerc.ac.uk/id/eprint/528009/.

Brogan, J. J., A. E. Aeppli, D. F. Beagan, A. Brown, M. J. Fischer, L. R. Grenzeback, E. McKenzie, L. Vimmerstedt, A. D. Vyas, and E. Witzke. "Transportation Energy Futures Series: Freight Transportation Modal Shares: Scenarios for a Low-Carbon Future." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Energy, 2013. https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/ metadc828587/.

Bruce-Lockhart, Anna, and Ross Chainey. "'Normal Wasn't Working' — John Kerry, Phillip Atiba Goff and Others on the New Social Contract Post-COVID." World Economic Forum (blog), June 24, 2020. https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2020/06/great-reset-social-contract-john-kerryphillip-goff/.

BSR (Business for Social Responsibility). "An Inclusive Sharing Economy: Unlocking Business Opportunities to Support Low Income and Underserved Communities." New York: Business for Social Responsibility, 2016. https://www.bsr.org/reports/BSR_An_Inclusive_Sharing_Economy.pdf.

Buckingham, Kathleen, and Craig Hanson. "The Restoration Diagnostic. Case Example: Maradi and Zinder Regions, Niger." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2015. https://www.wri.org/publication/restoration-diagnostic.

Bühler, Fabian, Benjamin Zühlsdorf, Fridolin Müller Holm, and Brian Elmegaard. "The Potential of Heat Pumps in the Electrification of the Danish Industry." In *Book of Presentations of the 2nd Symposium on High-Temperature Heat Pumps*, edited by B. Zühlsdorf, M. Bantle, and B. Elmegaard, 51-67. Trondheim, Norway: SINTEF, 2019. https://backend. orbit.dtu.dk/ws/portalfiles/portal/195360531/The_potential_of_heat_ pumps_in_the_electrification_of_the_Danish.pdf.

Burek, P., Y. Satoh, G. Fischer, M. T. Kahil, A. Scherzer, S. Tramberend, L. F. Nava, et al. "Water Futures and Solution." Laxenburg, Austria: International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, 2016. http://pure.iiasa. ac.at/id/eprint/13008/. Burrier, Grant. "Why Uruguay's Unprecedented Shift to Clean Energy Is a Model for the World." World Politics Review (blog), April 2, 2020. https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/articles/28651/why-uruguay-sunprecedented-shift-to-clean-energy-is-a-model-for-the-world.

Busch, Jonah, and Jens Engelmann. "Cost-Effectiveness of Reducing Emissions from Tropical Deforestation, 2016–2050." *Environmental Research Letters* 13, no. 1 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa907c.

C40 Cities. "19 Global Cities Commit to Make New Buildings 'Net-Zero Carbon' by 2030." C40 Cities, August 23, 2018. https://www.c40.org/ press_releases/global-cities-commit-to-make-new-buildings-net-zero-carbon-by-2030.

———. "How to Achieve a Walking and Cycling Transformation in Your City." *C40 Knowledge Hub* (blog), March 2019. https://www.c40knowl-edgehub.org/s/article/How-to-achieve-a-walking-and-cycling-transformation-in-your-city.

———. "How to Drive a Modal Shift from Private Vehicle Use to Public Transport, Walking and Cycling." *C40 Knowledge Hub* (blog), March 2019. https://www.c40knowledgehub.org/s/article/How-to-drive-amodal-shift-from-private-vehicle-use-to-public-transport-walking-andcycling.

-----. "Zero Waste Declaration," Accessed August 1, 2020. https:// www.c40.org/other/zero-waste-declaration.

Cano, Zachary P., Dustin Banham, Siyu Ye, Andreas Hintennach, Jun Lu, Michael Fowler, and Zhongwei Chen. "Batteries and Fuel Cells for Emerging Electric Vehicle Markets." *Nature Energy* 3, no. 4 (2018): 279–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0108-1.

Carbon Pulse. "EU Aims to 'Green' Hard-to-Abate Sectors with Hydrogen and Energy System Roadmaps." Carbon Pulse (blog), July 8, 2020. https://carbon-pulse.com/103411/.

Cattaneo, Lia. "Plug-In Electric Vehicle Policy. Evaluating the Effectiveness of State Policies for Increasing Deployment." Washington, DC: Center for American Progress, 2018. https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/green/reports/2018/06/07/451722/plug-electric-vehicle-policy/.

CBD (Convention on Biological Diversity) and UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). *Global Biodiversity Outlook 4: A Mid-Term Assessment of Progress towards the Implementation of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020*. Montreal, Canada: Secretariat for the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2014. https://www.cbd.int/gbo/ gbo4/publication/gbo4-en.pdf.

———. "Sustaining Life on Earth: How the Convention on Biological Diversity Promotes Nature and Human Well-Being." Montreal, Canada: Secretariat for the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2000. https:// www.cbd.int/doc/publications/cbd-sustain-en.pdf.

———. *Global Biodiversity Outlook 5*. Montreal, Canada: Secretariat for the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2020. https://www.cbd.int/gbo/gbo5/publication/gbo-5-en.pdf.

Chen, David Meng-Chuen, Benjamin Leon Bodirsky, Tobias Krueger, Abhijeet Mishra, and Alexander Popp. "The World's Growing Municipal Solid Waste: Trends and Impacts." *Environmental Research Letters* 15, no. 7 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab8659. Chen, Martha, and Victoria A. Beard. "Including the Excluded: Supporting Informal Workers for More Equal and Productive Cities in the Global South," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https://www. wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/including-the-excluded.

Chen, Zuoqi, Bailang Yu, Yuyu Zhou, Hongxing Liu, Chengshu Yang, Kaifang Shi, and Jianping Wu. "Mapping Global Urban Areas From 2000 to 2012 Using Time-Series Nighttime Light Data and MODIS Products." *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing* 12, no. 4 (2019): 1143–53. https://doi.org/10.1109/ JSTARS.2019.2900457.

Chu, E., A. Brown, K. Michael, Jillian Du, Shuaib Lwasa, and Anjali Mahendra. "Unlocking the Potential for Transformative Climate Adaptation in Cities." Washington, DC: Global Commission on Adaptation, 2019. https://wrirosscities.org/sites/default/files/FINAL19_GCA_Cities_ Background%20Paper.pdf.

Cisneros, Jiménez, Taikan Oki, Nigel W. Arnell, Gerardo Benito, J. Graham Cogley, Petra Döll, Tong Jiang, and Shadrack S. Mwakalila. "Freshwater Resources." In *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on <i>Climate Change*, edited by C.B. Field, V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, et al., 229-269. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/ uploads/2018/02/WGIIAR5-Chap3_FINAL.pdf.

Cleary, Kathryne. "Electrification 1010: An Overview of How Electrification Can Reduce Emissions, from the Feasibility of Electrifying Different Technologies to the Policy Options for Encouraging Economy-Wide Electrification." Washington, DC: Resources for the Future, 2019. https:// media.rff.org/documents/Electrification_Explainer_101_odobEoP.pdf.

Coady, David, Ian Parry, Nghia-Piotr Le, and Baoping Shang. "Global Fossil Fuel Subsidies Remain Large: An Update Based on Country-Level Estimates." Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, 2019. https:// www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2019/05/02/Global-Fossil-Fuel-Subsidies-Remain-Large-An-Update-Based-on-Country-Level-Estimates-46509.

Cole, Wesley J, and Allister Frazier. "Cost Projections for Utility-Scale Battery Storage." Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2019. https://doi.org/10.2172/1529218.

Cosgrove, Anne. "Corporate Electric Vehicle Alliance Aims To Accelerate EV Adoption." Facility Executive (blog), January 22, 2020. https://facilityexecutive.com/2020/01/corporate-electric-vehicle-alliance-aims-to-accelerate-ev-adoption/.

Costanza, Robert, William J. Mitsch, and John W. Day. "A New Vision for New Orleans and the Mississippi Delta: Applying Ecological Economics and Ecological Engineering." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 4, no. 9 (2006): 465–72. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2006)4[46 5:ANVFN0]2.0.C0;2.

Costello, Christopher, Ling Cao, Stefan Gelcich, Miguel Angel Cisneros, Christopher M. Free, Halley E. Froehlich, Christopher D. Golden, et al. "The Future of Food from the Sea." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://oceanpanel.org/sites/default/files/2019-11/19_ HLP_BP1%20Paper.pdf. CPI (Climate Policy Initiative). "Global Landscape of Climate Finance 2019." London: Climate Policy Initiative, 2019. https://climatepolicyinitia-tive.org/publication/global-landscape-of-climate-finance-2019/.

Craig, Laura S., Julian D. Olden, Angela H. Arthington, Sally Entrekin, Charles P. Hawkins, John J. Kelly, Theodore A. Kennedy, et al. "Meeting the Challenge of Interacting Threats in Freshwater Ecosystems: A Call to Scientists and Managers." *Elementa Science of the Anthropocene* 5 (2017): 72. https://doi.org/10.1525/elementa.256.

CUT (Coalition for Urban Transitions). "Climate Emergency, Urban Opportunity." London and Washington, DC: Coalition for Urban Transitions, 2019. https://urbantransitions.global/urban-opportunity/.

Damania, Richard, Sébastien Desbureaux, Aude-Sophie Rodella, Jason Russ, and Esha Zaveri. "Quality Unknown: The Invisible Water Crisis." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1459-4.

D'Aprile, Paolo, John Newman, and Dickon Pinner. "The New Economics of Energy Storage." McKinsey & Company (blog), April 18, 2016. https:// www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/sustainability/our-insights/ the-new-economics-of-energy-storage.

Deason, Jeff, Max Wei, Greg Leventis, Sarah Smith, and Lisa C. Schwartz. "Electrification of Buildings and Industry in the United States: Drivers, Barriers, Prospects, and Policy Approaches." Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2018. https://doi.org/10.2172/1430688.

Deloitte China. "Fueling the Future of Mobility Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Solutions for Transportation." Beijing: Deloitte China, 2020. https:// www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/cn/Documents/finance/ deloitte-cn-fueling-the-future-of-mobility-en-200101.pdf.

Demirgüç-Kunt, Asli, Leora Klapper, Dorothe Singer, Saniya Ansar, and Jake Hess. "The Global Findex Database 2017: Measuring Financial Inclusion and the Fintech Revolution." Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2018. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/29510.

Dezécache, Camille, Jean-Michel Salles, and Bruno Hérault. "Questioning Emissions-Based Approaches for the Definition of REDD+ Deforestation Baselines in High Forest Cover/Low Deforestation Countries." *Carbon Balance and Management* 13, no. 1 (2018): 21. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13021-018-0109-1.

Di Minin, Enrico, Thomas M. Brooks, Tuuli Toivonen, Stuart H. M. Butchart, Vuokko Heikinheimo, James E. M. Watson, Neil D. Burgess, et al. "Identifying Global Centers of Unsustainable Commercial Harvesting of Species." *Science Advances* 5, no. 4 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.aau2879.

Diener, E., and K. Ryan. "National Accounts of Well-Being for Public Policy." In *Series in Applied Psychology. Applied Positive Psychology: Improving Everyday Life, Health, Schools, Work, and Society*, edited by S. I. Donaldson, M. Csikszentmihalyi, and J. Nakamura, 15-34. New York: Routledge/Taylor and Francis Group, 2011.

Dinerstein, E., C. Vynne, E. Sala, A. R. Joshi, S. Fernando, T. E. Lovejoy, J. Mayorga, et al. "A Global Deal For Nature: Guiding Principles, Milestones, and Targets." *Science Advances* 5, no. 4 (2019). https:// doi/10.1126/sciadv.aaw2869. Ding, Helen, Sofia Faruqi, Andrew Wu, Juan Carlos Altamirano, Andrés Anchondo Ortega, Michael Verdone, René Zamora Cristales, Robin Chazdon, and Walter Vergara. "Roots of Prosperity: The Economics and Finance of Restoring Land." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2017. https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/roots-of-prosperity_0.pdf.

Ding, Helen, Peter G. Veit, Allen Blackman, Erin Gray, Katie Reytar, Juan Carlos Altamirano, and Benjamin Hodgdon. "Climate Benefits, Tenure Costs: The Economic Case for Securing Indigenous Land Rights in the Amazon." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2016. https:// www.wri.org/publication/climate-benefits-tenure-costs.

Donofrio, Stephen, Philip Rothrock, and Jonathan Leonard. "Zooming In: Companies, Commodities, & Traceability Commitments That Count, 2018." Washington, DC: Forest Trends, 2018. https://www.forest-trends. org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/doc_5748.pdf.

Doumbia, Djeneba. "The Role of Good Governance in Fostering Pro-Poor and Inclusive Growth." Brookings Institution (blog), July 1, 2020. https:// www.brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2020/07/01/the-role-of-goodgovernance-in-fostering-pro-poor-and-inclusive-growth/.

Duarte, Carlos M. "Global Change and the Future Ocean: A Grand Challenge for Marine Sciences." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 1 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2014.00063.

Duarte, Carlos M., Susana Agusti, Edward Barbier, Gregory L. Britten, Juan Carlos Castilla, Jean-Pierre Gattuso, Robinson W. Fulweiler, et al. "Rebuilding Marine Life." *Nature* 580, no. 7801 (2020): 39–51. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-020-2146-7.

Dudgeon, David, Angela H. Arthington, Mark O. Gessner, Zen-Ichiro Kawabata, Duncan J. Knowler, Christian Lévêque, Robert J. Naiman, et al. "Freshwater Biodiversity: Importance, Threats, Status and Conservation Challenges." *Biological Reviews* 81, no. 02 (2006): 163. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1464793105006950.

Dudley, Nigel, and Sasha Alexander. "Global Land Outlook." Bonn, Germany: United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, 2017. https://knowledge.unccd.int/glo/GL0_first_edition.

Earth Overshoot Day. "Infographics." Earth Overshoot Day (blog), 2020. https://www.overshootday.org/newsroom/infographics/.

ECHA (European Clean Hydrogen Alliance). "European Clean Hydrogen Alliance." Brussels: European Commission, 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/FS_20_1297.

EEA (European Environment Agency). "Circular by Design: Products in the Circular Economy." Luxembourg: European Environment Agency, 2017. https://circulareconomy.europa.eu/platform/sites/default/files/ circular_by_design_-_products_in_the_circular_economy.pdf.

EMF (Ellen MacArthur Foundation). "Completing The Picture: How the Circular Economy Tackles Climate Change." Cowes, United Kingdom: Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2019. https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/assets/downloads/Completing_The_Picture_How_The_Circular_Economy-_Tackles_Climate_Change_V3_26_September.pdf.

———. "Towards the Circular Economy: Accelerating the Scale-up across Global Supply Chains." Cowes, United Kingdom: Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2014. https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/publica-tions/towards-the-circular-economy-vol-3-accelerating-the-scale-up-across-global-supply-chains.

EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). "2000 Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) Public Data Release Report." Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2000. https://www.epa.gov/sites/ production/files/2018-12/documents/2000_pdr_executive_summary. pdf.

———. "National Overview: Facts and Figures on Materials, Wastes and Recycling." Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2017. https://www.epa.gov/facts-and-figures-about-materials-wasteand-recycling/national-overview-facts-and-figures-materials.

ETC (Energy Transitions Commission). "A New Electricity Era: How to Decarbonize Energy Systems through Electrification." London: Energy Transitions Commission, 2017. http://www.energy-transitions.org/ sites/default/files/ETC_CPI%20CE_A%20new%20electricity%20 era_2017_0.pdf.

———. "Electricity, Hydrogen & Hydrogen-based Fuels in a Zero-Carbon Economy." London: Energy Transitions Commission, 2018. http://energy-transitions.org/sites/default/files/ETC-Consultation-Paper-Electricity-and-hydrogen-based-fuels-website.pdf.

-----. "Mission Possible: Reaching Net-Zero Carbon Emissions from Harder-to-Abate Sectors by Mid-Century." London: Energy Transitions Commission, 2018. http://www.energy-transitions.org/sites/default/ files/ETC_MissionPossible_FullReport.pdf.

Falconer, Angela, and Martin Stadelman. "What Is Climate Finance? Definitions to Improve Tracking and Scale up Climate Finance." London: Climate Policy Initiative, 2014. http://climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Brief-on-Climate-Finance-Definitions.pdf.

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). "12.3.1 Global Food Losses." Accessed July 31, 2020. http://www.fao.org/ sustainable-development-goals/indicators/1231/en/.

———. "Sustainable Land Management." Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2015. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4593e.pdf.

———. "The State of the World's Forests 2020." Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2020. https://doi.org/10.4060/ ca8642en.

———. "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020: Sustainability in Action." Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2020. http://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/ca9229en/.

FAO, IFAD (International Fund for Agricultural Development), UNICEF (United Nations Childrens' Fund), WFP (World Food Program), and WHO (World Health Organization). "The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2019. Safeguarding against Economic Slowdowns and Downturns." Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2019. http://www.fao.org/3/ca5162en/ca5162en.pdf.

FIA Foundation and Amend. "Step Change: An Action Agenda on Safe Walking for Africa's Children," London: FIA Foundation, 2016. https:// www.childhealthinitiative.org/media/402415/step-change-pages.pdf.

Figgener, Jan, Peter Stenzel, Kai-Philipp Kairies, Jochen Linßen, David Haberschusz, Oliver Wessels, Georg Angenendt, Martin Robinius, Detlef Stolten, and Dirk Uwe Sauer. "The Development of Stationary Battery Storage Systems in Germany—A Market Review." *Journal of Energy Storage* 29 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.est.2019.101153. Flanagan, Katie, Brian Lipinski, and Liz Goodwin. "SDG Target 12.3 on Food Loss and Waste: 2019 Progress Report." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://champions123.org/2019-progress-report/.

Fransen, Taryn, Ben Welle, Camron Gorguinpour, Margaret McCall, Ranping Song, and Alexander Tankou. "Enhancing NDCs: Opportunities in Transport," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https:// www.wri.org/publication/enhancing-ndcs-opportunities-transport.

Fullerton, John. "Regenerative Capitalism: How Universal Principles And Patterns Will Shape Our New Economy." Greenwich, CT: Capital Institute, 2015. http://capitalinstitute.org/wp-content/up-loads/2015/04/2015-Regenerative-Capitalism-4-20-15-final.pdf.

GCA (Global Commission on Adaptation). "Adapt Now: A Global Call for Leadership on Climate Resilience." Washington, DC: Global Commission on Adaptation, 2019. https://gca.org/global-commission-on-adaptation/ report.

Ge, Mengpin, and Johannes Friedrich. "4 Charts Explain Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Countries and Sectors." *Insights* (blog), February 6, 2020. https://www.wri.org/blog/2020/02/greenhouse-gas-emissions-bycountry-sector.

Ge, Mengpin, Katie Lebling, Kelly Levin, and Johannes Friedrich. "Tracking Progress of the 2020 Climate Turning Point." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www. wri.org/publication/tracking-progress-2020-climate-turningpoint.

Geels, Frank W. "A Socio-Technical Analysis of Low-Carbon Transitions: Introducing the Multi-Level Perspective into Transport Studies." *Journal of Transport Geography* 24 (2012): 471–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.01.021.

Geffen, Lisanne van, Erica van Herpen, and Hans van Trijp. "Household Food Waste—How to Avoid It? An Integrative Review." In *Food Waste Management: Solving the Wicked Problem*, edited by Elina Närvänen, Nina Mesiranta, Malla Mattila, and Anna Heikkinen, 27–55. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20561-4_2.

Geueke, Birgit, Ksenia Groh, and Jane Muncke. "Food Packaging in the Circular Economy: Overview of Chemical Safety Aspects for Commonly Used Materials." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 193 (2018): 491–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2018.05.005.

Geyer, Roland, Jenna R. Jambeck, and Kara Lavender Law. "Production, Use, and Fate of All Plastics Ever Made." *Science Advances* 3, no. 7 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1700782.

Giakoumi, Sylvaine, Stelios Katsanevakis, Paolo G. Albano, Ernesto Azzurro, Ana Cristina Cardoso, Emma Cebrian, Alan Deidun, et al. "Management Priorities for Marine Invasive Species." *Science of The Total Environment* 688 (2019): 976–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.282. GIB (Global Infrastructure Basel Foundation). "SuRe®—The Standard for Sustainable and Resilient Infrastructure." Basel, Switzerland: Global Infrastructure Basel, 2018. https://sure-standard. org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/SuRe-Summary_June_2015. pdf.

Gleick, Peter, and Charles Iceland. "Water, Security, and Conflict." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https:// www.wri.org/publication/water-security-and-conflict.

Global Green Freight. "About," Accessed August 1, 2020. http:// www.globalgreenfreight.org/content/about.

Godfray, H. Charles J., Paul Aveyard, Tara Garnett, Jim W. Hall, Timothy J. Key, Jamie Lorimer, Ray T. Pierrehumbert, Peter Scarborough, Marco Springmann, and Susan A. Jebb. "Meat Consumption, Health, and the Environment." *Science* 361, no. 6399 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam5324.

Gonzalez-Roglich, Mariano, Alex Zvoleff, Monica Noon, Hanspeter Liniger, Renate Fleiner, Nicole Harari, and Cesar Garcia. "Synergizing Global Tools to Monitor Progress towards Land Degradation Neutrality: Trends. Earth and the World Overview of Conservation Approaches and Technologies Sustainable Land Management Database." *Environmental Science & Policy* 93 (2019): 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.12.019.

Government of Norway. "Norway's Seventh National Communication Under the Framework Convention on Climate Change." Oslo: Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, 2018. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/52d65a62e2474bafa21f4476380cffda/t-1563e.pdf.

Grigg, Neil S. "Integrated Water Resources Management: Balancing Views and Improving Practice." *Water International* 33, no. 3 (2008): 279–92. https://doi. org/10.1080/02508060802272820.

Grill, G., B. Lehner, M. Thieme, B. Geenen, D. Tickner, F. Antonelli, S. Babu, et al. "Mapping the World's Free-Flowing Rivers." *Nature* 569, no. 7755 (2019): 215–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-019-1111-9.

Griscom, Bronson W., Justin Adams, Peter W. Ellis, Richard A. Houghton, Guy Lomax, Daniela A. Miteva, William H. Schlesinger, et al. "Natural Climate Solutions." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114, no. 44 (2017): 11645–50. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1710465114.

GSEP (Global Sustainable Electricity Partnership). "New Electricity Frontiers: Harnessing the Role of Low-Carbon Electricity Uses in a Digital Era." Montreal, Canada: Global Sustainable Electricity Partnership, 2018. https://www.globalelectricity.org/ content/uploads/New-electricity-frontiers-report.pdf.

Gwilliam, Ken. "Cities on the Move: A World Bank Urban Transport Strategy Review." Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2002. https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/doc-uments-reports/documentdetail/928301468762905413/cities-on-the-move-a-world-bank-urban-transport-strategy-review.

Haglund, Eric, Jupiter Ndjeunga, Laura Snook, and Dov Pasternak. "Dry Land Tree Management for Improved Household Livelihoods: Farmer Managed Natural Regeneration in Niger." *Journal of Environmental Management* 92, no. 7 (2011): 1696–1705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.01.027.

Hall, Siobhan. "New EU Clean Hydrogen Alliance to Build 6 GW of Electrolyzer Capacity by 2024." S&P Global (blog), July 8, 2020. https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/market-insights/latest-news/electric-power/070820-new-eu-clean-hydrogen-alliance-to-build-6-gw-of-electrolyzer-capcity-by-2024.

Haman, Max. "Unlocking the 'Hard to Abate' Sectors." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2020. https://www.wri.org/ climate/expert-perspective/unlocking-hard-abate-sectors.

Hanson, Craig, and Peter Mitchell. "The Business Case for Reducing Food Loss and Waste." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2017. https://champions123.org/the-business-case-for-reducing-foodloss-and-waste/.

Henders, Sabine, U. Martin Persson, and Thomas Kastner. "Trading Forests: Land-Use Change and Carbon Emissions Embodied in Production and Exports of Forest-Risk Commodities." *Environmental Research Letters* 10, no. 12 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/125012.

Henze, Veronkia. "Scale-up of Solar and Wind Puts Existing Coal, Gas at Risk." Bloomberg New Energy Finance (blog), April 28, 2020. https://about.bnef.com/blog/scale-up-of-solar-and-wind-puts-existing-coal-gas-at-risk/#_ftn1.

Hess, Stefan. "3 - Solar Thermal Process Heat (SPH) Generation." In *Renewable Heating and Cooling*, edited by Gerhard Stryi-Hipp, 41–66. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-78242-213-6.00003-5.

Hickel, Jason. "The Great Challenge of the 21st Century Is Learning to Consume Less. This Is How We Can Do It." World Economic Forum (blog), May 15, 2018. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/05/ourfuture-depends-on-consuming-less-for-a-better-world/.

Hillyer, Madeleine. "World Economic Forum Launches Global New Mobility Coalition to Cut Transport Emissions by 95% and Reduce Commute Costs by 40%." World Economic Forum, September 23, 2019. https://www.weforum.org/press/2019/09/world-economic-forumlaunches-global-new-mobility-coalition-to-cut-transport-emissionsby-95-and-reduce-commute-costs-by-40/.

Hoegh-Guldberg, Ove. "Reviving The Ocean Economy: The Case for Action—2015." Gland, Switzerland: World Wildlife Fund, 2015. https:// wwfeu.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/reviving_ocean_economy_ report_low_res.pdf.

Hoekstra, Arjen Y., and Thomas O. Wiedmann. "Humanity's Unsustainable Environmental Footprint." *Science* 344, no. 6188 (2014): 1114–17. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1248365.

Hoekstra, A. Y., and M. M. Mekonnen. "The Water Footprint of Humanity." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, no. 9 (2012): 3232–37. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1109936109.

Hofste, Rutger Willem, Paul Reig, and Leah Schleifer. "17 Countries, Home to One-Quarter of the World's Population, Face Extremely High Water Stress." *Insights* (blog), August 6, 2019. https://www.wri.org/ blog/2019/08/17-countries-home-one-quarter-world-population-faceextremely-high-water-stress.

Holguín-Veras, José, Trilce Encarnación, Carlos A. González-Calderón, James Winebrake, Cara Wang, Sofia Kyle, Nilson Herazo-Padilla, et al. "Direct Impacts of Off-Hour Deliveries on Urban Freight Emissions." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 61, (2018). https://trid.trb.org/view/1513876.

Holtsmark, Bjart, and Anders Skonhoft. "The Norwegian Support and Subsidy Policy of Electric Cars. Should It Be Adopted by Other Countries?" *Environmental Science & Policy* 42 (2014): 160–68. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envsci.2014.06.006.

Hosonuma, Noriko, Martin Herold, Veronique De Sy, Ruth S. De Fries, Maria Brockhaus, Louis Verchot, Arild Angelsen, and Erika Romijn. "An Assessment of Deforestation and Forest Degradation Drivers in Developing Countries." *Environmental Research Letters* 7, no. 4 (2012). https:// doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/4/044009.

Huffaker, Ray. "Conservation Potential of Agricultural Water Conservation Subsidies." *Water Resources Research* 44, no. 7 (2008). https://doi. org/10.1029/2007WR006183.

Hyland, John J., Maeve Henchion, Mary McCarthy, and Sinéad N. McCarthy. "The Role of Meat in Strategies to Achieve a Sustainable Diet Lower in Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A Review." *Meat Science* 132 (2017): 189–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.04.014.

ICAO (International Civil Aviation Organization). "Continued Progress toward Implementation of ICAO's Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA)," International Civil Aviation Organization, June 22, 2020. https://www.icao.int/Newsroom/Pages/ Continued-progress-toward-implementation-of-ICAOs-Carbon-Offsetting-and-Reduction-Scheme-for-International-Aviation-.aspx.

ICAT (Initiative for Climate Action Transparency). "Transformational Change Methodology: Assessing the Transformational Impacts of Policies and Actions." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2020. https://climateactiontransparency.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ Transformational-Change-Assessment-Guide.pdf.

ICESI (International Coalition for Energy Storage and Innovation). "International Coalition for Energy Storage and Innovation (ICESI)." Accessed August 1, 2020. https://www.aconf.org/conf_158741.html.

IEA (International Energy Agency). "Average Annual Capacity Factors by Technology, 2018." Accessed March 6, 2020. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/average-annual-capacity-factors-by-technology-2018.

———. "CCUS in Industry and Transformation." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020. https://www.iea.org/reports/ccus-in-indus-try-and-transformation.

----. "CCUS in Power." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020. https://www.iea.org/reports/ccus-in-power. ———. "Energy Access Projections to 2030." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2014. http://www.worldenergyoutlook.org/resources/ener-gydevelopment/energyaccessprojectionsto2030/.

———. "Energy and Air Pollution." World Energy Outlook Special Report. Paris: International Energy Agency, 2016. https://www.iea.org/reports/ energy-and-air-pollution.

----. "Energy Consumption." Accessed August 1, 2020. https:// www.iea.org/data-and-statistics?country=W0RLD&fuel=Energy%20 consumption&indicator=Carbon%20intensity%20of%20industry%20 energy%20consumption.

----. "Energy Efficiency 2018." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2018. https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-efficiency-2018.

----. "Energy Efficiency 2019." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2019. https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-efficiency-2019.

----. "Energy Storage." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020. https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-storage.

———. "Energy Technology Perspectives 2016: Towards Sustainable Urban Energy Systems." Accessed August 1, 2020. https://www.iea.org/ topics/energy-technology-perspectives.

———. "Global Alliance for Building and Construction—Promoting Energy Efficiency." Accessed August 26, 2020. https://www.iea.org/ areas-of-work/promoting-energy-efficiency/global-alliance-for-building-and-construction.

———. "Global Energy Demand Rose by 2.3% in 2018, Its Fastest Pace in the Last Decade." International Energy Agency, March 26, 2019. https://www.iea.org/news/global-energy-demand-rose-by-23-in-2018-its-fast-est-pace-in-the-last-decade.

----. "Global EV Outlook 2020." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020.

———. "SDG7: Data and Projections." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2019. https://www.iea.org/reports/sdg7-data-and-projections/ energy-intensity.

———. "Share of Total Primary Energy Demand by Fuel, 2010-2019." Accessed August 30, 2020. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/ charts/share-of-total-primary-energy-demand-by-fuel-2010-2019.

———. "The Critical Role of Buildings." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2019. https://www.iea.org/reports/the-critical-role-of-build-ings.

----. "Tracking Transport 2020." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020. https://www.iea.org/reports/tracking-transport-2020.

———. "Water-Energy Nexus." Paris: International Energy Agency, 2017. https://www.iea.org/reports/water-energy-nexus.

———. "World Gross Electricity Production, by Source, 2018." Accessed July 23, 2020. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/ world-gross-electricity-production-by-source-2018.

IEA, IRENA (International Renewable Energy Agency), UNSD (United Nations Statistics Division), World Bank, and WHO (World Health Organization). "Tracking SDG 7: The Energy Progress Report 2020," Washington, DC: World Bank, 2019. https://trackingsdg7.esmap.org/

data/files/download-documents/tracking_sdg_7_2020-full_report_-_web_0.pdf.

IESA (India Energy Storage Alliance). "Overview." Accessed July 31, 2020. https://indiaesa.info/about.

ILO (International Labour Office). "Greening with Jobs: World Employment Social Outlook 2018." Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Office, 2018. https://www.ilo.org/weso-greening/documents/WESO_ Greening_EN_web2.pdf.

IMF (International Monetary Fund). "Global Financial Stability Report, April 2020 Markets in the Time of COVID-19." Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, 2020. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/ GFSR/Issues/2020/04/14/global-financial-stability-report-april-2020.

IMO (International Maritime Organization). "Ballast Water Management," Accessed September 2, 2020. http://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/BallastWaterManagement/Pages/Default.aspx.

----. "Third IMO GHG Study 2014 Executive Summary and Final Report." London: International Maritime Organization, 2015. http://www. imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/PollutionPrevention/AirPollution/ Documents/Third%20Greenhouse%20Gas%20Study/GHG3%20Executive%20Summary%20and%20Report.pdf.

----. "UN Body Adopts Climate Change Strategy for Shipping." International Maritime Organization, April 13, 2018. http://www.imo.org/en/ MediaCentre/PressBriefings/Pages/06GHGinitialstrategy.aspx.

IPBES (Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services). *Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services*. Edited by E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, and S. Díaz. Bonn, Germany: Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services secretariat, 2019. https://ipbes. net/global-assessment.

———. "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services." Bonn, Germany: Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services secretariat, 2019. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZEN0D0.3553579.

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). *Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems*. Edited by P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, P. Zhai, et al. In press, 2019. https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/.

———. Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty. Edited by V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, et al. In press, 2018. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/ sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Res.pdf.

———. *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate*. Edited by H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, et al. In press, 2019. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/SROCC_FullReport_Fl-NALpdf. ———. "Summary for Policymakers." In *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by C.B. Field, V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, et al., 1-32. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar5_wgll_spm_en.pdf.

———. "Summary for Policymakers." In *Global Warming of* 1.5°*C*. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°*C* above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty, edited by V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield, 1-32. In press, 2018. https://www. ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/spm/.

IRENA (International Renewable Energy Agency). "Electricity Storage and Renewables: Costs and Markets to 2030." Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency, 2017. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/ IRENA/Agency/Publication/2017/Oct/IRENA_Electricity_Storage_ Costs_2017_Summary.pdf.

-----. "Electrification with Renewables: Driving the Transformation of Energy Services." Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency, 2019. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2019/Jan/IRENA_RE-Electrification_SGCC_2019_preview.pdf.

IRP (International Resource Panel) and UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). "The Weight of Cities: Resource Requirements of Future Urbanization." Nairobi: International Resource Panel, 2018. https://www.resourcepanel.org/reports/weight-cities.

Isenstadt, Aaron, and Nic Lutsey. "Developing Hydrogen Fueling Infrastructure for Fuel Cell Vehicles: A Status Update." Washington, DC: The International Council on Clean Transportation, 2017. https://theicct.org/ publications/developing-hydrogen-fueling-infrastructure-fuel-cell-vehicles-status-update.

ITDP (International Renewable Energy Agency). "TOD Standard." New York: Institute for Transportation and Development Policy, 2017. https://www.itdp.org/2017/06/23/tod-standard/.

ITF (International Transport Forum). "About ITF." Accessed July 31, 2020. https://www.itf-oecd.org/about-itf.

———. "Transport Demand Set to Triple, but Sector Faces Potential Disruptions." International Transport Forum, May 22, 2019. https://www. itf-oecd.org/transport-demand-set-triple-sector-faces-potential-dis-ruptions.

Jadun, Paige, Colin McMillan, Daniel Steinberg, Matteo Muratori, Laura Vimmerstedt, and Trieu Mai. "Electrification Futures Study: End-Use Electric Technology Cost and Performance Projections through 2050." Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2017. https://www. nrel.gov/docs/fy18osti/70485.pdf.

Januszko, Cody. "Is Shipping Freight by Rail and Water Better for the Environment?" Phys.Org, October 11, 2018. https://phys.org/news/2018-10-shipping-freight-rail-environment.html.

Kamath, Lalitha, Himanshu Burte, Avinash Madhale, and Robin King. "Pune: Coalitions, Contradictions, and Unsteady Transformation." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https://wrirosscities. org/sites/default/files/WRR_Case-Study_Pune_0814.pdf.

Kasser, Tim. *The High Price of Materialism.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2002.

Kaufman, Noah, Michael Obeiter, and Eleanor Krause. "Putting a Price on Carbon: Reducing Emissions." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2016. https://www.wri.org/publication/putting-price-carbon-reducing-emissions.

Kaza, Silpa, Lisa Yao, Perinaz Bhada-Tata, and Frank Van Woerden. "What a Waste 2.0: A Global Snapshot of Solid Waste Management to 2050." Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2018. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/30317.

Keeley, Brian. "Income Inequality: The Gap between Rich and Poor." Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-Operation, 2015. https://www. oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/9789264246010-en.pdf.

Kennedy, Christopher A., Iain Stewart, Angelo Facchini, Igor Cersosimo, Renata Mele, Bin Chen, Mariko Uda, et al. "Energy and Material Flows of Megacities." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112, no. 19 (2015): 5985–90. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1504315112.

King, Robin, Mariana Orloff, Terra Virsilas, and Tejas Pande. "Confronting the Urban Housing Crisis in the Global South: Adequate, Secure, and Affordable Housing." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, December 7, 2017. https://www.wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/confronting-urban-housing-crisis.

"Krutu of Paramaribo Joint Declaration on HFLD Climate Finance Mobilization." Accessed September 15, 2020. https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ SubmissionsStaging/Documents/201903220903---Krutu%20of%20 Paramaribo_13-02-19.pdf.

Lajunen, Antti, and Timothy Lipman. "Lifecycle Cost Assessment and Carbon Dioxide Emissions of Diesel, Natural Gas, Hybrid Electric, Fuel Cell Hybrid and Electric Transit Buses." *Energy* 106 (2016): 329–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.03.075.

Lawson, Max, Man-Kwun Chan, Francesca Rhodes, Anam Parvez Butt, Anna Marriott, Ellen Ehmke, Didier Jacobs, Julie Seghers, Jaime Atienza, and Rebecca Gowland. "Public Good or Private Wealth?" Oxford: Oxfam, 2019. https://doi.org/10.21201/2019.3651.

Layke, Jennifer. International Efforts to Increase Energy Efficiency and Opportunities to Advance Energy, U.S. Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resources (October 22, 2019). https://www.wri.org/publication/international-efforts-increase-energy-efficiency-opportunities-advance-energy-united-states.

Lebedeva, N., D. Tarvydas, I. Tsiropoulos. "Li-Ion Batteries for Mobility and Stationary Storage Applications: Scenarios for Costs and Market Growth." Brussels: European Commission, 2018. http://publications. europa.eu/publication/manifestation_identifier/PUB_KJNA29440EN. Lee, Nicol Turner, Paul Resnick, and Genie Barton. "Algorithmic Bias Detection and Mitigation: Best Practices and Policies to Reduce Consumer Harms." Washington, DC: Brookings Institution, 2019. https:// www.brookings.edu/research/algorithmic-bias-detection-and-mitigation-best-practices-and-policies-to-reduce-consumer-harms/.

Lemmons, Richard. "Energy Efficiency vs Energy Intensity." Climate Policy Watcher (blog), September 5, 2018. https://www.climate-policy-watcher.org/energy-strategies/energy-efficiency-vs-energy-intensity.html.

Leung, Dennis Y. C., Giorgio Caramanna, and M. Mercedes Maroto-Valer. "An Overview of Current Status of Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage Technologies." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 39 (2014): 426–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.093.

Levin, Kelly, Benjamin Cashore, Steven Bernstein, and Graeme Auld. "Overcoming the Tragedy of Super Wicked Problems: Constraining Our Future Selves to Ameliorate Global Climate Change." *Policy Sciences* 45, no. 2 (2012): 123–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-012-9151-0.

Li, Xiangyi, Camron Gorguinpour, Ryan Sclar, and Sebastian Castellanos. "How to Enable Electric Bus Adoption in Cities Worldwide." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www.wri.org/publication/ how-enable-electric-bus-adoption-cities-worldwide.

Lipinski, Brian, Craig Hanson, James Lomax, Lisa Kitinoja, Richard Waite, and Tim Searchinger. "Installment 2 of 'Creating a Sustainable Food Future': Reducing Food Loss and Waste." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2013. https://www.wri.org/publication/reducingfood-loss-and-waste.

Lu, Jieyi. "Comparing U.S. and Chinese Electric Vehicle Policies." Environmental and Energy Study Institute (blog), February 28, 2018. https:// www.eesi.org/articles/view/comparing-u.s.-and-chinese-electric-vehicle-policies.

Mace, Georgina, Hillary Masundire, and Jonathan Baillie. "Chapter 4: Biodiversity." In *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends: Findings of the Condition and Trends Working Group of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment*, edited by Rashid M. Hassan, R. J. Scholes, and Neville Ash. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Series, 77-122. Washington, DC: Island Press, 2005. https://www.millenniumassessment.org/documents/document.273.aspx.pdf.

Mackres, Eric. "Six Lessons on Energy Decarbonization from Countries Leading the Way." *Insights* (blog), January 22, 2020. https://www.wri. org/blog/2020/01/6-lessons-energy-decarbonization-countries-lead-ing-way.

Mahendra, Anjali, and Karen C. Seto. "Upward and Outward Growth: Managing Urban Expansion for More Equitable Cities in the Global South," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www. wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/upward-and-outward-growth-managing-urban-expansion-more-equitable.

Marchi, Scott de, and James T. Hamilton. "Assessing the Accuracy of Self-Reported Data: An Evaluation of the Toxics Release Inventory." *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty* 32, no. 1 (2006): 57–76. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41761223.

Martin-Moreau, Mathilde, and David Menascé. "Urban Resilience: Introducing This Issue and Summarizing the Discussions." *Field Actions Science Reports. The Journal of Field Actions* 18 (2018): 6–11. https://journals.openedition.org/factsreports/4629.

Mason, Jacob, Philip Turner, and Mircea Steriu. "Universal Access in Urban Areas." Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2017. http://pubdocs. worldbank.org/en/989591513283280738/ConnNoteSeries-No10-web.pdf.

McDonald, R. I., P. A. Green, D. Balk, B. M. Fekete, C. Revenga, M. Todd, and M. Montgomery. "Urban growth, climate change, and freshwater availability." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108, no. 15 (2011): 6312-6317. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1011615108.

McDonnell, Rachael A. "Challenges for Integrated Water Resources Management: How Do We Provide the Knowledge to Support Truly Integrated Thinking?" *International Journal of Water Resources Development* 24, no. 1 (2008): 131–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/07900620701723240.

McKerracher, Colin, Ali Izadi-Najafabadi, Nick Albanese, Nikolas Soulopolous, David Doherty, Milo Boers, Ryan Fisher, et al. "Electric Vehicle Outlook 2020." New York: Bloomberg New Energy Finance, 2020. https://about.bnef.com/electric-vehicle-outlook/.

McKinsey & Company. "How Airlines Can Chart a Path to Zero-Carbon Flying," McKinsey & Company (blog), May 13, 2020. https://www. mckinsey.com/industries/travel-logistics-and-transport-infrastructure/ our-insights/how-airlines-can-chart-a-path-to-zero-carbon-flying.

———. "Resource Revolution: Meeting the World's Energy, Materials, Food, and Water Needs." Washington, DC: McKinsey & Company, 2011. https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Business%20Functions/Sustainability/Our%20Insights/Resource%20revolution/MGI_Resource_revolution_full_report.pdf.

Meerow, Sara, Joshua P. Newell, and Melissa Stults. "Defining Urban Resilience: A Review." *Landscape and Urban Planning* 147 (2016): 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.11.011.

Mehta, Prerna, Neha Mungekar, and Merlyn Mathew. "Transit Oriented Development Manual: Delhi TOD Policy & Regulations Interpretation." Delhi: World Resources Institute India, 2016. https://wricitieshub.org/ publications/transit-oriented-development-manual-delhi-tod-policy-regulations-interpretation.

Mekonnen, Mesfin M., and Arjen Y. Hoekstra. "Four Billion People Facing Severe Water Scarcity." *Science Advances* 2, no. 2 (2016). https://doi. org/10.1126/sciadv.1500323.

Mendoza, Ashley Boroski. "What Are Shipping Alliances and What Are Their Importance?" ShipLilly (blog), January 21, 2020. https://www. shiplilly.com/blog/what-are-shipping-alliances-and-whats-their-importance/.

Mitlin, Diana, Victoria A. Beard, David Satterthwaite, and Jillian Du. "Unaffordable and Undrinkable: Rethinking Urban Water Access in the Global South." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https:// www.wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/unaffordable-and-undrinkable-rethinking-urban-water-access-global-south.

Moon, Christopher, Anne Maassen, Xiangyi Li, and Sebastian Castellanos. "Financing Electric and Hybrid-Electric Buses," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www.wri.org/publication/ financing-electric-buses. Mota, Micaela, Ronaldo Sousa, Jorge Araújo, Catarina Braga, and Carlos Antunes. "Ecology and Conservation of Freshwater Fish: Time to Act for a More Effective Management." *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 23, no. 2 (2014): 111–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12113.

Motesharrei, Safa, Jorge Rivas, Eugenia Kalnay, Ghassem R. Asrar, Antonio J. Busalacchi, Robert F. Cahalan, Mark A. Cane, et al. "Modeling Sustainability: Population, Inequality, Consumption, and Bidirectional Coupling of the Earth and Human Systems." *National Science Review* 3, no. 4 (2016): 470–94. https://doi.org/10.1093/nsr/nww081.

Mulligan, James, Gretchen Ellison, and Kelly Levin. "Foundational Questions on Carbon Removal in the United States." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/foundational-questions-carbon-removal-united-states.pdf.

Mulligan, James, Gretchen Ellison, Kelly Levin, and Colin McCormick. "Technological Carbon Removal in the United States." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/technological-carbon-removal-united-states_0.pdf.

Mulligan, James, Alexander Rudee, Katie Lebling, Kelly Levin, James Anderson, and Ben Christensen. "Carbonshot: Federal Policy Options for Carbon Removal in the United States." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2020. https://files.wri.org/s3fs-public/carbonshot-federal-policy-options-for-carbon-removal-in-the-united-states_1. pdf.

Nakicenovic, Nebojsa, Johan Rockström, Owen Gaffney, Caroline Zimm, and Pavel Kabat. "Global Commons in the Anthropocene: World Development on a Stable and Resilient Planet." Laxenburg, Austria: International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, 2016. https://www. iucn.org/sites/dev/files/global_commons_in_the_anthropocene_ iiasa_wp-16-019.pdf.

NAS (National Academy of Sciences), NAE (National Academy of Engineering), and NRC (National Research Council). *Real Prospects for Energy Efficiency in the United States*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2010. https://doi.org/10.17226/12621.

NCE (New Climate Economy). "Better Growth, Better Climate: The New Climate Economy Report." Washington, DC: New Climate Economy, 2014. https://newclimateeconomy.report/2014/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2014/08/NCE-Global-Report_web.pdf.

----. "The Sustainable Infrastructure Imperative: Financing for Better Growth and Development." Washington, DC: New Climate Economy, 2016. http://newclimateeconomy.report/2016/wp-content/uploads/ sites/4/2014/08/NCE_2016Report.pdf.

———. "Unlocking the Inclusive Growth Story of the 21st Century: Accelerating Climate Action in Urgent Times." Washington, DC: New Climate Economy, 2018. https://newclimateeconomy.report/2018.

Ndung'u, Njuguna, and Landry Signé. "The Fourth Industrial Revolution and Digitization Will Transform Africa into a Global Powerhouse." In *Foresight Africa 2020*, edited by Brahima S. Coulibaly and Christina Golubski, 61-73. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution, 2020. https://www. brookings.edu/research/the-fourth-industrial-revolution-and-digitization-will-transform-africa-into-a-global-powerhouse/. NEF (New Economics Foundation). "National Accounts of Well-Being: Bringing Real Wealth onto the Balance Sheet." London: New Economics Foundation, 2009. https://neweconomics.org/uploads/files/2027fb-05fed1554aea_uim6vd4c5.pdf.

Neumann, C. M. "Improving the U.S. EPA Toxic Release Inventory Database for Environmental Health Research." *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part B, Critical Reviews* 1, no. 3 (1998): 259–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/10937409809524555.

Newell, Peter, and Olivia Taylor. "Contested Landscapes: The Global Political Economy of Climate-Smart Agriculture." *Journal of Peasant Studies* 45, no. 1 (2018): 108–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2017.1 324426.

NGFS (Network for Greening the Financial System). "A Call for Action: Climate Change as a Source of Financial Risk." Paris: Network for Greening the Financial System Secretariat, 2019. https://www. mainstreamingclimate.org/publication/ngfs-a-call-for-action-climatechange-as-a-source-of-financial-risk/.

NOAA (National Oceanic Atmospheric Administration). "Invasive and Exotic Marine Species." Accessed July 31, 2020. https://www.fisheries. noaa.gov/insight/invasive-and-exotic-marine-species.

NRDC (Natural Resources Defense Council). "Definitions of Equity, Inclusion, Equality and Related Terms." Washington, DC: Natural Resources Defense Council, 2019. https://www.broward.org/Climate/Documents/ EquityHandout_082019.pdf.

Nunes, Paulo A. L. D., and Anil Markandya. "Economic Value of Damage Caused by Marine Bio-Invasions: Lessons from Two European Case Studies." *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 65, no. 5 (2008): 775–80. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsn078.

NYDF Assessment Partners. "Protecting and Restoring Forests: A Story of Large Commitments yet Limited Progress. New York Declaration on Forests Five-Year Assessment Report." Amsterdam: Climate Focus, 2019. https://forestdeclaration.org/images/uploads/resource/2019NY-DFReport.pdf.

Oberle, Bruno, Stefan Bringezu, Steve Hatfield-Dodds, Stefanie Hellweg, Heinz Schandl, and Jessica Clement. "Global Resources Outlook 2019: Natural Resources for the Future We Want." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2019. https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/ handle/20.500.11822/27518/GR0_2019_SPM_EN.pdf?sequence=1&is-Allowed=y.

Odarno, L., A. Agarwal, A. Devi, and H. Takahashi. "Strategies for Expanding Universal Access to Electricity Services for Development." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2016. https://files.wri.org/ s3fs-public/Strategies_for_Expanding_Universal_Access_to_Electricity_Services_for_Development.pdf.

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-Operation). "Business Models for the Circular Economy: Opportunities and Challenges for Policy." Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development, 2019. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/business-models-for-the-circular-economy_g2g9dd62-en.

----. "OECD Glossary of Statistical Terms—Financial System Definition," Accessed June 1, 2020. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail. asp?ID=6189. ———. "Strategies to Improve Rural Service Delivery." Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development, 2010. https://dx.doi. org/10.1787/9789264083967-en.

O'Leary, Bethan C., Marit Winther-Janson, John M. Bainbridge, Jemma Aitken, Julie P. Hawkins, and Callum M. Roberts. "Effective Coverage Targets for Ocean Protection: Effective Targets for Ocean Protection." *Conservation Letters* 9, no. 6 (2016): 398–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/ conl.12247.

O'Sullivan, Feargus. "Paris Mayor Pledges a Greener '15-Minute City'." *Bloomberg Citylab*, February 18, 2020. https://www.bloomberg.com/ news/articles/2020-02-18/paris-mayor-pledges-a-greener-15-minutecity.

Pharo, Per, Jeremy Oppenheim, Caterina Ruggeri Laderchi, and Scarlett Benson. "Growing Better: Ten Critical Transitions to Transform Food and Land Use." London: The Food and Land Use Coalition, 2019. https:// www.foodandlandusecoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/FO-LU-GrowingBetter-GlobalReport.pdf.

Pieterse, Edgar, and Kate Owens. "Johannesburg: Confronting Spatial Inequality." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https:// www.wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/johannesburg-confronting-spatial-inequality.

Platt, Rutherford H. "Urban Watershed Management: Sustainability, One Stream at a Time." *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development* 48, no. 4 (2006): 26–42. https://doi.org/10.3200/ ENVT.48.4.26-42.

PwC (PricewaterhouseCoopers). "The Sharing Economy." London: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2015. https://www.pwc.fr/fr/assets/files/ pdf/2015/05/pwc_etude_sharing_economy.pdf.

Pye-Smith, C. "The Quiet Revolution: How Niger's Farmers Are Re-Greening the Parklands of the Sahel." Nairobi: World Agroforestry Centre, 2013. http://www.worldagroforestry.org/sites/default/files/ Niger%20booklet%20-%20Prepublication%20version_2.pdf.

Ranganathan, Janet, Richard Waite, Tim Searchinger, and Craig Hanson. "How to Sustainably Feed 10 Billion People by 2050, in 21 Charts." *Insights* (blog), December 5, 2018. https://www.wri.org/blog/2018/12/ how-sustainably-feed-10-billion-people-2050-21-charts.

Reij, Chris, Gray Tappan, and Melinda Smale. "Agroenvironmental Transformation in the Sahel: Another Kind of 'Green Revolution.'" Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute, 2009. https://core. ac.uk/download/pdf/6257709.pdf.

Reitz, R. D., H. Ogawa, R. Payri, T. Fansler, S. Kokjohn, Y. Moriyoshi, A. K. Agarwal, et al. "IJER Editorial: The Future of the Internal Combustion Engine." *International Journal of Engine Research* 21, no. 1 (2020): 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468087419877990.

Reynolds, Christian, Liam Goucher, Tom Quested, Sarah Bromley, Sam Gillick, Victoria K. Wells, David Evans, et al. "Review: Consumption-Stage Food Waste Reduction Interventions—What Works and How to Design Better Interventions." *Food Policy* 83 (2019): 7–27. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2019.01.009.

Rinne, April. "What Exactly Is the Sharing Economy?" World Economic Forum (blog), December 13, 2017. https://www.weforum.org/ agenda/2017/12/when-is-sharing-not-really-sharing/. Rissman, Jeffrey, Chris Bataille, Eric Masanet, Nate Aden, William R. Morrow, Nan Zhou, Neal Elliott, et al. "Technologies and Policies to Decarbonize Global Industry: Review and Assessment of Mitigation Drivers through 2070." *Applied Energy* 266 (2020). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.114848.

Roberts, Callum M., Richard W. Page, Bethan C. O'Leary, Harriet L. Allen, Katherine L. Yates, Alexander W. Tudhope, Colin McClean, Alex D. Rogers, and Julie P. Hawkins. "30x30: A Blueprint for Ocean Protection." Oxford: University of Oxford, University of York, and Greenpeace, 2019. https://storage.googleapis.com/planet4-international-stateless/2019/04/4475b2c2-updatedgreenpeace_30x30_blueprint_report_web.pdf.

Rocha Menocal, Alina, Greg Power, and Olivia Kaye. "Promoting Inclusive Governance More Effectively: Lessons From the Dialogue for Stability Programme." *Journal of Peacebuilding & Development* 14, no. 1 (2019): 84–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/1542316619835121.

Rockström, Johan, Louise Karlberg, and Malin Falkenmark. "Global Food Production in a Water-Constrained World: Exploring 'Green' and 'Blue' Challenges and Solutions." In *Water Resources Planning and Management*, edited by Karen Hussey and R. Quentin Grafton, 131–52. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09780511974304.010.

Roelofsen, Occo, Ken Somers, Eveline Speelman, and Maaike Witteveen. "How Electrification Can Help Industrial Companies Cut Costs." McKinsey & Company (blog), May 28, 2020. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/electric-power-and-natural-gas/our-insights/ plugging-in-what-electrification-can-do-for-industry.

Roe, S., C. Streck, M. Obersteiner, S. Frank, B. Griscom, L. Drouet, O. Fricko, et al. 2019. "Contribution of the Land Sector to a 1.5 °C World." *Nature Climate Change* 9, no. 11 (2019): 817–28. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41558-019-0591-9.

Salat, Serge, and Gerald Ollivier. "Transforming the Urban Space through Transit-Oriented Development: The 3 V Approach." Washington DC: World Bank, 2017. https://www.itf-oecd.org/transport-demand-set-triple-sector-faces-potential-disruptions.

Samson, Melanie. "Forging a New Conceptualization of 'The Public' in Waste Management." Cambridge, MA: Women in Informal Employment Globalizing and Organizing, 2015. http://www.wiego.org/sites/ default/files/publications/files/Samson-Public-Waste-Management-WIEG0-WP32.pdf.

Sanchez, Adriana X., Jeroen van der Heijden, and Paul Osmond. "The City Politics of an Urban Age: Urban Resilience Conceptualisations and Policies." *Palgrave Communications* 4, no. 1 (2018): 1–12. https:// doi.org/10.1057/s41599-018-0074-z.

Sanz, M. J., J. deVente, J.-L. Chotte, M. Bernoux, G. Kust, I. Ruiz, M. Almagro, et al. "Sustainable Land Management Contribution to Successful Land-Based Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation. A Report of the Science-Policy Interface." Bonn, Germany: Secretariat of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, 2017. https:// www.unccd.int/publications/sustainable-land-management-contribution-successful-land-based-climate-change. Satterthwaite, David, Victoria A. Beard, Diana Mitlin, and Jillian Du. "Untreated and Unsafe: Solving the Urban Sanitation Crisis in the Global South." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www. wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/untreated-and-unsafe.

Schmitt, Talia. "The Debate Over 'Climate-Smart' Agriculture." Pulitzer Center (blog), April 26, 2016. https://pulitzercenter.org/reporting/de-bate-over-climate-smart-agriculture.

Schüwer, Dietmar, and Clemens Schneider. "Electrification of Industrial Process Heat: Long-Term Applications, Potentials and Impacts." In *Industrial Efficiency 2018: Leading the Low-Carbon Transition*, 411–22. Stockholm: European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy Secretariat, 2018. https://www.eceee.org/library/conference_proceedings/eceee_Industrial_Summer_Study/2018/4-technology-products-and-system-optimisation/electrification-of-industrial-process-heat-long-term-applications-potentials-and-impacts/.

SDG Tracker. "SDG Tracker. Sustainable Development Goal 11 Make Cities Inclusive, Safe, Resilient and Sustainable," Accessed July 31, 2020. https://sdg-tracker.org/cities.

Searchinger, Tim. "Global Consequences of the Bioenergy Greenhouse Gas Accounting Error." In *Energy, Transport, & the Environment*, edited by Oliver Inderwildi and Sir David King, 679–711. London: Springer London, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-2717-8_36.

Searchinger, Tim, Richard Waite, Craig Hanson, and Janet Ranganathan. "World Resources Report: Creating a Sustainable Food Future." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://research.wri.org/ sites/default/files/2019-07/WRR_Food_Full_Report_0.pdf.

Seto, Karen C., Burak Güneralp, and Lucy R. Hutyra. "Global Forecasts of Urban Expansion to 2030 and Direct Impacts on Biodiversity and Carbon Pools." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, no. 40 (2012): 16083–16088. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211658109.

Seto, Karen, S. Dhakal, H. Bigio, G.C. Delgado, D. Dewar, L. Huang, A. Inaba, et al. "Human Settlements, Infrastructure and Spatial Planning." In *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change: Working Group III Contribution to the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report*, edited by O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, and J.C. Minx, 923–1000. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09781107415416.

Seymour, Frances, and Jonah Busch. *Why Forests? Why Now? The Science, Economics, and Politics of Tropical Forests and Climate Change.* Washington DC: Center for Global Development, 2016.

Shorrocks, Anthony, James Davies, and Lluberas Rodrigo. "Global Wealth Report 2019." Zürich: Credit Suisse Group AG, 2019. https://www. credit-suisse.com/about-us/en/reports-research/global-wealth-report. html.

Smart Freight Centre. "GLEC Training 2020." Accessed July 31, 2020. https://www.smartfreightcentre.org/en/glec-e-training-2020/.

Soanes, Marek, Neha Rai, Paul Steele, Clare Shakya, and James Macgregor. "Delivering Real Change: Getting International Climate Finance to the Local Level." London: International Institute for Environment and Development, 2017. https://pubs.iied.org/10178IIED/. Speth, James Gustave. "The Joyful Economy: A Next System Possibility." Washington, DC: The Next System Project, 2017. https://thenextsystem. org/sites/default/files/2017-08/GusSpeth-1.pdf.

Springmann, Marco, Michael Clark, Daniel Mason-D'Croz, Keith Wiebe, Benjamin Leon Bodirsky, Luis Lassaletta, Wim de Vries, et al. "Options for Keeping the Food System within Environmental Limits." *Nature* 562, no. 7728 (2018): 519–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0594-0.

Steer, Andrew, Dominic Waughray, Gretchen Ellison, and Molly McGregor. "The Great Decoupling: Our Human Economic Footprint and the Global Environmental Commons." Gland, Switzerland: International Union for Conservation of Nature, 2016. https://www.iucn.org/sites/ dev/files/the_great_decoupling_10_10_16.pdf

Sum4All (Sustainable Mobility for All). "Global Mobility Report 2017: Tracking Sector Performance." Washington, DC: Sustainable Mobility for All, 2017. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/ 2643Global_Mobility_Report_2017.pdf.

Supekar, Sarang D., and Steven J. Skerlos. "Reassessing the Efficiency Penalty from Carbon Capture in Coal-Fired Power Plants." *Environmental Science & Technology* 49, no. 20 (2015): 12576–84. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03052.

Suzuki, Hiroaki, Jin Murakami, Yu-Hung Hong, and Beth Tamayose. "Financing Transit-Oriented Development with Land Values: Adapting Land Value Capture in Developing Countries." Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2015. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/21286.

Taylor, Rod, and Charlotte Streck. "Ending Tropical Deforestation: The Elusive Impact of the Deforestation-Free Supply Chain Movement." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2018. https://www.wri.org/ publication/ending-tropical-deforestation-elusive-impact-deforestation-free-supply-chain-movement.

TCFD (Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures). "TCFD: 2019 Status Report." New York: The Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures, 2019. https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/publications/tcfd-2019-status-report/.

Tilley, Elizabeth, Lukas Ulrich, Christoph Lüthi, Philippe Reymond and Christian Zurbrügg. "Compendium of Sanitation Systems and Technologies. 2nd Revised Edition." Dübendorf, Switzerland: Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology, 2014. https://www. iwa-network.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Compendium-Sanitation-Systems-and-Technologies.pdf.

Toensmeier, Eric. *The Carbon Farming Solution: A Global Toolkit of Perennial Crops and Regenerative Agriculture Practices for Climate Change Mitigation and Food Security*. White River Junction, VT: Chelsea Green Publishing, 2016.

Trucost. "Natural Capital at Risk: The Top 10 Externalities of Business." London: Trucost, 2013. https://naturalcapitalcoalition.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/07/Trucost-Nat-Cap-at-Risk-Final-Report-web.pdf.

United Nations. "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020." New York: United Nations, 2020. https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2020/ The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2020.pdf. UNCSD (United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development). "Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport in Emerging and Developing Economies." New York: United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development and the Partnership for Sustainable, Low Carbon Transport, 2012. https://www.itdp.org/publication/sustainable-low-carbon-transport-in-emerging-and-developing-economies/.

UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development). "Technology and Innovation Report 2018: Harnessing Frontier Technologies for Sustainable Development." New York: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2018. https://unctad.org/ system/files/official-document/tir2018_en.pdf.

UN DESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs). "World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision." New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2019. https://population.un.org/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2018-Report.pdf.

UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). "Driving Finance Today for the Climate Resilient Society of Tomorrow." Washington, DC: Global Commission on Adaptation, 2019. https://cdn.gca.org/ assets/2020-01/Finance_for_Climate_Resilient_Society_GCA_Paper.pdf.

———. "Global Waste Management Outlook." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2015. https://www.unenvironment.org/ resources/report/global-waste-management-outlook.

———. "Making Waves: Aligning the Financial System with Sustainable Development." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2018. http://unepinquiry.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Making_Waves_lowres.pdf.

----. "Progress on Integrated Water Resources Management. Global Baseline for SDG 6 Indicator 6.5.1: Degree of IWRM Implementation." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2018. https://www. unwater.org/publications/progress-on-integrated-water-resources-management-651/.

———. "Single-Use Plastics: A Roadmap for Sustainability." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2018. https://wedocs.unep. org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/25496/singleUsePlastic_sustainability.pdf.

----. "The Emissions Gap Report 2017." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2017. https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/ handle/20.500.11822/22070/EGR_2017.pdf.

———. "The Emissions Gap Report 2019." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2019. https://www.unenvironment.org/ resources/emissions-gap-report-2019.

———. "The Financial System We Need: Aligning the Financial System with Sustainable Development." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2016. https://unepinquiry.org/publication/inquiry-global-report-the-financial-system-we-need/.

----. "The Global Chemicals Outlook II—From Legacies to Innovative Solutions: Implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2019. https:// www.unenvironment.org/resources/report/global-chemicals-outlook-ii-legacies-innovative-solutions. UNEP and IEA. "Towards a Zero-Emission, Efficient, and Resilient Buildings and Construction Sector. Global Status Report 2017." Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2017. https://www.worldgbc. org/sites/default/files/UNEP%20188_GABC_en%20%28web%29.pdf.

UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). "World Water Development Report 2009: Water in a Changing World." Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 2009. https://www.unwater.org/publications/water-changing-world/.

UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). "Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows: Technical Report." Bonn, Germany: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 2018. https://unfccc.int/topics/climate-finance/ workstreams/transparency-of-support-ex-post/biennial-assessment-and-overview-of-climate-finance-flows-background/biennial-assessment-and-overview-of-climate-finance-flows-2018.

———. "Report of the Conference of the Parties on its fifteenth session, held in Copenhagen from 7 to 19 December 2009. Addendum. Part Two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its fifteenth session." Bonn, Germany: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 2009. https://unfccc.int/documents/6103#beg.

----. "Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-first session, held in Paris from 30 November to 13 December 2015. Addendum. Part Two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-first session." Bonn, Germany: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 2015. https://cop23.unfccc.int/documents/9097.

UN-Habitat (United Nations Human Settlement Programme). "Planning and Design for Sustainable Urban Mobility: Global Report on Human Settlements." Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme, 2013. https://unhabitat.org/planning-and-design-for-sustainable-urban-mobility-global-report-on-human-settlements-2013.

———. "Tracking Progress Towards Inclusive, Safe, Resilient and Sustainable Cities and Human Settlements." Nairobi: United Nations Human Settlements Programme, 2018. http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/sdg11-synthesis-report-2018-en.pdf.

UNICEF (United Nations Children's Fund) and WHO (World Health Organization). "Progress on household drinking water, sanitation and hygiene 2000–2017: Special focus on inequalities." New York: United Nations Children's Fund and World Health Organization, 2019. https:// washdata.org/sites/default/files/documents/reports/2019-07/jmp-2019-wash-households.pdf.

Uren, Sally. "How to take 'systems change' from idea to action." *Green-Biz*, September 24, 2019. https://www.greenbiz.com/article/how-take-systems-change-idea-action.

Vazquez, Sergio, Srdjan M. Lukic, Eduardo Galvan, Leopoldo G. Franquelo, and Juan M. Carrasco. "Energy Storage Systems for Transport and Grid Applications." *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 57, no. 12 (2010): 3881–95. https://doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2010.2076414.

Venter, Christo, Anjali Mahendra, and Dario Hidalgo. "From Mobility to Access for All: Expanding Urban Transportation Choices in the Global South," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2019. https://www. wri.org/wri-citiesforall/publication/mobility-access-all-expanding-urban-transportation-choices-global-south. Victor, D. G., F. W. Geels, and S. Sharpe. "Accelerating the Low Carbon Transition: The Case for Stronger, More Targeted and Coordinated International Action." Washington, DC: Brookings Institution, 2019. https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Coordinatedactionreport.pdf.

Victoria State Government. "Plan Melbourne 2017-2050." Melbourne: Victoria State Government, 2018. Victoria. https://www.planning. vic.gov.au/policy-and-strategy/planning-for-melbourne/plan-melbourne/20-minute-neighbourhoods.

Wada, Y., M. Flörke, N. Hanasaki, S. Eisner, G. Fischer, S. Tramberend, Y. Satoh, et al. "Modeling Global Water Use for the 21st Century: The Water Futures and Solutions (WFaS) Initiative and Its Approaches." *Geoscientific Model Development* 9, no. 1 (2016): 175–222. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-9-175-2016.

Wada, Yoshihide, Ludovicus P. H. van Beek, Niko Wanders, and Marc F. P. Bierkens. "Human Water Consumption Intensifies Hydrological Drought Worldwide." *Environmental Research Letters* 8, no. 3 (2013). https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/034036.

Waldron, Anthony, Vanessa Adams, James Allan, Andy Arnell, Greg Asner, Scott Atkinson, Alessandro Baccini, et al. "Protecting 30% of the Planet for Nature: Costs, Benefits and Economic Implications." Washington, DC: Campaign for Nature, 2020. https://www.conservation.cam. ac.uk/files/waldron_report_30_by_30_publish.pdf.

Wappelhorst, Sandra. "The End of the Road? An Overview of Combustion Engine Car Phase-out Announcements across Europe." Washington, DC: International Council on Clean Transportation, 2020. https:// theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Combustion engine-phaseout-briefing-may11.2020.pdf.

Watts, Jonathan. "Uruguay Makes Dramatic Shift to Nearly 95% Electricity from Clean Energy." *The Guardian*, December 3, 2015. https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2015/dec/03/uruguay-makes-dramaticshift-to-nearly-95-clean-energy.

WBCSD (World Business Council for Sustainable Development). "Circular Policy Action Brief: 2019 Update." Geneva: World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2019. https://www.wbcsd.org/Programs/ Circular-Economy/Factor-10/Policy-Engagement/Resources/2019-Circular-policy-action-brief.

----. "EEB Amplify 2017-2020." Geneva: World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2017. https://www.wbcsd.org/Programs/ Cities-and-Mobility/Resources/EEB-Amplify-2017-2020.

----. "Policy Enablers to Accelerate the Circular Economy: Scaling up Actions across Regions and Stakeholders." Geneva: World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2019. https://docs.wbcsd. org/2019/09/WBCSD_Policy_enablers_to_accelerate_the_circular_economy.pdf.

WEF (World Economic Forum). "Harnessing the Fourth Industrial Revolution for the Earth." Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2017. http:// www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Harnessing_the_4IR_for_the_Earth. pdf. ———. "New Coalition Aims to Make Zero-Emissions Shipping Plain Sailing." World Economic Forum, September 23, 2019. https://www. weforum.org/press/2019/09/new-coalition-aims-to-make-zero-emissions-shipping-plain-sailing/.

----. "The Great Reset: A Unique Twin Summit to Begin 2021." Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2020. https://www.weforum.org/great-reset/ about/.

———. "Nature Risk Rising: Why the Crisis Engulfing Nature Matters for Business and the Economy." Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2020. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_New_Nature_Economy_Report_2020.pdf.

----. "The Future of Nature and Business." Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2020. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_The_Future_Of_Nature_And_Business_2020.pdf.

----. "The Global Risks Report 2020." Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2020. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Global_Risk_Report_2020.pdf.

Weisse, Mikaela, and Liz Goldman. "We Lost a Football Pitch of Primary Rainforest Every 6 Seconds in 2019." Global Forest Watch (blog), 2020. https://blog.globalforestwatch.org/data-and-research/global-tree-cover-loss-data-2019/.

Welle, Ben, Wei Li, Claudia Adriazola-Steil, Robin King, Marta Obelheiro, Claudio Sarmiento, and Qingnan Liu. "Cities Safer by Design: Urban Design Recommendations for Healthier Cities, Fewer Traffic Fatalities." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2015. https://www.wri.org/ publication/cities-safer-design.

Welle, Ben, Anna Bray Sharpin, Claudia Adriazola-Steil, Saúl Alveano, Marta Obelheiro, Celal Tolga Imamoglu, Soames Job, Marc Shotten, and Dipan Bose. "Sustainable and Safe: A Vision and Guidance for Zero Road Deaths." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute 2018. https:// www.wri.org/publication/sustainable-and-safe-vision-and-guidancezero-road-deaths.

Westphal, Michael I., Sarah Martin, Lihuan Zhou, and David Satterthwaite. "Powering Cities in the Global South: How Energy Access for All Benefits the Economy and the Environment." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2017. https://www.wri.org/publication/towardsmore-equal-city-powering-cities-global-south.

Whitley, S., and L. van der Burg. "Fossil Fuel Subsidy Reform: From Rhetoric to Reality." Washington, DC: New Climate Economy, 2015. http://newclimateeconomy.report/misc/working-papers.

WHO (World Health Organization). "Ambient Air Pollution: A Global Assessment of Exposure and Burden of Disease." Geneva: World Health Organization, 2016. http://www.who.int/phe/publications/air-pollution-global-assessment/en/.

----. "Ambient (Outdoor) Air Quality and Health." Geneva: World Health Organization, 2018. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/factsheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health.

Wiedinmyer, Christine, Robert J. Yokelson, and Brian K. Gullett. "Global Emissions of Trace Gases, Particulate Matter, and Hazardous Air Pollutants from Open Burning of Domestic Waste." *Environmental Science & Technology* 48, no. 16 (2014): 9523-30. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es502250z. Wiedmann, Thomas, Manfred Lenzen, Lorenz T. Keyßer, and Julia K. Steinberger. "Scientists' Warning on Affluence." *Nature Communications* 11, no. 1 (2020): 3107. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16941-y.

Wiener, Daniel. "Sustainable Infrastructure as an Asset Class." *Ecology, Economy and Social Responsibility* 7, no. 19 (2014). https://nanopdf.com/ download/sustainable-infrastructure-as-an-asset-class_pdf.

Willett, Walter, Johan Rockström, Brent Loken, Marco Springmann, Tim Lang, Sonja Vermeulen, Tara Garnett, et al. "Food in the Anthropocene: The EAT–Lancet Commission on Healthy Diets from Sustainable Food Systems." *The Lancet* 393, no. 10170 (2019): 447–92. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4.

Wilson, David C, and Costas A Velis. "Waste Management—Still a Global Challenge in the 21st Century: An Evidence-Based Call for Action." *Waste Management & Research* 33, no. 12 (2015): 1049–51. https://doi. org/10.1177/0734242X15616055.

Wit, Marc de, Jelmer Hoogzaad, and Caspar von Daniels. "The Circularity Gap Report 2020." Amsterdam: Circle Economy, 2020. https://assets.website-files.com/5e185aa4d27bcf348400ed82/5e26ead616b6d1d157ff4293_20200120%20-%20CGR%20Global%20-%20 Report%20web%20single%20page%20-%20210x297mm%20-%20 compressed.pdf.

WOCAT (World Overview of Conservation Approaches and Technologies). "Sustainable Land Management." Accessed October 7, 2020. https://www.wocat.net/en/slm.

Wolosin, Michael, Jessica Breitfeller, and Brian Schaap. "The Geography of REDD+ Finance Deforestation, Emissions, and the Targeting of Forest Conservation Finance." Washington, DC: Forest Trends, 2016. https:// www.forest-trends.org/wp-content/uploads/imported/reddx-report-2016-final-pdf.

Woods, Ngaire, Alexander Betts, Jochen Prantl, and Devi Sridhar. "Transforming Global Governance for the 21st Century." New York: United Nations Development Programme, 2013. http://hdr.undp.org/sites/ default/files/hdro_1309_woods.pdf.

World Bank. "Global Economic Prospects, June 2020." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1553-9.

———. "New International Partnership Established to Increase the Use of Energy Storage in Developing Countries." World Bank, May 28, 2019. https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2019/05/28/ new-international-partnership-established-to-increase-the-use-of-energy-storage-in-developing-countries.

----. "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2018: Piecing Together the Poverty Puzzle." Washington, DC: World Bank, October 19, 2018. https:// doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1330-6.

----. "Poverty and Shared Prosperity 2020: Reversals of Fortune." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1602-4.

World Bank Group. "Finance Ministers Join Forces to Raise Climate Ambition." World Bank Group, April 13, 2019. https://www.worldbank. org/en/news/press-release/2019/04/13/coalition-of-finance-ministers-for-climate-action. ———. "State and Trends of Carbon Pricing 2019." Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2019. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/31755.

WorldGBC (World Green Building Council). "WorldGBC's Net Zero Carbon Building Commitment surpasses 80 signatories." World Green Building Council, n.d. https://worldgbc.org/news-media/ worldgbc%E2%80%99s-net-zero-carbon-building-commitment-surpasses-80-signatories.

WRI (World Resources Institute). "Zero Carbon Buildings for All." Accessed July 31, 2020. https://wrirosscities.org/ZeroCarbonBuildings.

WRI, UNDP (United Nations Development Programme), and World Bank. "World Resources 2008: Roots of Resilience: Growing the Wealth of the Poor." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2008. https://files. wri.org/s3fs-public/pdf/world_resources_2008_roots_of_resilience. pdf.

Wu, Hao, Genevieve Alberts, James Hooper, and Bryan Walton. "New Market. New Entrants. New Challenges. Battery Electric Vehicles." London: Deloitte United Kingdom, 2019. https://www2.deloitte.com/ content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/manufacturing/deloitte-uk-battery-electric-vehicles.pdf.

WWF (World Wildlife Fund). "Living Planet Report 2018: Aiming Higher." Gland, Switzerland: World Wildlife Fund, 2018. https://c402277.ssl. cfl.rackcdn.com/publications/1187/files/original/LPR2018_Full_Report_Spreads.pdf.

Xue, Lulu, and Wanli Fang. "Rail Plus Property Development in China: The Pilot Case of Shenzhen," Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, 2017. https://www.wri.org/publication/rail-plus-property-development-china-pilot-case-shenzhen.

Zero Waste International Alliance. "Zero Waste Definition." Accessed July 31, 2020. http://zwia.org/zero-waste-definition/.

———. "Zero Waste Business Principles." Gothenburg, Sweden: Zero Waste International Alliance, 2020. http://zwia.org/zero-waste-business-principles/.

Zhuang, Wen. "Eco-Environmental Impact of Inter-Basin Water Transfer Projects: A Review." *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 23, no. 13 (2016): 12867–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-6854-3.

Zink, Trevor, and Roland Geyer. "Circular Economy Rebound." *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 21, no. 3 (2017): 593–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jiec.12545.

ABBREVIATIONS

BECCS	bioenergy with carbon capture and storage
BNEF	Bloomberg New Energy Finance
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Flora and Fauna
CCS	carbon capture and storage
DAC	direct air capture
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
EV	electric vehicle
FMNR	farmer-managed natural regeneration
GDP	gross domestic product
GHG	greenhouse gas
HFLD	high forest cover and low deforestation
ICA0	International Civil Aviation Organization
ICAT	Initiative for Climate Action Transparency
ICESI	International Coalition for Energy Storage and Innovation
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IEA	International Energy Agency
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IPBES	Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IRENA	International Renewable Energy Agency
ITF	International Transport Forum
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
MPA	marine protected area
MSW	municipal solid waste
NDC	nationally determined contributions
NRC	National Research Council
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
REDD+	reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation plus sustainable management of forests and the conservation and enhancement of forest carbon stocks
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SLM	sustainable land management
SPH	solar thermal process heat
SuRe®	Standard for Sustainable and Resilience Infrastructure
TCFD	Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
TOD	transit-oriented development
TRI	Toxics Release Inventory
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNEP-WCMC	United Nations Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VKT	vehicle kilometers traveled
WBCSD	World Business Council for Sustainable Development
WHO	World Health Organization
WRI	World Resources Institute
WWF	World Wildlife Fund

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

The following individuals made contributions to this paper:

Kelly Levin, Sophie Boehm, Neelam Singh, Anne Maassen, Madeleine Galvin, Fiona McRaith, Renilde Becqué, Jessica Brand, Cynthia Elliott, and Samara Shaz. We are especially grateful for Andrew Steer's and Dominic Waughray's contributions and guidance.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper would not have been possible without the generous support of the Global Environment Facilty. We are especially thankful of Naoko Ishii, Gustavo Fonseco, and Malvika Monga.

We are also tremendously appreciate of the guidance provided by many colleagues at the World Resources Institute and the Global Commons Alliance.

We are very grateful to Julie Moretti, Mary Cadette, and Romain Warnault for their support in the design and editing process.

Safeguarding our Global Commons A Systems Change Lab to Monitor, Learn from, and Advance Transformational Change